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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors

This report includes forward-looking statenseih particular, statements about our expectatioelsefs, plans, objectives or assumptions
of future events or performance are contained asriporated by reference in this report. We havedasese forward-looking statements on
our current expectations about future events. Whééelieve these expectations are reasonableafdrlwoking statements are inherently
subject to risks and uncertainties, many of whieghtseyond our control. Our actual results may diffi@terially from those suggested by tr
forward-looking statements for various reasonduitiog those discussed in this report under thelinga'Risk Factors”. Given these risks
and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to plackie reliance on forward-looking statements. Thedod-looking statements included in
this report are made only as of the date hereofd@ieot undertake and specifically decline anygailon to update any of these statemen
to publicly announce the results of any revisianary forward looking statements to reflect futevents or developments. When used in the
report, unless otherwise indicated, “we,” “our,’s{uthe “Company” and “BioCryst” refers to BioCry8harmaceuticals, Inc.

Overview

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a biotechgglcompany that designs, optimizes and developslmvugs that block key enzymes
involved in cancer, viral infections and autoimmuligeases. BioCryst integrates the necessary trsspof biology, crystallography,
medicinal chemistry and computer modeling to effety use structure-based drug design to discomdrdgevelop small molecule
pharmaceuticals.

One of our most advanced product candidatesdésine HCI, is a transition-state analog inbibitf the target enzyme purine nucleoside
phosphorylase (“PNP”An oral formulation of the compound is currentlyaiPhase 1lb trial, which is planned to be a pivital, for patients
with Cutaneous T-cell Lymphoma (“CTCL"). The trialbeing conducted under a special protocol assras{i{SPA”) negotiated with the
United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA").

Additionally, forodesine HCl is currently begistudied in a Phase Il trial with an oral formidatin Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia
(“CLL"). Forodesine HCI has been granted Orphandstatus by the FDA for three indications: T-calhrHodgkin lymphoma, including
CTCL; CLL and related leukemias including T-celblymphocytic leukemia, adult €ell leukemia, and hairy cell leukemia; and foatraeni
of B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (“B-ALL")nIDecember 2007, we announced the presentatioatafrdlated to the Phase I/ll clinical
study of forodesine HCI in subjects with refract@yCL and a poster detailing the in vitro activitfforodesine HCI as a single agent and the
synergistic in vitro activity of forodesine HCI @aombination with bendamustine in primary cells fraghpatients with CLL. These data were
presented at the 2007 American Society of Hemayofogeting. In December 2008, we announced intedta fom the ongoing forodesine
HCI Phase Il program in patients with CLL and dfaten a healthy subject pharmacokinetic and pharmhatamic study. The CLL study will
continue with an amendment to study a new dosigren of oral forodesine, 200 mg twidaily. An interim analysis was conducted on ¢
from an exploratory Phase Il single-arm, open-lglnefyram in patients with CLL whose previous treatitrthad failed. While this analysis
showed that no partial or complete responses wasereed, five out of 13 patients administered 2@Qafforodesine HCI once-daily had
substantial reductions in malignant lymphocytesl arnthe time of the analysis, seven patients w#ien study. Forodesine HCI was
generally safe and well-tolerated at the 200 mgeetaily dose. In a parallel, healthy subject, pterokinetic and pharmacodynamic study,
we compared the effect of seven days of 200 mgisime HCI dosed once-daily with seven days offa@dorodesine HCI dosed twice-
daily. The study demonstrated substantially inadairug exposure and pharmacodynamic effect irestdbpdministered forodesine HCI 200
mg twice-daily. Drug exposure, as measured by anelar the (plasma-concentration/time) curve (“AUQrgreased by 63 percent (P<0.001)
for twice-daily dosing compared to onda#y dosing. Serum uric acid levels were redudesteady state compared to baseline by 50.0 pe
for twice-daily dosing compared to 23.5 percentdoce-daily dosing (p<0.001), indicating increaB&tP enzyme inhibition with twice-daily
dosing. Also, use of forodesine HCI is being exgtbin various cancer settings, and combinationiesuaie being planned. Since
February 2006, we have had an exclusive licengijngeament with Mundipharma International Holdingmlted (“Mundipharma”}o develog
and
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commercialize forodesine HCI in markets acrossBhmpean Union (the “EU”)Asia and Australia for use in oncology. We havairetd full
development and commercialization rights in thé o&she world, including North America.

Another one of our most advanced drug candgit peramivir, an inhibitor of influenza neuraidase. Peramivir is in development for
the treatment of influenza with two parenteral fatations, intramuscular (“i.m.”) and intravenous\:"). We completed a double-blind
placebo-controlled Phase Il clinical trial with i.peramivir testing two different dose levels ofgraivir (150 mg and 300 mg) versus placebo
in adults with acute uncomplicated influenza. Wihtie trial did not demonstrate statistically sigraht differences for its primary endpoint of
time to alleviation of symptoms, the preliminaryaysis of the virologic data indicated that peramilemonstrated statistically significant
reductions in influenza virus shedding in both paxér treatment groups compared to placebo, withatgr reductions in the 300 mg dose.
With this information and the additional pharmacwitic information we have obtained subsequentddribl, we initiated a Phase 1l placebo-
controlled trial of 600 mg i.m. peramivir for theeatment of seasonal influenza. This trial is ongand uses a new, more concentrated 150

mg/ml formulation of peramivir. We expect to hawsalfrom this trial sometime in the second quast&2009.

In addition, in July 2007, we announced thgation of a Phase Il clinical trial in hospitadid patients using an i.v. formulation of
peramivir to compare the efficacy and safety afperamivir to orally administered oseltamivir iatignts who require hospitalization due to
acute influenza. In October 2008 we reported resaflan exploratory Phase Il trial of i.v. peramiwi subjects hospitalized for acute serious
or potentially life-threatening influenza. The Padistrial compared the efficacy and safety of fdays of therapy with either 200 mg i.v.
peramivir per day, 400 mg i.v. peramivir per daybrmg oral oseltamivir twice a day for five dayssubjects who required hospitalization
related to influenza. The primary objective of ftedy was to evaluate a novel composite endpamng to clinical stability, which is
comprised of normalization of temperature, oxygatusation, respiratory rate, systolic blood pressamd heart rate. Secondary objectives of
the study included evaluation of viral sheddingtaldy, clinical relapse and time to resumptiorustial activities. As reported in
October 2008, there were no statistically significdifferences in any of the efficacy endpointsimstn the three treatment arms, and
peramivir was generally safe and well-toleratethase dose levels. Evaluation of time to clini¢dabgity, the primary endpoint, showed a
median of 23.7 hours for peramivir 200mg, 37.0 Bdar peramivir 400 mg and 28.1 hours for oseltan{p~=.306). This exploratory endpo
was driven by resolution of fever. Viral shedditigné weighted change from baseline in viral titggs reduced by a median of -2.0 logs for
peramivir 200mg, -2.1 logs for peramivir 400mg, ah® logs for oseltamivir (p=.908). There was nortality in the primary efficacy
population, and there were no clinical relapsetieRts were discharged from the hospital after diereof 4.0 days for peramivir 200 mg,
3,8 days for peramivir 400 mg, and 4.0 days foltasgvir (p=0.994). The median humber of days reegiifor resumption of usual activities
was 8.8 days for peramivir 200 mg, 9.0 days foapevir 400 mg, and 13.7 days for oseltamivir (p7®R BioCryst presented details of this
study at the XI International Symposium on RespimaW/iral Infections, held in Bangkok, Thailandkebruary 2009.

In January 2007, we announced the United S@aégpartment of Health and Human Services (“HHBdY awarded us a $102.6 million,
four-year contract for the advanced developmeipeodmivir. In January 2008, we announced that &weldpment plan for peramivir had
changed and that we would no longer pursue theePlidaam. program in peramivir for the current ménza season, but would move forward
in evaluating higher doses than used in previoudies. Also in January, we announced that the progwould cost in excess of the
$102.6 million contract and that any funding abthe$102.6 million may be the responsibility of thempany. Since then, HHS and the
Company have been working in collaboration throughious contract modifications to maximize resoarog stopping work on some
projects (e.g. the Phase Il i.m. program) and oappxpenditures on other projects in order to méze remaining funds. HHS and the
Company executed a contract modification that ffulyds the Company through the completion of bbéhghase 1l studies in outpatients
treated with intramuscular peramivir, the phasguty in hospitalized patients with intravenousapevir, and certain manufacturing and
toxicology components of the program. The modifamagalso allows the Company and HHS to agree oitiaddl development activities for
peramivir within the confirmed $102.6 million fumdgj. All temporary restraints, effected througha@swork order, have now been removed.
Following completion of the phase Il studies, wpext to continue the dialogue with HHS regardindimhal funding beyond the $102.6
million for peramivir development through U.S. licire. The original contract of $102.6 million g&hd four year term remain unchanged.
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In March 2007, we announced our collaboratiith Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (“Shionogi”) for the delment and commercialization of
peramivir in Japan. This exclusive license agredrfn]apan included an upfront payment of $14iamlland future clinical event milestone
payments of up to $21 million. Shionogi recentlynmeted a Phase 1l study of intravenous (i.v.) pgva administered via a single dose
infusion in the outpatient setting for treatmenseésonal influenza. This trial met its primary @oidt of improvement in the median time to
alleviation of symptoms in subjects with confirmedyte, uncomplicated influenza infection, compaoeplacebo alone. Time to alleviation
of symptoms was 81.8 hours for placebo, 59.1 hfmir800 mg peramivir, and 59.9 hours for 600 mgppavwir. This result was highly
statistically significant (p=0.0046) for both theBmg dose (p=0.0046) and the 600 mg dose. Fughfaty assessments confirmed that i.v.
peramivir was generally safe and wellerated. Shionogi presented the data at the récemscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agentd
Chemotherapy (ICAAC)/ Infectious Diseases Socidtimerica (IDSA) annual meeting in Washington, DBased on the results from this
Phase Il study, Shionogi has initiated a Phaggrdgjram with i.v. peramivir in the outpatient sedti The Phase Il study is a 1,050 subject
study and would typically require two seasons tmglete. In the event of a very strong flu seasas piossible to complete a study of this
magnitude in one flu season. Although it has besinang flu season in Asia, it is not clear at tirige if Shionogi will finish in one season or
two. It is our understanding that Shionogi plansdmplete its studies within this influenza seasnrOctober 2008, the Company and
Shionogi amended the license agreement to expanthtory in the agreement to include Taiwan smgrovide rights for Shionogi to
perform a Phase lll clinical trial in Hong Kong.

Our other drug candidate in clinical trial®igr second generation PNP inhibitor, BCX-4208Ntvember 2005, we announced that we
were entering into an exclusive worldwide developtred commercialization agreement with Rochehénthird quarter of 2007, we
announced that Roche had initiated a Phase Iicelitiial with oral doses of BCX-4208/R3421, whishdesigned to evaluate the drug
candidate in patients with moderate to severe plagoriasis. The efficacy assessment of the stadyphen completed. Consistent with
interim findings we reported in May 2008, the Phiisinical study of BCX-4208, a potent, rationatiesigned, orally available PNP
inhibitor, met its primary objectives of safety aiterability. In addition, BCX-4208 displayed dedependent reductions in peripheral blood
lymphocyte counts, including subsets measuringlB ¢€D20), total T cells (CD3), T helper cells (&Dand T suppressor/cytotoxic cells
(CD8). Further, plasma levels of BCX-4208 increasét dose, and plasma uric acid levels showed-gels¢ed reductions with BCX-4208.
In addition, consistent with interim results wepoaisly reported, no evidence of clinical efficaeysecondary objective, was observed in
psoriasis patients with doses and duration of athtnétion tested.

In the Phase lla trial, BCX-4208 was genersdlfe and well-tolerated at doses up to 120 my ddibst adverse events reported were
considered mild or moderate, and low in frequemy opportunistic infections were observed. In additdetailed laboratory and clinical
monitoring did not indicate any patterns suggestiveff-target adverse findings.

Also in May 2008, we announced that we reativatice that Roche was exercising the “no causefination right under the license
agreement for BCX-4208. As a result, we regaineddmade rights to BCX-4208.

BioCryst is a Delaware corporation origindltyinded in 1986. Our Alabama office is located B@Parkway Lake Drive, Birmingham,
Alabama 35244, where the telephone number is (285)4600 and our North Carolina office is locate@425 Kildaire Farm Road, Cary,
North Carolina 27518 where the telephone numbg18) 85%-1302. For more information about BioCryst, pledais# our website at
www.biocryst.com. The information on our websiteat incorporated into this Form 10-K.

Our Business Strategy

We design, optimize and develop novel drugs ltock key enzymes involved in cancer, viral atiens and autoimmune diseases. We
integrate the necessary disciplines of biologysta§ography, medicinal chemistry and computer rnlinddo effectively use structure based
drug design to discover and develop small molepbrmaceuticals.

Our business strategy is to maximize susténeddue by moving our drug candidate portfolicotigh clinical development, registration
and ultimately to the market. We believe this isttechieved by retaining full product
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rights to our drug candidates within specialty neéskwhile relying on collaborative arrangementihwhird parties for drug candidates wit
larger markets or outside our area of expertisterRial third party alliances could include preidad development, clinical development,
regulatory approval, marketing, sales and distiitoubf our drug candidates. The principal elemeifitsur strategy are:

Develop or License Inhibitorsthat are Promising Candidates for Commercialization. We test multiple compounds to identify those that
are most promising for clinical development. Weebasr selection of promising development candidatedesirable product
characteristics, such as initial indications oksatind efficacy. We believe that this focusedtega allows us to eliminate unpromising
candidates from consideration sooner without inngrsubstantial clinical costs. In addition, wees¢ldrug candidates on the basis of their
potential for relatively efficient Phase | and Rihdisclinical trials that require fewer patientsitdtially indicate safety and efficacy. We w
consider, however, more complex candidates witgdomevelopment cycles if we believe that theyrgff®@mising commercial
opportunities

Select and License Promising Enzyme Targets for the Discovery of Small-Molecule Pharmaceuticals. We use our technical expertise and
network of academic and industry contacts to evalaad select promising enzyme targets to licenisthé discovery of small-molecule
pharmaceuticals. We choose enzyme targets thatasaatiny of the following criteria as possit

. serve important functions in disease pathw

. have known animal or c-based models that would be indicative of resultsumans
. address large potential markets or niche areassigtfificant unmet medical need; a
. have multiple potential clinical applicatior

Focuson High Value-Added Structure-Based Drug Design Technologies. We focus our drug discovery activities and expeandi on
applications of structure-based drug design teduies to design and develop drug candidates. Stexttased drug design is a process by
which we design a drug candidate through detaifedyais of the enzyme target, which the drug caatdignust inhibit in order to stop the
progression of the disease or disorder. We beliesestructure-based drug design is a powerful farogfficient development of small-
molecule drug candidates that have the potentibkteafe, effective and relatively inexpensive emofacture. Our structure-based drug
design technologies typically allow us to desigd apnthesize multiple drug candidates that inifi@tsame enzyme target. We believe
strategy can lead to broad patent protection ahdreze the competitive advantages of our compot

An important element of our business straisdg control fixed costs and overhead through remting and entering into license

agreements with other parties. We maintain a stiimathcorporate infrastructure that focuses ouregtipe. By contracting with other
specialty organizations, we believe that we cartrobnosts, enable our drug candidates to reacimtmixet more quickly and reduce our
business risk. Key elements of our contractingagainclude:

Entering I nto Relationships with Academic I nstitutions. Many academic institutions perform extensive resean the molecular and
structural biology of potential drug developmemggts. By entering into relationships with thesgtitntions, we believe we can leverage
this respective research to significantly redueetime, cost and risks involved in drug developmeénir collaborative relationships with
such organizations may lead to the licensing of@mmore drug targets or compounds. Upon licenaidgug target or promising
compound from one of these institutions, the s@enfrom the institution typically become workipgrtners as members of our structure-
based drug design teams. We believe this makesngsaattractive development partner to these sstersince they can continue to have
some involvement in the continuing developmenthefprogram. In addition, we collaborate with outsékperts in a number of areas,
including crystallography, molecular modeling, canatorial chemistry, biology, pharmacology, oncglpgardiology, immunology and
infectious diseases. These collaborations enabie esmplement our internal capabilities withoudisg) costly overhead. We believe this
strategy allows us to save valuable time and expearsl further diversify and strengthen our poidfof drug candidates. An example of
such a collaborative relationship is the arrangertteat we have with Albert Einstein College of M&de of Yeshiva University
(“AECOM") and Industrial Research Limite“IRL") who are the licensors of our PNP inhibitor progra
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» Developing Drug Candidates or Licensing Them to Other Parties. We generally plan to advance drug candidates thranitial and/or
early-stage drug development. We prefer to retaimpfoduct rights to our drug candidates withirsiplty markets, while relying on
collaborative arrangements with third parties argdcandidates within larger markets or outsideasaa of expertise. For larger disease
indications or those outside our area of expertise strategy is to license drug candidates torphaeutical or biotechnology partners for
collaborative development and global marketing. Wgkeve partnerships are a good source of developps/ments, license fees, future
event payments and royalties. They also reducedbis and risks, and increase the effectivenedatesbtage product development,
regulatory approval, manufacturing and marketing. &k willing to license that candidate during atage of the development process we
determine to be beneficial to the company andeauttimate development and commercialization of tliag candidate

Products in Development

The following table summarizes BioCryst's deandidates in clinical development as of Febr24xy2009:

Program and Candidate Disease

Category/Indication Delivery Form Development Stag Worldwide Rights

PNP Inhibitor (forodesine HCI BioCryst (U.S.)/Mundipharm
CTCL Oral Pivotal (EU, Australia, Asia

CLL Oral Phase |

Neuraminidase Inhibitor (peramivir) BioCryst (Rest of World)/Shionog
Viral V. Phase | (East Asia)/Green Cross (Kore
Viral i.m. Phase |

Viral V. Phase IlI

PNP Inhibitor (BCX-4208/R3421
Psoriasis Oral Phase | BioCryst

Additional Products

In addition to the programs shown above, v8e attain exclusive rights to potent inhibitorpafainfluenza neuraminidase, hepatitis C
additional PNP inhibitors. We will continue to ewate and test each of these compounds to detewich should be taken into clinical
testing.

PNP Inhibitors
T-cell Related Diseases

Overview. The human immune system employs specialized, tetliuiding T-cells, to control infection by recagimg and attacking
disease-causing viruses, bacteria and parasitesllSTare an essential part of the body’s immurstesy that serve a dual purpose to both
orchestrate and participate in the body’s immuispeoase. For the most part, this system works fissiyeto protect the body. However, when
T-cells multiply uncontrollably, T-cell proliferaté diseases, such as T-cell cancers, can occur.

The link between T-cell proliferation and gherine nucleoside phosphorylase, or PNP, enzymdivgasgliiscovered approximately twenty-
five years ago when a patient, who was genetichdficient in PNP, exhibited limited T-cell activjtput reasonably normal activity of other
immune functions. In other patients lacking PNRvégt the T-cell population was selectively dejglét however, B-cell function tended to be
normal. Based on these findings and the resultglbtulture studies, inhibiting PNP appears todpice primarily suppression of T-cells
without significantly impairing the function of athnon-lymphoid cells.

Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemidcute lymphocytic leukemia (“ALL") is a type oldind cancer. Other names for ALL are acute
lymphoblastic leukemia and acute lymphoid leukerAial is the most common form of leukemia in childréALL results from an acquired
injury to the DNA of a single cell in the bone nanr.

T-cell Lymphoma Lymphoma is a general term for a group of cantteasoriginate in the lymphatic system. T-cell yinoma results
when a T-lymphocyte (a type of white blood cellgdargoes a malignant change and begins
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to multiply, eventually crowding out healthy cedisd creating tumors, which enlarge the lymph nadafesinvade other sites in the body.
CTCL is a primary skin neoplasm and accounts farlges0% of all T-cell malignancies.

T-cell Mediated Autoimmune Diseas&kere are more than 80 clinically distinct autoinmawdiseases such as psoriasis, rheumatoid
arthritis, multiple sclerosis, and Crohn’s diseageich appear to have activated T-cells as a nggarof their pathogenesis. These diseases
occur when the immune system attacks the body’sa@dla rather than invading microorganisms. Thaesfmhibition and/or elimination of
activated T-cells could have a beneficial effectlese diseases.

Transplant RejectioriThe greatest threat to transplant patients istiejeof the transplanted organ by the badgivn immune system. F
this reason, transplant recipients must take dimgsippress the immune response and prevent mjactually for the rest of their lives. A
regimen combining several drugs is usually gived s treatment has to be continued indefinitEly: kidney transplant recipients, rejection
of the new kidney by the patient’s immune systemlead to loss of the transplanted organ and arrétudialysis. For heart, lung and liver
transplant patients, loss of the transplanted opgasents an immediate threat to life.

B-cell Related Cancers

Overview. There are two types of lymphocytes in the broasiesse — T-cells and B-cells. Although PNP inlitstwere developed
specifically to block the T-cells, recent work indies that the same biochemical event — the idtudaeaccumulation of deoxyguanosine
triphosphate (“dGTP”) also occurs in malignant Biscéd~urthermore, work of Dr. Varsha Gandhi at MBiderson Cancer Center has shown
that PNP inhibitors, when actirig vitro on B-cells from patients with CLL induce accumuwatiof dGTP with resultant apoptosis (cell death).

These studies open the possibility of trea@hdy, B-ALL and B-cell non-Hodgkin Lymphoma (“NHL"ith forodesine HCI. Importantly,
B-cell malignancies are considerably more prevalesuh are the T-cell leukemias and lymphomas.

Our PNP Inhibitor(s)

PNP Inhibition. PNP is an enzyme that plays an important role-aell proliferation, because it is necessary tonmadn normal DNA
synthesis in human T-cells. Selective inhibitiorPOfP causes certain nucleosides, including deoxyagiae, to accumulate. As the
concentration of deoxyguanosine increases withaells, it is converted by specific enzymes to dGARigh concentration of dGTP in T-
cells causes an imbalance in the intra-cellulautiieotide pool and thus causes cell death.

In June 2000, we licensed a series of pothifit hibitors from AECOM and IRL. The lead drug datate from this collaboration,
forodesine HCI, is a more potent inhibitor of huntgmphocyte proliferation than other previously kmoPNP inhibitors. Clinical data in our
past and ongoing clinical trials, plus extensivediinical studies indicate that forodesine HCI caodulate Teell activities. Forodesine HCI
an investigational PNP inhibitor for the potentigatment of T-cell leukemias and lymphomas. InrBaty 2006, we licensed forodesine HCI
to Mundipharma to develop and commercialize in ratwrlacross Europe, Asia and Australia for use aology.

During 2002, we exercised the option to adéa compound, BCX-4208, to the series of inhibiwf®NP licensed from AECOM and
IRL. Preclinical results indicated that BCX-4208sxamore potent inhibitor than forodesine HCI. \@mpleted a Phase | single ascending
dose clinical trial and a Phase Ib multi-dose chitrial, both in healthy volunteers. In NovemB805, we licensed BCX-4208 to Roche for
the world wide development and commercializatioautoimmune diseases and transplant rejection.miewanced termination of the Roche
license in 2008 and have regained world wide right8CX-4208.

PNP Inhibitor (forodesine HCI)

Overview
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The first clinical trial with an intravenousriulation of forodesine HCI, which began in 20@2s a Phase | clinical trial that enrolled T-
ALL patients at the M.D. Anderson Cancer Centdfigquston, Texas. Simultaneously, there were prexclirstudies being conducted at the
M.D. Anderson Cancer Center which indicated thatdesine HCI induces the same biochemical chamgearious other types of leukemia
cells that are responsible for the inhibition ofeikemia cells. The results of these preclinicadiigs led us to expand beyond the single
starting trial in T-ALL by initiating additional alical trials for refractory patients with B-ALL, TGCL, CLL, and other hematologic
malignancies. Based on the encouraging resultsesktinitial studies, we are working with our parfiMundipharma, to develop a strategy
for the simultaneous development of forodesine iH@hultiple indications and in potential combinatitherapies.

Current Development Strategy (T-ALL, CTCL, B-ALL, and CLL)

Forodesine HCI Clinical DevelopmenEollowing the completion of a Phase I/l clini¢ghl in patients with refractory CTCL, in
October 2007, we initiated a planned pivotal wih an oral formulation of forodesine HCI for tteeent of patients with CTCL. This trial is
being conducted under a SPA agreement negotiatadhd FDA and will serve as a basis for a new @pplication to the FDA using the
oral formulations in patients with relapsed CTChisTPhase Il clinical study has enrolled more thalf of the targeted patients.

Based on preclinical studies conducted atMHg. Anderson Cancer Center which indicated theddesine HCI induces the same
biochemical changes in various other types of lmiliecells that are responsible for the inhibitidmdeukemia cells, we initiated two small
clinical studies late in 2005 in B-cell leukemiadyich are more prevalent than T-cell leukemiasstFive initiated a Phase I trial with oral
forodesine HCI in patients with CLL in an advansg¢alge and refractory to fludarabine, a currentdstecththerapy. Our initial trial has been
amended so that any potential subject who had fimdiae treatment in the past is now eligible. T is on-going. In December 2008, we
announced interim data from the ongoing forodeki@&Phase Il program in patients with CLL and diaten a healthy subject
pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study. The &uHy will continue with an amendment to study & esing regimen of oral
forodesine, 200 mg twice-daily. An interim analysias conducted on data from an exploratory Phasiedle-arm, open-label program in
patients with CLL whose previous treatment hacethiWhile this analysis showed that no partialanplete responses were observed, five
out of 13 patients administered 200 mg of forodes$i€!| once-daily had substantial reductions in grant lymphocytes, and at the time of
the analysis, seven patients were still on studyodfesine HCI was generally safe and well-toleratettie 200 mg once-daily dose. In a
parallel, healthy subject, pharmacokinetic and plzaodynamic study, we compared the effect of seegs of 200 mg forodesine HCI dosed
once-daily with seven days of 200 mg forodesine Hidded twice-daily. The study demonstrated sulisthnincreased drug exposure and
pharmacodynamic effect in subjects administereddiesine HCl 200 mg twice-daily. Drug exposure, assured by area under the (plasma-
concentration/time) curve (AUC), increased by 6&pst (P<0.001) for twice-daily dosing comparednee-daily dosing. Serum uric acid
levels were reduced at steady state compared &itady 50.0 percent for twice-daily dosing congghto 23.5 percent for once-daily dosing
(p<0.001), indicating increased PNP enzyme intahitiith twice-daily dosing.

We initiated a Phase I/l clinical trial ofrtmlesine HCI to determine the safety of repeatslo$an i.v. formulation of the drug in patients
with B-ALL. This trial is completed. Once the date thoroughly analyzed, we will review the resulith Mundipharma to determine the
best clinical development strategy going forward.

In January 2007, we initiated a Phase Ilb icetiter, open-label, non-randomized repeat-dodstration study to evaluate an intravenous
treatment of forodesine HCI followed by an orabktraeent of forodesine HCI in patients with relapsedefractory T-ALL. This study was
being conducted under an SPA negotiated with th& &id was designed to determine the rate of compéhission achieved with
forodesine HCI. In March 2007, we announced that essult of a stability issue with the i.v. formatibn, that we were voluntarily placing tl
Phase llb clinical trial on hold pending internaview and discussions with our partner, Mundiphadm@®ecember 2007, we announced the
formal termination of this study.

In February 2006, we and Mundipharma entemtalan exclusive license agreement to develop antheercialize forodesine HCI in
markets across Europe, Asia and Australia for ngmcology. The agreement covers a number of mamkeéisia and Australasia including
Japan, Australia, New Zealand, China and Indias €hllaboration should help maximize the globaledlegment, commercialization, and
market potential of forodesine HCI in a varietysefious medical conditions potentially includingdl leukemia, CTCL, CLL, T-cell non-
Hodgkin lymphoma and B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma.
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PNP Inhibitor (BCX-4208/R3421)
Overview

During 2004, we began clinical developmenB6fX-4208, another PNP inhibitor, as a drug candidat the treatment of T-cell mediated
autoimmune diseases, including psoriasis, andgtansrejection. Although BCX- 4208 and forodesk#@l are both investigational PNP
inhibitors, BCX-4208 differs from forodesine HCl gignificant ways. For example, BCX-4208 is morégpd, and has the ability to suppress
PNP for longer periods of time. Thus, BCX-4208 patential advantages over forodesine HCI for thattnent of diseases requiring long-
term, chronic administration of a PNP inhibitoroRasis is a chronic and often painful and deliitiga disease which affects an estimated 2-
3 percent of the world’s population, accountingriearly 125 million persons worldwide. The Natiohwdtitute of Health estimates that 5.8-
7.5 million Americans have psoriasis.

Current Development Strategy

We completed our initial Phase | study, a lgimtpse pharmacokinetic trial in healthy volunteeegly in 2005 and during the third quarter
of 2005, we initiated a Phase Ib multi dose tmiahéalthy volunteers to evaluate the safety, tbiétg and pharmacokinetics of multiple oral
doses of BCX-4208. In November 2005, we and Rocim@anced an exclusive license agreement for thédwite development and
commercialization of BCX-4208 for the preventionagiute rejection in transplantation and for thattrent of autoimmune diseases. This
collaboration provided substantial strategic ammhemic benefit to us and also all the essentiahelgs for the rapid, comprehensive and
competitive development of BCX-4208. The two coniparmestablished a joint committee to set the dinievelopment strategy and the
future development program for BCX-4208.

During the third quarter of 2007, we annountted Roche had initiated a Phase Ila clinical toaevaluate BCX-4208/R3421 in patients
with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis. Theagffi@ssessment of the study has been completedis@on with interim findings reported
by the Company in May 2008, the Phase Il clinitatlg of BCX-4208, a potent, rationally designedligravailable PNP inhibitor, met its
primary objectives of safety and tolerability. lddition, BCX-4208 displayed dose-dependent reduastia peripheral blood lymphocyte
counts, including subsets measuring B cells (CD@®) T cells (CD3), T helper cells (CD4) and pptessor/cytotoxic cells (CD8). Further,
plasma levels of BCX-4208 increased with dose,@adma uric acid levels showed dose-related remiuetivith BCX-4208. In addition,
consistent with interim results previously reporbgtthe Company, no evidence of clinical efficaaygecondary objective, was observed in
psoriasis patients with doses and duration of athtnation tested.

In the Phase lla trial, BCX-4208 was genersdlfe and well-tolerated at doses up to 120 my dailsix weeks. Most adverse events
reported were considered mild or moderate, andidfrequency. No opportunistic infections were ated. In addition, detailed laboratory
and clinical monitoring did not indicate any pattesuggestive of off-target adverse findings.

Also in May 2008, we announced that we reativatice that Roche was exercising the “no causehination right under the license
agreement for BCX-4208. As a result, we regainedadmade rights to BCX-4208.

Neuraminidase Inhibitor

Influenza

Seasonal Influenz&easonal influenza, commonly known as the flu,viga infection characterized by symptoms inclugfever, cough,
sore throat, fatigue, headache, and/or chills. Adicg to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control amy&htion (“CDC"), an estimated 5% to
20% of the American population suffers from inflaarannually, there are an estimated 200,000 infla@ssociated hospitalizations, and
influenza is responsible for approximately 36,0@attis annually. Influenza is particularly dangerauthe elderly, young children and pec
with certain health conditions. Outbreaks of seaktin tend to follow predictable patterns usualbcurring in the winter. New vaccines are
developed annually based on known flu strains aedisually available for the annual flu seasonr&laee also antiviral treatments available
for the treatment of people infected with influenza
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Avian Influenza According to information from the CDC, avian uinéinza, or bird flu is an infection caused by visuadich occur
naturally among birds. This form of flu is very ¢agious among birds and can lead to serious illardssometimes death. There are two |
forms of disease that infect domestic poultry, alew pathogenic form and the other a highly pagmigform. The latter form can cause
disease that affects multiple internal organs aitld &ymortality rate between 90-100% in these bivihin 2 days.

While there are many different subtypes ofittirienza A virus, only two subtypes are knowrb&currently circulating among humans.
Avian influenza A viruses are found chiefly in lircbut there have been confirmed cases of infeatitlumans, generally as a result of
contact with infected birds. These infections himgeto symptoms ranging from those of normal flurtore severe and life threatening
conditions. Influenza A (“H5N1") is a subtype of anfluenza virus that is highly contagious amongisiand can be deadly to them. Of the
avian influenza viruses that have crossed the spéxirrier to infect humans, the H5N1 virus haseduhe largest number of detected cases
of severe disease and death in humans. Thus faQrpt person spread of this virus is considexéetmmely rare, but as influenza A viruses
constantly change, they could mutate over timeateelthe ability to spread rapidly among humans.

Pandemic InfluenzaPandemic influenza is a global disease outbreatkdccurs when a new influenza virus emergesagp#ople have
had no previous exposure. This situation occurg kamely and only occurred three times in the 2&thtury.

Influenza Prevention and Treatmerfthe development of effective therapeutics haietiged medical researchers due to the seasonal
variation in viral strains and the highly infectinature of influenza. Patients, therefore, hawédid treatment options. Amantadine and
rimantadine, drugs in the adamantine class, hage bsed for treatment of influenza A but are ingffee against influenza B. In addition,
these drugs cause some adverse side effects, @nifub tends to develop resistance to these ditigsCDC has recommended against the
use of amantadine and rimantadine for the treatmeptophylaxis of influenza in the United Statesilisusceptibility to these antiviral
medications has been re-established among cimglatfluenza A viruses. Osteltamivir and zanamigiygs in the neuraminidase inhibitor
class, have been used for the treatment of inflaeRecently, the prevalence of resistance to asaliain subtype H1N1 of influenza A has
increased, and the CDC has recommended the usaaiivir or a combination of oseltamivir and rinthtee when influenza A (HLN1) virt
infection or exposure is suspected.

Vaccines are available against the diseashdué limitations: people require advance vacaimatvaccines are limited by their specificity
to particular strains of the virus; and vaccindeolfittle protection if the strain of influenzaahcirculates is different from that present in the
vaccine. In addition, many people decline the negfliinjections. Different strains can arise wheriagie antigens on the virus (the portion of
the virus that causes an immune reaction in humam$®rgo minor genetic mutations each year asithe xeplicates (antigenic drift).
Because of this mutability, the immunity acquiredesponse to infection by a particular strainheftirus does not provide adequate
protection against viruses that subsequently afise.production of a new vaccine each year is ntyt complex and expensive, but also an
inefficient method of global disease control.

Inhibiting Influenza Neuraminidas&esearch during the past two decades has seentdrahgances in understanding the molecular
structure and function of the influenza virus. Adagable attention has been focused on the enzgmeminidase, which is located on the
surface of the virus. Neuraminidase assists imalease and spread of the flu virus by breakingHeenical strands that hold the new viruses
to the cell surface, allowing the replicated vitospread and infect other cells. This processressgs until the host’s immune response can
produce enough antibodies to bring the infectiodenrcontrol. Inhibiting the neuraminidase enzymepsenew viruses attached to the cell
surface, thereby preventing the spread of the \@ngsthe further infection of other cells. The dugent quantities of virus in the bloodstre
are not enough to cause disease but are sufficientiuce the body to mount an immune response.

In addition to our neuraminidase inhibitor glieandidate, peramivir, both Roche, in collaboratigth Gilead Sciences, and
GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) have neuraminidase inhibgmn the market. Roche’s neuraminidase inhibgar fwice-a-day, orally active
neuraminidase inhibitor, while GSK’s neuraminidagsbitor is administered by dry powder inhalerd¢wia day. Both drugs are approved for
marketing in the United States and other counfaesreatment of influenza and are to be admingstdor 5 days. Roche’s neuraminidase
inhibitor is
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also approved for prophylaxis of influenza. In dibdi to these companies with neuraminidase inhigjtthere are other companies working to
develop additional antiviral drugs to be used agfamrious strains of influenza.

Some studies in laboratories suggest that sdrtieese neuraminidase inhibitor drugs should wirtkeating avian influenza infections in
humans, but additional studies are needed to derabmshe effectiveness of these drugs.

Government StockpilingVith the concern of avian influenza and the possibfeat of a pandemic, many governments througheut
world have been stockpiling antiviral drugs, susiRache’s neuraminidase inhibitor, oseltamivir. fEhis interest in many of these
governments, including the U.S. government to &dditional vaccines and antivirals to address amiil pandemic situation.

Neuraminidase Inhibitor (peramivir)
Overview

Backgroundln 1987, scientists at The University of Alabam@mmingham (“UAB”), in collaboration with our saiists, began
determining the molecular structure of the influemeuraminidase enzyme from several differentratraf influenza, using X-ray
crystallography. Subsequently, our scientists aA® Jcientists developed numerous new inhibitorthese enzymes using structure-based
drug design. We licensed the influenza neuramieigmegram from UAB in 1994 and proceeded to comepiet studies of the enzyme’s
molecular structure needed to advance the developoi@euraminidase inhibitors. The structure @ #ctive site of influenza neuraminidase
is similar among different viral strains. Becau$¢his similarity, we believe that our neuraminidashibitors may be effective in the
treatment and prevention of influenza, regardliéshanges in the virus.

Previous development of peramivir in an ocarfulation was conducted through a worldwide lieeagreement between the Company
the R.W. Johnson Pharmaceutical Research InstihndeOrtho-McNeil Pharmaceutical Inc. (both John&alohnson companies). Johnson &
Johnson made the business decision to terminat@dginéement in 2001 and returned all rights tdrudune 2002, we completed an ongoing
Phase llI clinical trial that had been started blgnkon & Johnson and subsequently terminated dawelot of our oral peramivir program as
a result of missing the primary endpoint in thegpé trial.

Current status of peramiviDue to the recent international concern about ariatl influenza pandemic that could be initiatgdalsian
strains of the virus, peramivir has received cossitlle attention, since it is positioned to be ofheery few advanced antiviral alternatives to
oral oseltamivir, or Tamiflu, for addressing a pdial pandemic. As a result, we filed an IND in 80fhd re-initiated the clinical development
of peramivir during 2006.

Current Development Strategy

Preclinical studies comparing peramivir withar anti-influenza drugs have demonstrated thatrpivir has broad-spectrum potency
against multiple strains of influenza in the nantanor sub-nanomolar range , including the aviaaiistH5N1. We are currently focusing on
injectable formulations of peramivir to achievelhiglood levels that may be effective against mtysirss of influenza, including strains that
may be resistant to oseltmivir (Tamiflu). Our intigational new drug application (“IND”) for i.v. pamivir became effective in
December 2005 and for i.m. in December 2006. Weived fast track designation from the FDA in Jagui06 and initiated a Phase |
clinical trial with i.v. peramivir in March 2006. Ding 2006, we conducted multiple Phase | clintdals in healthy volunteers in preparation
for the Phase Il trials to be initiated during #896-2007 influenza season, which began with thiaiion of a Phase Il study with the i.m.
formulation in January 2007.

Intramuscular peramivirWe completed a double-blind placebo-controlled Bhbslinical trial with i.m. peramivir testing twdifferent
dose levels of peramivir (150 mg and 300 mg) vemasebo in adults with acute uncomplicated infasn/hile the trial did not demonstrate
statistically significant differences for its primyaendpoint of time to alleviation of symptoms, treliminary analysis of the virologic data
indicated that peramivir demonstrated statisticsifpnificant reductions in influenza virus sheddindoth peramivir treatment groups
compared to placebo, with greater reductions ir80@mg dose. With this information and the addgio
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pharmacokinetic information we have obtained subeetjto the trial, we initiated a Phase Il placebatrolled trial of 600 mg i.m. peramivir
for the treatment of seasonal influenza. This wids a new, more concentrated 150 mg/ml formulatigeramivir. This trial is ongoing.

Intravenous peramiviin July 2007, we announced the initiation of a Rhaslinical trial of i.v. peramivir to comparedetefficacy and
safety of i.v. peramivir to orally administered tamivir in patients who require hospitalizationedio acute influenza. This trial was initiated
in the Southern Hemisphere and is currently ongairtge Northern Hemisphere. On October 27, 20@83bmpany announced results of -
exploratory Phase Il trial. The study comparedeafiieacy and safety of five days of therapy witther 200 mg i.v. peramivir per day, 400
i.v. peramivir per day or 75 mg oral oseltamiviideva day, in patients who required hospitalizatielated to influenza. The results were
presented at the XI International Symposium on Raspy Viral Infections in Bangkok, Thailand in f@ary 2009.

SummaryQOur plan is to continue developing both injectdblenulations in the in-patient and out-patientisgt. In addition to the
progress made clinically in both programs, we halge made significant progress in the manufactusimg) toxicology work required to
advance both programs forward toward product apgrdreclinical studies have indicated that a sirigjection of peramivir is effective at
preventing death in mice from infections with vent strains of influenza. If this finding can benfiomed in clinical trials, we believe the
injectable formulations of peramivir will have catsrable potential for treating patients with seedanfluenza infections, in addition to
providing an effective mechanism for treating langenbers of patients rapidly in the event of gglundemic.

Congress approved an appropriation of $3|Bbifor 2006 to support the development of varicaantermeasures for a flu pandemic.
appropriation included funding for the developmeinew antiviral agents. In January 2007, we annedrthat HHS had awarded the
Company a $102.6 million, four-year contract fag idvanced development of peramivir for U.S. liceasin January 2008, we announced
that the development plan for peramivir had charagetithat we would no longer pursue the Phasenillprogram in peramivir for the
current influenza season, but would move forwarehaluating higher doses than used in previousetudlso in January, we announced"
the program would cost in excess of the $102.6onilkkontract and that any funding above the $1@#lBon may be the responsibility of the
Company. Since then, HHS and the Company havewegking in collaboration through various contraadifications to maximize
resources by stopping work on some projects (regPhase Il i.m. program) and capping expenditaresther projects in order to maximize
remaining funds. HHS and the Company executed trairmodification that fully funds the Companyadbgh the completion of both the
phase Il studies in outpatients treated with intraoular peramivir, the phase |l study in hospitipatients with intravenous peramivir, and
certain manufacturing and toxicology componentthefprogram. The modification also allows the Comypand HHS to agree on additional
development activities for peramivir within the éomed $102.6 million funding. All temporary resimés, effected through a stop work orc
have now been removed. Following completion ofghase 1l studies, we expect to continue the diaogith HHS regarding additional
funding beyond the $102.6 million for peramivir éspment through U.S. licensure. The original cacttof $102.6 million and the four year
term remain unchanged.

In addition to the contract with HHS, we hagtablished collaborative relationships with Shgiremd Green Cross for the development
and commercialization in Japan and Taiwan by Stgband in Korea by Green Cross. The Shionogi ages¢nvas established in
February 2007, which resulted in an upfront payneéi$tl4 million and future clinical event milestopayments of up to $21 million. The
Shionogi agreement was amended in 2008 to expanekttitory in the agreement to include Taiwan tngrovide rights for Shionogi to
perform its Phase Il clinical trial in Hong Konghionogi recently completed a Phase Il study a&irgnous (i.v.) peramivir administered via
a single dose injection in the outpatient settmgtfeatment of seasonal influenza. This trial iteeprimary endpoint of improvement in the
median time to alleviation of symptoms in subjegith confirmed, acute, uncomplicated influenza atien, compared to placebo alone.
Shionogi commenced a phase Il program in East,Asiduding Japan, in December 2008.

Structure-Based Drug Design

Structure-based drug design is a drug disgoapproach by which we design synthetic compouraa fetailed structural knowledge of
the active sites of enzyme targets associatedpaitticular diseases. Enzymes are
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proteins that act as catalysts for many vital ladal reactions. Our goal generally is to desigapound that will fit in the active site of an
enzyme (the active site of an enzyme is the ateanhich a chemical or biological molecule fitsimitiate a biochemical reaction) and ther
interfere with the progression of disease.

Our structure-based drug design involves gptieation of both traditional biology and medicithemistry and an array of advanced
technologies. We use X-ray crystallography, compmnedeling of molecular structures and advancednistey techniques to focus on the
three-dimensional molecular structure and actitechiaracteristics of the enzymes that controutalilbiology.

We believe that structure-based drug desigmiglogies are superior to drug screening techsigdg identifying the target enzyme in
advance and by discovering the chemical and maestiucture of the enzyme, we believe it is pdedit design a better drug to interact
with the enzyme. In addition, the structural ddttamed by X-ray crystallographic analysis allovd#idnal analysis and compound
modification at each stage of the biological evaara This capability makes structure-based drugjgiea powerful tool for efficient
development of drugs that are highly specific fartigular enzyme target sites.

Research and Development

We initiated our research and developmentnamgn 1986, with drug synthesis beginning in 1982 have assembled a scientific
research staff with expertise in a broad base whacked research technologies including proteinHaotstry, X-ray crystallography,
chemistry and pharmacology. Our research facilitiekide protein biochemistry and organic synth&sieratories, testing facilities, X-ray
crystallography, computer and graphics equipmedtfagilities to make drug candidates on a smalesita early stage clinical trials.
Beginning in June 2006, we began building an irgkcfinical development and regulatory team, basegiary, North Carolina to manage the
development strategy for our later stage produising the years ended December 31, 2008, 2002606, we spent $73.3, $94.1, and
$47.1 million, respectively, on research and dgwelent.

Collaboration and In-License Relationships

We seek to enter into collaborations with laggharmaceutical and biotechnology companies wieefeel it is advantageous to leverage
these companies’ resources to develop and comrtizectaur drug candidates on a global basis. Thanel us to remain focused on our
strength of early stage discovery and developmediug candidates. To date, we have entered intontajor collaborations for the
development and commercialization of our lead PiNfibitors and two collaborations for the developtraamd commercialization of perami
in certain countries outside the U.S. In additionJanuary 2007, we announced that HHS had awdahde@ompany a $102.6 million, four-
year contract for the advanced development of petafor U.S. licensure

Another important component of our strategipiaugment our internal discovery programs thrathghselective in-licensing of potential
drug development targets or early stage compouwrdtése specific targets. For example, our PNituns were in-licensed from AECOM
and IRL in June 2000.

Corporate Alliances

Mundipharma. In February 2006, the Company entered into aftusie, royalty bearing right and license in thedfied territory
(primarily Europe, Asia and Australia) with Mundgaima for the development and commercializationusflead PNP inhibitor, forodesine
HCI, for use in oncology. Under the terms of theeagnent, Mundipharma obtained oncology rights todesine HCI in the specified territc
in exchange for a $10 million up-front payment. Mipharma will share 50% of the documented thirdypdevelopment costs incurred by us
in respect of our current and planned trials ahefeffective date of the agreement provided thahdibharma’s maximum contribution to
these trials shall be $10 million. In addition, Miypharma will conduct additional clinical trials thieir own cost up to a maximum of
$15 million. The license provides for possibilitifature event payments totaling $155 million feh&ving specified development,
regulatory and commercial events (including cersziles level amounts following a product’s laurfch)certain indications. In addition, the
agreement provides that we will receive royaltr@nging from single digits to mid teens) based @em@entage of net product sales, which
varies depending upon when certain indicationsiveddDA approval in a major market country and gary by country depending on the
patent coverage or sales of generic compoundpartecular
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country. Generally, all payments under the agre¢mennonrefundable and non-creditable, but theysabject to audit. We licensed this
compound and other PNP inhibitors from AECOM and HRd will owe sublicense payments to these thadips on the upfront payment,
future event payments and royalties received bipughe sublicense of these inhibitors.

Within five years of the effective date of tigreement, Mundipharma has a right of first nedgioth on existing backup PNP inhibitors we
develop through Phase IIb in oncology, but any A& inhibitors are exempt from this agreement aadetain all rights to such
compounds. We retain the rights to forodesine HGhe U.S. and Mundipharma is obligated by the $eofithe agreement to use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop thenlsesl product in the territory specified by the agrent. The agreement will continue for
commercial life of the licensed products, but maytdrminated by either party following an uncureatenial breach by the other party or in
the event the prexisting third party license with AECOM and IRL épgs. It may be terminated by Mundipharma upon &psdvritten notic
without cause or under certain other conditionspegified in the agreement and all rights, datderads, products and other information
would be transferred to us at no cost. In the ewenterminate the agreement for material defauithsolvency, we could have to pay
Mundipharma 50% of the costs of any independera dained by Mundipharma in accordance with the terhibe agreement.

Shionogi.ln March 2007, the Company entered into an exciubdense agreement with Shionogi to develop amadneercialize the
Company’s lead influenza neuraminidase inhibiteramivir, in Japan for the treatment of seasondlpotentially life-threatening human
influenza. Under the terms of the agreement, Shybobtained rights to injectable formulations ofgmivir in Japan in exchange for a
$14 million up-front payment. The license providiespotential future milestone event payments (21 million) and commercial event
milestone payments (up to $95 million) in addittordouble digit (between 10 and 20% range) royadtyments on product sales of peram
In December 2007, the Company received a $7 mitlidastone payment from Shionogi for their init@atiof a Phase Il clinical trial with i.v.
peramivir. Generally, all payments under the agesgrare nonrefundable and non-creditable, but éiheysubject to audit. Shionogi will be
responsible for all development, regulatory andketing costs in Japan. The term of the agreemdnins February 28, 2007 until terminai
by either party in accordance with the license egyent. Either party may terminate in the eventrofiacured breach. Shionogi has the right
of without cause termination. In the event of tevation all license and rights granted to Shionbgilserminate and shall revert back to the
Company. The Company developed peramivir underem$ie from UAB and will owe sublicense paymenthéomm on the upfront payment
and any future event payments and/or royaltieswvedey the Company from Shionogi. In October 2068, Company and Shionogi
amended the license agreement to expand the tgrcibvered by the agreement to include Taiwan argtavide rights for Shionogi to
perform a Phase Il Clinical Trial in Hong Kong.i8hogi commenced a phase Ill program in East As@uding Japan, in December 2008.
BioCryst retains all rights to commercialize peraimin North America, Europe, and other countriesside of Japan, Taiwan and Korea.

Green Cross Corporation (“Green Cross'ln June 2006, the Company entered into an agreemitnGreen Cross to develop and
commercialize peramivir in Korea. Under the terrhthe agreement, Green Cross will be responsitslalfalevelopment, regulatory, and
commercialization costs in Korea. The Company makl one-time license fee of $250,000. Total fitailestone payments would be
equally modest. The license also provides thaCihmpany will share in profits resulting from thdesaf peramivir in Korea, including the
sale of peramivir to the Korean government for piling purposes. Furthermore, Green Cross will freeyCompany a premium over its cost
to supply peramivir for development and any futtn@keting of peramivir products in Korea. Both prthave the right to terminate in the
event of an uncured material breach. In the evetrmination all rights, data, materials, produasl other information would be transferred
to the Company.

Roche. In November 2005, we entered into an exclusisenise with Roche for the development and commeézatain of our second
generation PNP inhibitor, BCX-4208, for the prevemtof acute rejection in transplantation and fa treatment of autoimmune diseases.
Under the terms of the agreement, Roche obtaineliiwide rights to BCX-4208 in exchange for an uprArpayment of $30 million, which
included a payment as reimbursement for a limitgaply of material during the first 24 months of t@laboration. The license also provided
for future milestone event payments for achievipgcified development, regulatory and commerciaéstdnes (including sales level
milestones following a product’s launch) for centaidications.
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In May 2008 the Company received notice thathe was exercising the “no cause” terminationtrigtder the license agreement for
BCX-4208. Upon termination during the fourth quarte2008, the Company recognized the remaining defemeenue and deferred expe
related to the license agreement, which were $2@I®n and $8.2 million, respectively.

Academic Alliances

Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva @nsity and Industrial Research, Ltd, New ZealanHQ®M and IRL respectivelyy
June 2000, we licensed a series of potent inhibddPNP from AECOM and IRL. The lead drug candiddtom this collaboration are
forodesine HCIl and BCX-4208. We have obtained weidé exclusive rights to develop and ultimatelytidligite these compounds or any
other drug candidates that might arise from reseancthese inhibitors. We have the option to exghrdAgreement to include other
inventions in the field made by the investigatargmployees of AECOM and IRL. We have agreed tocesemercially reasonable efforts to
develop these drugs. In addition, we have agregdyaertain milestone payments for each licensedyzt (which range in the aggregate
from $1.4 million to almost $4 million per indicati) for future development of these inhibitors géndigit royalties on net sales of any
resulting product made by us, and to share appibeiiynone quarter of future payments received fovher third-party partners, if any. In
addition, we have agreed to pay annual licensetfegscan range from $150,000 to $500,000 deperatirgtage of development of products
that are non-refundable, but are creditable agaictsial royalties and other payments due to AEC@QMIRL. This agreement may be
terminated by us at any time by giving 60 days adeanotice or in the event of material uncured ¢indeay AECOM and/or IRL.

The University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAR)e have had a close relationship with UAB singeformation. Our former Chairman,
Dr. Charles E. Bugg, was the previous Directoheftt AB Center for Macromolecular Crystallographydaur former Chief Operating
Officer, Dr. J. Claude Bennett, was the former Rierst of UAB, the former Chairman of the DepartmehMedicine at UAB and a former
Chairman of the Department of Microbiology at UAReveral of our early programs originated at UAB.

We currently have agreements with UAB forurfhza neuraminidase and complement inhibitors. Utheeterms of these agreements,
UAB performed specific research for us in returnrissearch payments and license fees. UAB hasagtarst certain rights to any discoveries
in these areas resulting from research developadA® or jointly developed with us. We have agreegay single digit royalties on sales of
any resulting product and to share in future paysiegceived from other third-party partners. Wedheompleted the research under both the
complement and influenza agreements. These tweagmats have initial 25-year terms, are automagicatiewable for five-year terms
throughout the life of the last patent and are teafle by us upon three months notice and by UA8eurcertain circumstances. Upon
termination each party shall cease using the qthey’s proprietary and confidential informationdamaterials, the parties shall jointly own
joint inventions and UAB shall resume full ownegsloff all UAB licensed products. There is curremttyactivity between us and UAB
these agreements, but when the Company licensetettinology, such as in the case of the Shioma)iGreen Cross agreements, or
commercialize products related to these prograresyill owe sublicense fees or royalties on amowgseceive.

Emory University (Emory)In June 2000, we licensed intellectual propemynf Emory related to the HCV polymerase target ciased
with hepatitis C viral infections. Under the origlrierms of the agreement, the research investigétam Emory provided us with materials
and technical insight into the target. We have egjte pay Emory single digit royalties on saleamy resulting product and to share in future
payments received from other third party partnéamy. We can terminate this agreement at any tisngiving 90 days advance notice. Ug
termination, BioCryst would cease using the licenwehnology.

Government Contracts

In January 2007, we announced that HHS haddrdehe Company a $102.6 million, four-year caritfar the advanced development of
peramivir. In January 2008, we announced that éveldpment plan for peramivir had changed andwieatvould no longer pursue the Phase
[l i.m. program in peramivir for the current influza season, but would move forward in evaluatighdr doses than used in previous
studies. Also in January, we announced that thgram would cost in excess of the $102.6 milliontcaet and that any funding above the
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$102.6 million may be the responsibility of the Guany. Since then, HHS and the Company have beekingan collaboration through
various contract modifications to maximize resoarog stopping work on some projects (e.g. the PHasm. program) and capping
expenditures on other projects in order to maximé&eaining funds. HHS and the Company executedhrat modification that fully funds
the Company through the completion of both the phbstudies in outpatients treated with intramuacperamivir, the phase Il study in
hospitalized patients with intravenous peramiuvird @ertain manufacturing and toxicology componefitsie program. The modification also
allows the Company and HHS to agree on additioeaélbpment activities for peramivir within the confed $102.6 million funding. All
temporary restraints, effected through a stop veoder, have now been removed. Following completibtihe phase Il studies, we expect to
continue the dialogue with HHS regarding additidoalding beyond the $102.6 million for peramivivééopment through U.S. licensure.
The original contract of $102.6 million and the fgear term remain unchanged. HHS has indicatedatfitéviral drugs are an important
element of their pandemic influenza preparedndsstefand that their strategy includes not onlykpiling of existing antiviral drugs but al
seeking out new antiviral medications to furthevdaten their capabilities to treat and preventaaths of influenza. Peramivir is in the same
class of neuraminidase inhibitors as oseltamivan{iflu) and zanamivir (Relenza), all of which argigral drugs, but the method of delivery
for peramivir will be parenteral (i.m. and i.v.) esmpared to the oral Tamiflu or inhaled Relenza. &k committed to working with HHS for
the development of these parenteral formulatiorpeo&mivir which could be especially useful in hitdsettings or pandemic situations due
to the ability to achieve high levels of the dragidly throughout the body.

This contract is a cost-plus-fixed-fee contradich is milestone-driven. HHS will make periodissessments of progress and the
continuation of the contract is based on our peréorce, timeliness and quality of deliverables, ather factors. The government has rights
under certain contract clauses to terminate thigraot. The contract is terminable by the governnmag¢many time for breach or without cause.

Patents and Proprietary Information

Our success will depend in part on our abtlitpbtain and enforce patent protection for omdpicts, methods, processes and other
proprietary technologies, preserve our trade sgcaeid operate without infringing on the proprigtaghts of other parties, both in the United
States and in other countries. We own or havegitgghtertain proprietary information, proprietagghnology, issued and allowed patents and
patent applications which relate to compounds weedaveloping. We actively seek, when appropriatgegtion for our products, proprietary
technology and proprietary information by meant/@&. and foreign patents, trademarks and contrbattengements. In addition, we rely
upon trade secrets and contractual arrangemeptstiect certain of our proprietary information, prietary technology and products.

The patent positions of companies like ouesgimerally uncertain and involve complex legal fadual questions. Our ability to maintain
and solidify our proprietary position for our techogy will depend on our success in obtaining @ffecpatent claims and enforcing those
claims once granted. We do not know whether arguofpatent applications or those patent applicattbat we license will result in the
issuance of any patents. Our issued patents asd that may issue in the future, or those licetsecs, may be challenged, invalidated,
rendered unenforceable or circumvented, which churlid our ability to stop competitors from markegi related products or the length of
term of patent protection that we may have formnaducts. In addition, the rights granted underiasyed patents may not provide us with
competitive advantages against competitors withlairmompounds or technology. Furthermore, our cetibprs may independently develop
similar technologies or duplicate any technologyadeped by us in a manner that does not infringepatents or other intellectual property.
Because of the extensive time required for develpintesting and regulatory review of a potentialdoict, it is possible that, before any of
our drug candidates or those developed by our @aritan be commercialized, any related patent mygiyeeor remain in force for only a
short period following commercialization, therelegucing any advantage of the patent.

As of February 20, 2009, we have been iss@ed.3. patents that expire between 2009 and 202%het relate to our PNP, serine prote
and neuraminidase inhibitor compounds. We havagsied six different class of compounds represem@vg composition of matter patents
from AECOM and IRL for our PNP inhibitors, plus aiishal manufacturing patents related to these Ri\iibitors and one patent from
Emory related to hepatitis C. Additionally, we ha@PCT or U.S. patent applications pending rel&ag@NP, neuraminidase, RNA viral
polymerase, paramyxovirus neuraminidase, and spriotease inhibitors. Our pending applications matyresult in issued patents, and our
patents may not provide us with sufficient protactagainst competitive products or otherwise bernergially viable.
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Our success is also dependent upon the dkiltsyledge and experience of our scientific anthézal personnel, none of which is
patentable. To help protect our rights, we reqgairemployees, consultants, advisors and partoegater into confidentiality agreements,
which prohibit the disclosure of confidential infioation to anyone outside of our company and, whessible, requires disclosure and
assignment to us of their ideas, developmentspdés@es and inventions. These agreements may nwidgradequate protection for our trade
secrets, know-how or other proprietary informatiothe event of any unauthorized use or disclosutée lawful development by others of
such information.

Marketing and Sales

We may decide to market, distribute and seltipcts within specialty markets for use in treattraf various diseases. Our general stra
is to maximize sustainable value by moving our dragdidate portfolio through clinical developmemrgistration and ultimately to the
market. We believe that this is best achieved tgiming full product rights to certain drug candegwithin specialty markets, while relying
on collaborative arrangements with third partiesdizig candidates within larger markets or outsidearea of expertise. However, in gene
we lack experience in marketing, distributing asltlisg pharmaceutical products. Our strategy inekitklying on partners, licensees or
arrangements with others to provide for the mankgtilistribution and sales of products we may dgvélVe may not be able to establish and
maintain acceptable commercial arrangements wittnges, licensees or others to perform such aesit

Competition

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology indusisie intensely competitive. Many companies, indgdbiotechnology, chemical and
pharmaceutical companies, are actively engagedtivitees similar to ours, including research amelopment of drugs for the treatment of
cancer, infectious, autoimmune, and inflammatospdiers. Many of these companies have substangiedter financial and other resources,
larger research and development staffs, and maemgixe marketing and manufacturing organizatibas twe do. In addition, some of them
have considerable experience in preclinical testifigical trials and other regulatory approval gedures. There are also academic
institutions, governmental agencies and other reke@ganizations that are conducting researcheasain which we are working. They may
also market commercial products, either on thein owthrough collaborative efforts.

We expect to encounter significant competifimmany of the pharmaceutical products we pladeeelop. Companies that complete
clinical trials, obtain required regulatory apprsvand commence commercial sales of their produsfisre their competitors may achieve a
significant competitive advantage. Such is the egife Eisai's Targretin for CTCL and the current neuraminidaséitors marketed by GS
and Roche for influenza. In addition, several phareutical and biotechnology firms, including mgarmaceutical companies, have
announced efforts in the field of structure-basedjdiesign and in the therapeutic areas of canfectious disease, autoimmune, and
inflammatory disorders, as well as other therapearteas where we are focusing our drug discovdoytsf

In order to compete successfully, we must bgvproprietary positions in patented drugs fordipeutic markets that have not been
satisfactorily addressed by conventional researeliegies and, in the process, expand our expéntisteucture-based drug design. Our
products, even if successfully tested and developeg not be adopted by physicians over other misdand may not offer economically
feasible alternatives to other therapies.

Government Regulation

The FDA regulates the pharmaceutical and biotelogy industries in the U.S., and our drug cdatdis are subject to extensive and
rigorous domestic government regulations priordmmercialization. The FDA regulates, among othergs$, the development, testing,
manufacture, safety, efficacy, record-keeping, liagestorage, approval, advertising, promotiorke sand distribution of pharmaceutical
products. In foreign countries, our products ase aubject to extensive regulation by foreign goreents. These government regulations will
be a significant factor in the production and ménrgof any pharmaceutical products that we deveft@plure to comply with applicable FC
and other regulatory requirements at any stageduhie regulatory process may subject us to sarg;tincluding:

. delays;
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. warning letters

. fines;

. product recalls or seizure

. injunctions;

. penalties

. refusal of the FDA to review pending market appt@gplications or supplements to approval applicet]
. total or partial suspension of productic

. civil penalties;

. withdrawals of previously approved marketing apgiicns; anc

. criminal prosecutions

The regulatory review and approval processrigthy, expensive and uncertain. Before obtainggyilatory approvals for the commercial
sale of any products, we or our partners must dsinate that our product candidates are safe ardtefé for use in humans. The approval
process takes many years, substantial expenseberiagurred and significant time may be devoteditacal development.

Before testing potential candidates in humamscarry out laboratory and animal studies tomeitge safety and biological activity. After
completing preclinical trials, we must file an IND¢luding a proposal to begin clinical trials, wihe FDA. We have filed thirteen INDs to
date and plan to file, or rely on future partner§ile, additional INDs in the future as our poiehtirug candidates advance to that stage of
development. Thirty days after filing an IND, a Bea human clinical trial can start, unless the Riddces a hold on the study.

Our Phase | trials are designed to deternafetysin a small group of patients or healthy vodens. We also assess tolerances and the
metabolic and pharmacologic actions of our drugliates at different doses. After we complete tiai trials, we conduct Phase |l trials
assess safety and efficacy and establish the dpdiosa in patients. If Phase Il trials are sucagésgfe or our partners conduct Phase lll trials
to verify the results in a larger patient populatiBhase I trials are required for FDA approwahtarket a drug. A Phase Il trial may require
hundreds or even thousands of patients and is tist expensive to conduct. The goal in Phase tb ollect enough safety and efficacy data
to obtain FDA approval of a drug for treatment gfaaticular disease. For some clinical indicatitveg are especially serious and for which
there are no effective treatments, such as refracemcers, conditional approval can be obtainddviing Phase 1l trials.

Initiation and completion of the clinical trjghases are dependent on several factors incluldings that are beyond our control. For
example, the clinical trials cannot begin at aipatar site until that site receives approval frissinstitutional Review Board (“IRB”), which
reviews the protocol and related documents. Thosgss can take from several weeks to several mdnthsldition, clinical trials are
dependent on patient enrollment, but the rate ahwbatients enroll in the study depends on:

. willingness of investigators to participate in adst;

. ability of clinical sites to obtain approval froinetir IRB;

. the availability of the required number of eligilsigbjects to be enrolled in a given tri
. the availability of existing or other experimendaligs for the disease we intend to tr

. the willingness of patients to participate; ¢
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. the patients meeting the eligibility criter
Delays in planned patient enrollment may reisuincreased expense and longer developmentitieel

After completion of the clinical trials of aquluct, we or our partners must submit a NDA toRB&\ for marketing approval before
commercialization of the product. The FDA may niarg approval on a timely basis, if at all. The F24& a result of the Food and Drug
Administration Modernization Act of 1997, has sixmnths to review and act upon license applicationgfiority therapeutics that are for life-
threatening or unmet medical needs. Standard revien take between one and two years, and cantaketonger if significant questions
arise during the review process. The FDA may wilkdany required approvals, once obtained.

In addition to clinical development regulatiome and our contract manufacturers and partnass comply with the applicable FDA
current good manufacturing practice (‘GMP”) regidas. GMP regulations include requirements relatimguality control and quality
assurance as well as the corresponding mainteredimeeords and documentation. Manufacturing faesitare subject to inspection by the
FDA. Such facilities must be approved before we usathem in commercial manufacturing of our péééproducts. We or our contract
manufacturers may not be able to comply with thaieable GMP requirements and other FDA regulateguirements. If we or our contract
manufacturers fail to comply, our business, finahcondition and results of operations will be mialy adversely affected.

Human Resources

As of February 20, 2009, we had 80 employekahom 59 were engaged in research and developameh21 were in general and
administrative functions. Our research and devebmmnstaff, 22 of whom hold Ph.D. or M.D. degreeséndiversified experience in
biochemistry, pharmacology, X-ray crystallograpsynthetic organic chemistry, computational chemjsind medicinal chemistry, clinical
development and regulatory affairs. We considerrelations with our employees to be satisfactory.

Financial Information

For information related to our revenues, pgspfiet loss and total assets, in addition to dihancial information, please refer to the
Financial Statement and Notes to Financial Statésmmtained in this Annual Report.

Available Information

We have available a website on the Internat.a@dress is www.biocryst.com. We make availdbée, of charge, at our website our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports omi10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendsnerthose reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) offlehange Act as soon as reasonably practicaldeaé electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We also make aafalié at our website copies of our audit committesrter, compensation committee charter,
corporate governance and nominating committee ehartd our code of business conduct, which apfdiei employees of BioCryst as well
as the members of our Board of Directors. Any ameamtt to, or waiver from, our code of business cahélill be posted on our website.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our stock involves a high degfa&sk. You should consider carefully the followitgks, along with all of the other
information included in our other filings with tigecurities and Exchange Commission, before dectdibgy our common stock. Additional
risks and uncertainties not currently known to ushat we currently deem to be immaterial may afspair our business operations. If we
are unable to prevent events that have a negatfeetdrom occurring, then our business may suffiegative events are likely to decrease
our revenue, increase our costs, make our finaneisiilts poorer and/or decrease our financial sg#émn and may cause our stock price to
decline. In that case, you may lose all or a pdya@ur investment in our common stock.

Risks Relating to Our Business
We have incurred substantial losses since our inception in 1986, expect to continue to incur such losses, and may never be profitable.

Since our inception in 1986, we have not h@efitable. We expect to incur additional lossestfe foreseeable future, and our losses
could increase as our research and developmemtseffmgress. To become profitable, we must subdissanufacture and develop drug
product candidates, receive regulatory approval ,sarccessfully commercialize or enter into profigedgreements with other parties. It could
be several years, if ever, before we receive rimgftom any current or future license agreements\enues directly from product sales.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertaiatsociated with developing our product candidatelstheir potential for
commercialization, we are unable to predict themixof any future losses. Even if we do achievditatality, we may not be able to sustair
increase profitability on a quarterly or annualibal we are unable to achieve and sustain piuifity, the market value of our common stock
will likely decline.

Our success depends upon our ability to advance our products through the various stages of development, especially through the clinical
trial process.

To receive the regulatory approvals necesgairthe sale of our product candidates, we or @uingrs must demonstrate through
preclinical studies and clinical trials that eacbduct candidate is safe and effective. The clirtital process is complex and uncertain.
Because of the cost and duration of clinical trimle may decide to discontinue development of pcodandidates that are unlikely to show
good results in the trials, unlikely to help advaacproduct to the point of a meaningful collaborgtor unlikely to have a reasonable
commercial potential. We may suffer significantosetks in pivotal clinical trials, even after earlgdinical trials show promising results.
Clinical trials may not be adequately designedxaceted, which could affect the potential outcomé analysis of study results. Any of our
product candidates may produce undesirable sigetsfin humans. These side effects could causeraglatory authorities to interrupt,
delay or halt clinical trials of a product candielathese side effects could also result in the BDforeign regulatory authorities refusing to
approve the product candidate for any targetecta@idins. We, our partners, the FDA or foreign ratprly authorities may suspend or
terminate clinical trials at any time if we or thieglieve the trial participants face unacceptaklgth risks. Clinical trials may fail to
demonstrate that our product candidates are safffemtive and have acceptable commercial viability

Our ability to successfully complete clini¢als is dependent upon many factors, includingrim limited to:
. our ability to find suitable clinical sites and estigators to enroll patient

. the availability of and willingness of patientsgarticipate in our clinical trials

. difficulty in maintaining contact with patients psovide complete data after treatme

. our product candidates may not prove to be eitafer ar effective

. clinical protocols or study procedures may not thecmately designed or followed by the investigat

. manufacturing or quality problems could affect su@ply of drug product for our trials; a

. delays or changes in requirements by governmegealaes
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Clinical trials are lengthy and expensive. Weur partners incur substantial expense for,dewbte significant time to, preclinical testing
and clinical trials, yet cannot be certain thattdsts and trials will ever result in the commdrsade of a product. For example, clinical trials
require adequate supplies of drug and sufficietiepaienrollment. Delays in patient enrollment casult in increased costs and longer
development times. Even if we or our partners ssgfodly complete clinical trials for our productnthdates, we or our partners might not file
the required regulatory submissions in a timely nesrand may not receive regulatory approval forpteeluct candidate.

Our later stage clinical trials may not adequately show our drugs are safe or effective.

Progression of our drug products through timécal development process is dependent uponrals tindicating our drugs have adequate
safety profiles and show positive therapeutic affét the patients being treated by achieving pefinined endpoints according to the trial
protocols. Failure to achieve either of these coelt in delays in our trials or even require pleeformance of additional unplanned trials.
This could result in delays in the developmentwf drug candidates and could result in signifiaamgxpected costs.

If we fail to obtain additional financing, we may be unable to complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates
or continue our research and development programs.

As our clinical programs continue to grow goradient enrollment increases, our costs will insee®ur current and planned clinical trials
plus the related development, manufacturing, regofaapproval process requirements, and additipaegonnel resources and testing requ
for supporting the development of our drug candigatill consume significant capital resources. &yrenses, revenues and burn rate could
vary significantly depending on many factors, imtthg our ability to raise additional capital, thevelopment progress of our collaborative
agreements for our drug candidates, the amountrafifig we receive from HHS for peramivir, the amioffunding or assistance, if any, we
receive from other governmental agencies or other partnerships with third parties for the develepirof our drug candidates, the progress
and results of our current and proposed clinig¢algtifor our most advanced drug products, the gsgmade in the manufacturing of our lead
products and the progression of our other programs.

We expect that we will be required to raisditinal capital to complete the development anahimercialization of our current product
candidates. Additional funding, whether throughitidial sales of securities or collaborative orestarrangements with corporate partners or
from other sources, including governmental agenamegeneral and from the HHS contract specifigaiihay not be available when needed or
on terms acceptable to us. The issuance of préferreommon stock or convertible securities, wéints and prices significantly more
favorable than those of the currently outstandimmimon stock, could have the effect of diluting dversely affecting the holdings or rights
of our existing stockholders. In addition, collasiire arrangements may require us to transferioamaterial rights to such corporate
partners. Insufficient funds may require us to geszale-back or eliminate certain of our researmth development programs.

If HHS were to eliminate, reduce or delay funding from our contract or dispute some of our incurred costs, this would have a significant
negative impact on our revenues, cash flows and the development of peramivir.

Our projections of revenues and incoming dhsiis are substantially dependent upon HHS reirmdiaent for the costs related to our
peramivir program. If HHS were to eliminate, reducalelay the funding for this program or disallseme of our incurred costs, we would
have to obtain additional funding for developmeinthis drug candidate or significantly reduce apsthe development effort.

For example, in January 2008, we announceddheadevelopment plan for peramivir had changetithat we would no longer pursue the
Phase Il i.m. program in peramivir for the curreftuenza season, but would move forward in evithgahigher doses than used in previous
studies. Also in January, we announced that thgraro would cost in excess of the $102.6 milliontcact and that any funding above the
$102.6 million may be the responsibility of the Guany. Since then, HHS and the Company have beekingan collaboration through
various contract modifications to maximize resoarog stopping work on some projects (e.g. the PHhsm. program) and capping
expenditures on other projects in order to maximé&maining funds. HHS and the Company executedhraxt modification that fully funds
the Company through the completion of both the phbstudies in
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outpatients treated with intramuscular peramivie, phase 1l study in hospitalized patients withameénous peramivir, and certain
manufacturing and toxicology components of the paog The modification also allows the Company amtBHo agree on additional
development activities for peramivir within the éomed $102.6 million funding. All temporary resimés, effected through a stop work orc
have now been removed. Following completion ofghase Il studies, the Company expects to contimeieialogue with HHS regarding
additional funding beyond the $102.6 million forgeivir development through U.S. licensure. Thegioal contract of $102.6 million and
the four year term remain unchanged. In July 2608S indicated that it does not intend to reimbursall of the costs incurred related to the
terminated Phase Il studies. We continue to pursimbursement of these costs. During the secoadejuof 2008, we recorded a

$4.9 million reserve against revenue for amountpregiously expected to receive from HHS relatethocosts incurred in this program.
Approximately $4.6 million of the reserve relategeévenues recognized in the first quarter of 20@8le approximately $0.3 million of the
reserve relates to revenues recognized in 2007.

In contracting with HHS, we are subject toieas U.S. government contract requirements, includjeneral clauses for a cost-
reimbursement research and development contraathwamay limit our reimbursement or if we are founde in violation could result in
contract termination. U.S. government contracticglfy contain unfavorable termination provisionslaare subject to audit and modification
by the government at its sole discretion. The lgdvernment may terminate its contract with us eifbeits convenience or if we default by
failing to perform in accordance with the contrachedule and terms, which would have a signifioagiative impact on our cash flows and
operations.

Our contract with HHS has special contracting requirements, which create additional risks of reduction or loss of funding.

We have entered into a contract with HHS fier advanced development of our neuraminidase tohjlgeramivir. In contracting with
HHS, we are subject to various U.S. governmentrashtequirements, including general clauses fsi-reimbursement research and
development contract. U.S. government contractedyly contain unfavorable termination provisionmslare subject to audit and
modification by the government at its sole disemretiwhich subjects us to additional risks. Thesksrinclude the ability of the U.S.
government to unilaterally:

. terminate or reduce the scope of our contract;
. audit and object to our contr-related costs and fees, including allocated intlicests.

The U.S. government may terminate its contnatit us either for its convenience or if we defday failing to perform in accordance with
the contract schedule and terms. Termination fawvenience provisions generally enable us to recombBrour costs incurred or committed,
and settlement expenses and profit on the work tetagbprior to termination. Termination for defaptbvisions does not permit these
recoveries.

As a U.S. government contractor, we are regutio comply with applicable laws, regulations atahdards relating to our accounting
practices and are subject to periodic audits avidwes. As part of any such audit or review, the \g&/ernment may review the adequacy of,
and our compliance with, our internal control sgséeand policies, including those relating to ourcpasing, property, estimating,
compensation and management information systensedan the results of its audits, the U.S. goventmmy adjust our contract-related
costs and fees, including allocated indirect cdastaddition, if an audit or review uncovers anynwoper or illegal activity, we may be subject
to civil and criminal penalties and administratsanctions, including termination of our contraésfeiture of profits, suspension of
payments, fines and suspension or prohibition fdmimg business with the U.S. government. We colsd suffer serious harm to our
reputation if allegations of impropriety were madginst us. In addition, under U.S. governmenthmsing regulations, some of our costs
may not be reimbursable or allowed under our cetdrdurther, as a U.S. government contractor, r&eabject to an increased risk of
investigations, criminal prosecution, civil frawdhistleblower lawsuits and other legal actions kaoilities as compared to private sector
commercial companies.
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If we fail to successfully commercialize or establish collaborative relationships to commercialize certain of our drug product candidates or
if any partner terminates or fails to perform its obligations under agreementswith us, potential revenues from commercialization of our
product candidates could be reduced, delayed or eliminated.

Our business strategy is to increase the aatigt of our drug candidate portfolio. We beli¢his is best achieved by retaining full product
rights or through collaborative arrangements whiidt parties as appropriate. As needed, potetial party alliances could include
preclinical development, clinical development, fegary approval, marketing, sales and distributidour drug product candidates.

Currently, we have established collaboratelationships with certain pharmaceutical compariReghe (recently terminated),
Mundipharma, and both Shionogi and Green Crosthfodevelopment and commercialization of BCX-4Z08desine HCI and peramivir,
respectively. The process of establishing and impl&ing collaborative relationships is difficuline-consuming and involves significant
uncertainty, including:

. our partners may seek to renegotiate or termitate relationships with us due to unsatisfactyical results, a change in business
strategy, a change of control or other reas

. our contracts for collaborative arrangements mapjrex

. our partners may choose to pursue alternative tdabies, including those of our competitc

. we may have disputes with a partner that could teditigation or arbitration

. we do not have day to day control over the acésitf our partners and have limited control oveirttecisions

. our ability to generate future event paymentsraydlties from our partners depends upon theiitisi to establish the safety and
efficacy of our drug candidates, obtain regulatpprovals and achieve market acceptance of prodeetdoped from our drug
candidates

. we or our partners may fail to properly initiateaintain or defend our intellectual property rghtthere applicable, or a party may
utilize our proprietary information in such a wag/ta invite litigation that could jeopardize or eotially invalidate our proprietary
information or expose us to potential liabili

. our partners may not devote sufficient capitalemources towards our product candidates;
. our partners may not comply with applicable goveentregulatory requirement

If any partner fails to fulfill its responsiities in a timely manner, or at all, our commeliz@tion efforts related to that collaboration abul
be reduced, delayed or terminated, or it may begsary for us to assume responsibility for acégithat would otherwise have been the
responsibility of our partner. If we are unablesttablish and maintain collaborative relationsloipscceptable terms, we may have to delay
or discontinue further development of one or mdreus product candidates, undertake commerciabpadictivities at our own expense or
find alternative sources of funding. Any delay le tdevelopment or commercialization of our compsunduld severely affect our business,
because if our compounds do not progress througldelielopment process or reach the market in dytimanner, or at all, we may not
receive additional future event payments and magmeeceive product or royalty payments.

For example, in May 2008, we received noti Roche was exercising the “no cause” terminaimgint under the license agreement for
BCX-4208. As a result of the “no cause” terminatipnRoche, we regained worldwide rights to BCX-4208

We are currently in dispute with Mundipharmegarding the contractual obligations of the pantiéh respect to certain costs related to the
manufacturing and development of forodesine HCkwitbstanding, we do not believe that we are resjie for any of the disputed
amounts. We are engaged in ongoing discussiorstdve this dispute. The maximum potential exposongs is estimated to be
approximately $2.5 million. Because of the preliarinnature of the discussions, no amounts have &s@mned as of December 31, 2008.
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We have not commercialized any products or technologies and our future revenue generation isuncertain.

We have not commercialized any products dmrietogies, and we may never be able to do so. Wermily have no marketing capability
and no direct or third-party sales or distributeapabilities and may be unable to establish thapehilities for products we plan to
commercialize. In addition, our revenue from collediive agreements is dependent upon the statmsr gdreclinical and clinical programs. If
we fail to advance these programs to the poineaidable to enter into successful collaboratiareswill not receive any future event or ot
collaborative payments.

Our ability to receive revenue from products gammercialize presents several risks, including:
. we or our collaborators may fail to successfullynpdete clinical trials sufficient to obtain FDA nkating approval

. many competitors are more experienced and hgwéfisantly more resources and their products cdaglanore cost effective or have
a better efficacy or tolerability profile than qutoduct candidate:

. we may fail to employ a comprehensive and effecititellectual property strategy which could résuldecreased commercial value
of our company and our produc

. we may fail to employ a comprehensive and effectegulatory strategy which could result in a galafailure in commercialization
of our products

. our ability to successfully commercialize ourgwots are affected by the competitive landscapé&wtannot be fully known at this
time;

. reimbursement is constantly changing which coutshtly affect usage of our products; ¢

. any future revenue directly from product salesidaepend on our ability to successfully compldieical studies, obtain regulatory
approvals, manufacture, market and commercialigeapproved drugs

If our development collaborations with third parties, such as our development partners and contract research organizations, fail, the
development of our drug product candidates will be delayed or stopped.

We rely heavily upon other parties for manyartant stages of our drug development progranetjdimg but not limited to:

. discovery of compounds that cause or enable dicdd reactions necessary for the progressionefithease or disorder, called
enzyme target:

. licensing or design of enzyme inhibitors for deyehent as drug product candidat

. execution of some preclinical studies and-stage development for our compounds and produclidates;

. management of our clinical trials, including mediicenitoring and data manageme

. execution of additional toxicology studies that ni@yrequired to obtain approval for our productdidates; ant

. manufacturing the starting materials and drugstauize required to formulate our drug productsthadirug products to be used in
both our clinical trials and toxicology studit

Our failure to engage in successful collaborat at any one of these stages would greatly itmuarcbusiness. If we do not license enzyme
targets or inhibitors from academic institutionsrom other biotechnology companies on acceptaditad, our product development efforts
would suffer. Similarly, if the contract researalganizations that conduct our initial or latge clinical trials, conduct our toxicology se&
manufacture our starting materials, drug substandedrug products or manage our regulatory fundir@ached their obligations to us or
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perform their services inconsistent with industignslards and not in accordance with the requirgdlagions, this would delay or prevent the
development of our product candidates.

If we lose our relationship with any one ormnof these parties, we could experience a sigmifidelay in both identifying another
comparable provider and then contracting for itsises. We may be unable to retain an alternatie@iger on reasonable terms, if at all.
Even if we locate an alternative provider, it kely that this provider may need additional timedspond to our needs and may not provide
the same type or level of service as the originaviger. In addition, any provider that we retaiill Wwe subject to current Good Laboratory
Practices (“cGLP”), current Good Manufacturing Riaes (“cGMP”), or current Good Clinical PractiggsGCP”), and similar foreign
standards and we do not have control over commiavith these regulations by these providers. Caresatty, if these practices and standards
are not adhered to by these providers, the devedopand commercialization of our product candidatadd be delayed.

Our development of both intravenous and intramuscular dosing of peramivir for avian and seasonal influenza is subject to all disclosed
drug development and potential commercialization risks and numerous additional risks. Any potential revenue benefitsto usare highly
speculative.

Further development and potential commeraétn of peramivir is subject to all the risks amtertainties disclosed in our other risk
factors relating to drug development and commaeeezitibn. In addition, potential commercializatiohpgramivir is subject to further risks,
including but not limited to the following:

. the injectable versions of peramivir are curngiilPhase 1l clinical development and have bestetkin a limited number of humans
and may not be safe or effecti

. necessary government or other third party funding clinical testing for further development ofgmaivir may not be available
timely, at all, or in sufficient amount

. the avian flu prevention or treatment concerns matymaterialize at all, or in the near futu
. advances in flu vaccines could substantially replaatential demand for an antiviral such as perar
. any substantial demand for avian flu treatments otayr before peramivir can be adequately develapeldtested in clinical trial:

. injectable forms of peramivir may not prove todmeepted by patients and physicians as a treafioresgasonal influenza compared
to the other currently marketed antiviral drugsjalhwould limit revenue from nc-governmental entitie:

. numerous large and well-established pharmacéuatizhbiotech companies will be competing to mkeetrharket demand for avian
flu drugs and vaccine

. regulatory authorities may not make needed accomatiwts to accelerate the drug testing and appmealess for peramivir; ar

. in the next few years, it is expected that atlehinumber of governmental entities will be thenaiy potential customers for
peramivir and if we are not successful at markegiagamivir to these entities for any reason, wé ndt receive substantial revenues
from stockpiling orders from these entiti

If any or all of these and other risk factocgur, we will not attain significant revenues oogs margins from peramivir and our stock p
will be adversely affected.

Because we have limited manufacturing experience, we depend on third-party manufacturers to manufacture our drug product candidates
and the materials for our product candidates. If we cannot rely on third-party manufacturers, we will be required to incur significant costs
and potential delaysin finding new third-party manufacturers.

We have limited manufacturing experience amg a small scale manufacturing facility. We cuthemely upon third-party manufacturers
to manufacture the materials required for our grrafuct candidates and most of the preclinical@dimical quantities of our product
candidates. We depend on these third-party manutastto
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perform their obligations in a timely manner andatordance with applicable governmental regulati@ur third-party manufacturers may
encounter difficulties with meeting our requiremgnncluding but not limited to problems involving:

. inconsistent production yield

. product liability claims

. difficulties in scaling production to commercialcavalidation sizes

. interruption of the delivery of materials requified the manufacturing proces
. scheduling of plant time with other vendors or yrested equipment failur

. potential catastrophes that could strike theirlitées;

. potential impurities in our drug substance orgdpuoducts that could affect availability of protiémr our clinical trials or future
commercialization

. poor quality control and assurance or inadequategss controls; ar
. lack of compliance with regulations and specificas set forth by the FDA or other foreign regulatagencies

These contract manufacturers may not be ahieanufacture the materials required or our draglpet candidates at a cost or in quantities
necessary to make them commercially viable. We lads@ no control over whether third-party manufeertsibreach their agreements with us
or whether they may terminate or decline to rengre@ments with us. To date, our third party martufecs have met our manufacturing
requirements, but they may not continue to do sethEérmore, changes in the manufacturing procepsamedure, including a change in the
location where the drug is manufactured or a chafigethird-party manufacturer, may require prieview and approval in accordance with
the FDA’'s cGMPs, and comparable foreign requirementis review may be costly and time-consuming@ndd delay or prevent the
launch of a product. The FDA or similar foreign ukgory agencies at any time may also implement stawdards, or change their
interpretation and enforcement of existing stansléod manufacture, packaging or testing of produétse or our contract manufacturers are
unable to comply, we or they may be subject to legry action, civil actions or penalties.

If we are unable to enter into agreements ®attiitional manufacturers on commercially reasom#daims, or if there is poor manufactur
performance on the part of our third party manufeats, we may not be able to complete developmignr anarket, our product candidates.

Our raw materials, drug substances, and drodugts are manufactured by a limited group of §appand some at a single facility. If any
of these suppliers were unable to produce thesssjtthis could significantly impact our supply @figs for further preclinical testing and
clinical trials.

If we or our partnersdo not obtain and maintain governmental approvalsfor our products under development, we or our partnerswill not
be able to sell these potential products, which would significantly harm our business because we will receive no revenue.

We or our partners must obtain regulatory applrbefore marketing or selling our future drugducts. If we or our partners are unable to
receive regulatory approval and do not market brose future drug products, we will never receasmy revenue from such product sales. In
the United States, we or our partners must obtBiA Bpproval for each drug that we intend to comnadize. The process of preparing for
and obtaining FDA approval may be lengthy and espen and approval is never certain. Productsilisgted abroad are also subject to
foreign government regulation. Neither the FDA fareign regulatory agencies have approved any oflaug product candidates. Becaus
the risks and uncertainties in biopharmaceuticakttgment, our product candidates could take afsigntly longer time to gain regulatory
approval than we expect or may never gain apprdivile FDA delays regulatory approval of our prodoandidates, our management'’s
credibility, our company’s value and our
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operating results may suffer. Even if the FDA aefgn regulatory agencies approve a product catalittee approval may limit the indicated
uses for a product candidate and/or may requirerpasketing studies.

The FDA regulates, among other things, thenstkeeping and storage of data pertaining to gislgharmaceutical products. We
currently store most of our preclinical researctadaur clinical data and our manufacturing datauatfacility. While we do store duplicate
copies of most of our clinical data offsite andgn#icant portion of our data is included in regubackups of our systems, we could lose
important data if our facility incurs damage. If get approval to market our potential products, tivbein the United States or internatione
we will continue to be subject to extensive requiatrequirements. These requirements are wide mgraid govern, among other things:

. adverse drug experience reporting regulati

. product promaotion

. product manufacturing, including good manufactuingctice requirements; al
. product changes or modificatior

Our failure to comply with existing or futuregulatory requirements, or our loss of, or changepreviously obtained approvals, could
have a material adverse effect on our businesaibeaae will not receive product or royalty reveniiege or our partners do not receive
approval of our products for marketing.

In June 1995, we natified the FDA that we siited incorrect data for our Phase Il studies ofXB&! applied to the skin for CTCL and
psoriasis. In November 1995, the FDA issued adfishspectional Observations, Form FDA 483, whiitha: our failure to follow good
clinical practices. The FDA also inspected us ineJi996. The focus was on the two 1995 Phase #-dorgging studies of topical BC34 for
the treatment of CTCL and psoriasis. As a resulhefinvestigation, the FDA issued us a Form FDA&,4ghich cited our failure to follow
good clinical practices. We are no longer develg@BCX-34; however, as a consequence of these twastigations, our ongoing and future
clinical studies may receive increased scrutinyictvimay delay the regulatory review process.

We face intense competition, and if we are unable to compete effectively, the demand for our products, if any, may be reduced.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industaie highly competitive and subject to rapid amastantial technological change. We face,
and will continue to face, competition in the lisérg of desirable disease targets, licensing afalgle drug product candidates, and
development and marketing of our product candidimtas academic institutions, government agenciesgarch institutions and
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. Cotretinay also arise from, among other things:

. other drug development technologi

. methods of preventing or reducing the incidencdisdéase, including vaccines; a

. new small molecule or other classes of therapaggamts

Developments by others may render our prodactidates or technologies obsolete or noncompetiti

We and our partners are performing researabr @ieveloping products for the treatment of sewisorders including T-cell mediated
disorders (T-cell cancers, transplant rejectionfipsis and other autoimmune indications), oncolagjuenza, and hepatitis C. We expect to
encounter significant competition for any of theaphaceutical products we plan to develop. Compahggscomplete clinical trials, obtain
required regulatory approvals and commence comalesales of their products before their competitbey achieve a significant competiti
advantage. Such is the case with Eisai's Targfeti€TCL and the current neuraminidase inhibitoerketed by Glaxo Smith Kline and
Roche for influenza. In addition, several pharm#écatand biotechnology
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firms, including major pharmaceutical companies specialized structurkased drug design companies, have announced effdhts field o
structure-based drug design and in the fields d? ANfluenza, hepatitis C, and in other therapeatias where we have discovery efforts
ongoing. If one or more of our competitors’ product programs are successful, the market for caofiymts may be reduced or eliminated.

Compared to us, many of our competitors artdriml competitors have substantially greater:
. capital resource

. research and development resources, including peetand technolog)

. regulatory experienct

. preclinical study and clinical testing experien

. manufacturing and marketing experience;

. production facilities

Any of these competitive factors could reddeenand for our products.

If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights or securerightsto patents of others, the value of those rights
would diminish.

Our success will depend in part on our abdityl the abilities of our partners to obtain, protnd enforce viable intellectual property
rights including but not limited to trade namegdeanark and patent protection for our company tdrbducts, methods, processes and othe
technologies we may license or develop, to presewwdrade secrets, and to operate without infrigghe proprietary rights of third parties
both domestically and abroad. The patent positidsiaiechnology and pharmaceutical companies i®galy highly uncertain, involves
complex legal and factual questions and has rgcbetin the subject of much litigation. Neither thated States Patent and Trademark
Office (“"USPTQ"), the Patent Cooperation Treatyiadb, nor the courts of the United States and qgthiesdictions have consistent policies
nor predictable rulings regarding the breadth afat allowed or the degree of protection affordedexr many biotechnology and
pharmaceutical patents. The validity, scope, eefbdity and commercial value of these rights, ¢f@re, is highly uncertain.

Our success depends in part on avoiding thi@gement of other parties’ patents and otherlietéual property rights as well as avoiding
the breach of any licenses relating to our tectgieband products. In the U.S., patent applicatiibed in recent years are confidential for
18 months, while older applications are not pulgishntil the patent issues. As a result, avoidatgmt infringement may be difficult and we
may inadvertently infringe third-party patents ooprietary rights. These third parties could briatgjms against us, our partners or our
licensors that even if resolved in our favor, cotadise us to incur substantial expenses and dfvex$ against us, could additionally cause us
to pay substantial damages. Further, if a patérnib@ement suit were brought against us, our pastoe our licensors, we or they could be
forced to stop or delay research, development, faaturing or sales of any infringing product in #@untry or countries covered by the
patent we infringe, unless we can obtain a licéraa the patent holder. Such a license may notbédable on acceptable terms, or at all,
particularly if the third party is developing or rkating a product competitive with the infringingopuct. Even if we, our partners or our
licensors were able to obtain a license, the righag be nonexclusive, which would give our competitaccess to the same intellectual
property.

If we or our partners are unable or fail tequiately, initiate, protect, defend or enforce iatellectual property rights in any area of
commercial interest or in any part of the world weheve wish to seek regulatory approval for our piaig, methods, processes and other
technologies, the value of the drug product cand&lto produce revenue would diminish. Additionaifiyour products, methods, processes,
and other technologies or our commercial use df puoducts, processes, and other technologiesidimg but not limited to any tradename,
trademark or commercial strategy infringe the pietpry rights of other parties, we could incur gahsal costs. The USPTO and the patent
offices of other jurisdictions have issued to usianber of patents for our various

28




Table of Contents

inventions and we have Iicensed several patents from various institutidfe. have filed additional patent applications ara/sional pater
applications with the USPTO. We have filed a nundfarorresponding foreign patent applications amdrid to file additional foreign and
U.S. patent applications, as appropriate. We hisgefed certain trademark and tradename appboativorldwide. We cannot assure you as
to:

. the degree and range of protection any patentsaffidtd against competitors with similar produc
. if and when patents will issu

. if patents do issue we can not be sure that Wéeviable to adequately defend such patents amth&hor not we will be able to
adequately enforce such patents

. whether or not others will obtain patents claimaggpects similar to those covered by our patenicgifuns.

If the USPTO or other foreign patent officéhofals patents issued to others or if the USPTOtgnaatent applications filed by others, we
may have to:

. obtain licenses or redesign our products or preasegsavoid infringemen
. stop using the subject matter claimed in thosenpsiter
. pay damage:

We may initiate, or others may bring agairsstliigation or administrative proceedings relatedntellectual property rights, including
proceedings before the USPTO or other foreign paifice. Any judgment adverse to us in any litigator other proceeding arising in
connection with a patent or patent application douhaterially and adversely affect our businessfaial condition and results of operations.
In addition, the costs of any such proceeding nmeagubstantial whether or not we are successful.

Our success is also dependent upon the dkiltsyledge and experience, none of which is pabdataf our scientific and technical
personnel. To help protect our rights, we requlireraployees, consultants, advisors and partneester into confidentiality agreements that
prohibit the disclosure of confidential informatitmanyone outside of our company and require assgk and assignment to us of their ideas,
developments, discoveries and inventions. Thesseaggnts may not provide adequate protection fotrade secrets, know-how or other
proprietary information in the event of any unautbed use or disclosure or the lawful developmegnotiners of such information, and if any
of our proprietary information is disclosed, ousimess will suffer because our revenues depend apoability to license or commercialize
our product candidates and any such events wogitdfigiantly impair the value of such product caradas.

Thereisa substantial risk of product liability claimsin our business. If we are unableto obtain sufficient insurance, a product liability
claim against us could adversely affect our business.

We face an inherent risk of product liabikyposure related to the testing of our product ickrtes in human clinical trials and will face
even greater risks upon any commercialization bgfumir product candidates. We have product ligbitisurance covering our clinical trials
in the amount of $11 million. Clinical trial andqutuct liability insurance is becoming increasingipensive. As a result, we may be unab
obtain sufficient insurance or increase our exgstinverage at a reasonable cost to protect ussidagses that could have a material adverse
effect on our business. An individual may bringraduct liability claim against us if one of our piects or product candidates causes, or is
claimed to have caused, an injury or is found taitsuitable for consumer use. Any product liabititgim brought against us, with or without
merit, could result in:

. liabilities that substantially exceed our prodiimility insurance, which we would then be reguiito pay from other sources, if
available;

. an increase of our product liability insuranceeseor the inability to maintain insurance coveragthe future on acceptable terms, or
at all;
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. withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers or patien
. damage to our reputation and the reputation opooducts, resulting in lower sale
. regulatory investigations that could require costigalls or product modification
. litigation costs; ani
. the diversion of managem''s attention from managing our busine
If our facility incurs damage or power islost for a significant length of time, our business will suffer.

We currently store numerous clinical and ditgbdamples at our facility that could be damagdezlir facility incurred physical damage or
in the event of an extended power failure. We Haakup power systems in addition to backup genexadomaintain power to all critical
functions, but any loss of these samples couldtressignificant delays in our drug developmenbgess.

In addition, we currently store most of ouegmical and clinical data at our facility. Dupdie copies of most critical data are stored off-
site in a bank vault. Any significant degradatiarfailure of our computer systems could cause usaocurately calculate or lose our data.
Loss of data could result in significant delay®imr drug development process and any system failbwid harm our business and operations.

If we fail to retain our existing key personnel or fail to attract and retain additional key personnel, the development of our drug product
candidates and the expansion of our business will be delayed or stopped.

We are highly dependent upon our senior managéand scientific team, the loss of whose sesvisight impede the achievement of our
development and commercial objectives. Competitiwrkey personnel with the experience that we nexjigiintense and is expected to
continue to increase. Our inability to attract aethin the required number of skilled and expegenmanagement, operational and scientific
personnel, will harm our business because we by these personnel for many critical functionswf business.

Our stock priceislikely to be highly volatile and the value of your investment could decline significantly.

The market prices for securities of bioteclgglcompanies in general have been highly volatié may continue to be highly volatile in
the future. Moreover, our stock price has fluctddtequently, and these fluctuations are oftenralaited to our financial results. For the
twelve months ended December 31, 2008, thev&@k range of the market price of our stock wamffi®.85 to $6.53 per share. The follow
factors, in addition to other risk factors desadilie this section, may have a significant impacttemarket price of our common stock:

. announcements of technological innovations or nevdycts by us or our competito

. developments or disputes concerning patents origtapy rights;

. additional dilution through sales of our commorcktor other derivative securitie

. status of new or existing licensing or collaboratagreements and government contr:

. announcements relating to the status of our progy

. we or our partners achieving or failing to achieegelopment milestone

. publicity regarding actual or potential medicaluksrelating to products under development byrusus competitors

. publicity regarding certain public health conceforswhich we are or may be developing treatme
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. regulatory developments in both the United Statekfareign countries

. public concern as to the safety of pharmaceuticzadycts;

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults;

. changes in financial estimates or recommendatigrseburities analyst:

. changes in the structure of healthcare paymenessstincluding developments in price control legisi;

. announcements by us or our competitors of sigmifiegquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint vees or capital commitmenti
. additions or departures of key personnel or memdsiessir board of director:

. purchases or sales of substantial amounts of ook $ty existing stockholders, including officersdirectors;

. economic and other external factors or other disagir crises; an

. perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial resul

If, because of our use of hazardous materials, we violate any environmental controls or regulationsthat apply to such materials, we may
incur substantial costs and expensesin our remediation efforts.

Our research and development involves therotbedtl use of hazardous materials, chemicals andusradioactive compounds. We are
subject to federal, state and local laws and reiguis governing the use, storage, handling anddedpof these materials and some waste
products. Accidental contamination or injury frone$e materials could occur. In the event of andeatj we could be liable for any damages
that result and any liabilities could exceed osoreces. Compliance with environmental laws andlegpns could require us to incur
substantial unexpected costs, which would matgréaild adversely affect our results of operations.

Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This filing contains forward-looking statemgnincluding statements regarding future resultsfgpmance or achievements. These
statements involve known and unknown risks, una#iés and other factors which may cause our actsllts, performance or achieveme
to be materially different from those expressedmplied by the forward-looking statements. Thesavird-looking statements can generally
be identified by the use of words such as “may,ill;'intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “anticipates,‘expects,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“potential,” the negative of these words or siméapressions. Statements that describe our futans pstrategies, intentions, expectations,
objectives, goals or prospects are also forwar#if@pstatements. Discussions containing these fahh@oking statements are principally
contained in “Business,” “Risk Factors” and “Managmt’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comditand Results of Operations”, as
well as any amendments we make to those sectidilmgs with the SEC. These forward-looking statsits include, but are not limited to,
statements about:

. the initiation, timing, progress and results of pteclinical testing, clinical trials, and othesearch and development effoi
. the potential funding from our contract with HHS fbe development of peramiv

. the further preclinical or clinical developmemdacommercialization of our product candidatesiuding peramivir, forodesine HCI
and other PNP inhibitor and hepatitis C developnpeograms

. the implementation of our business model, stratplgins for our business, product candidates arthtdogy;

. our ability to establish and maintain collaborasit
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plans, programs, progress and potential sucdams @ollaborations, including Mundipharma forddesine HCI and Shionogi and
Green Cross for peramivi

the scope of protection we are able to estabihmaintain for intellectual property rights caagrour product candidates and
technology;

our ability to operate our business without infiimggthe intellectual property rights of othe
estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capdalrements and our needs for additional finagnc
the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings aragbprovals

our financial performance; ar

competitive companies, technologies and our ingiu

These statements reflect our current viewh véispect to future events and we have no obligatiaipdate or revise the statements. We
caution that you should not place undue reliancthese forward-looking statements. Factors that caage actual results to differ materially
from current expectations include, among othergsinhose listed under “Risk Factors.”

You should read this discussion completely witl the understanding that our actual future itesnay be materially different from what
we expect. We may not update these forward-looktatements, even though our situation may changeeifuture. We qualify all of our
forward-looking statements by these cautionaryestants.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our administrative offices and principal resbdacilities are located in 50,150 square fedea$ed space in Riverchase
Industrial/Research Park in Birmingham, Alabamae Tdase runs through June 30, 2015 with an optisartew the lease for an additional
five years at current market rates. In addition,cugently lease 5,565 square feet of office spacgary, North Carolina through February
2010 for our clinical and regulatory operation. Yédieve that our facilities are adequate for ourent operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
None.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.

33




Table of Contents

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ GlobathkétSM under the symbol BCRX. The following table setgHdhe low and high
sales prices of our common stock as reported by Global Markett™for each quarter in 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007

Low High Low High
First quartel $2.81 $6.52 $7.8C $12.5(
Second quarte 2.5¢ 4.9¢ 6.57 10.0¢
Third quartel 2.4C 3.6( 7.2C 13.1¢
Fourth quarte .85 3.1¢ 5.6¢ 8.3¢

The last sale price of the common stock on FebrR@r®009 as reported by NASDAQ Global Markéwas $1.48 per share.

Holders

As of February 20, 2009, there were approximat&§ Rolders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid cash dividends and do not patieipaying cash dividends in the foreseeabledutur
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Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph is not “soliciting mi&k” is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not torfm®iporated by reference in any fili
by us under the Securities Act of 1933, as amelfftthed'Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act, whetheade before or after the date hereof

and irrespective of any general incorporation lagguin any such filing. The stock price performasicewn on the graph is not necessarily
indicative of future price performance.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH FOR BIOCRYST
Indexed Comparison Since 2003

50
Dec-03 Dec-4 Dec-03 Decld Dec-07 Dec08
BioCr=tPhamaceuticak . bc. ------- he Mazdag Stock Market (IUR) —ar— NazdagPhamaceutical Stocks
Beginning
Investment Investment Investment Investment Investment Investment
12/31/03 at 12/31/04 at 12/31/05 at 12/31/06 at 12/31/07 at 12/31/08
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Ir $100.0( $ 84.3¢ $244.5; $168.7¢ $ 90.2: $ 20.0C
The NASDAQ Stock Marke 100.0( 108.8¢ 111.1¢ 122.1: 132.4: 63.8(
NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stoc 100.0( 106.5: 117.2¢ 114.8: 120.7: 112.3¢

The above graph measures the change in aift@tment in the Company’s common stock basedsoriasing price of $6.85 on
December 31, 2003 and its year-end closing prieestifter. The Company’s relative performance is tempared with the CRSP Total
Return Indexes for the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.W &NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Stocks.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any of our equity securdi@ing the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.
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Statement of Operations Data:

Total revenue

Research and development exper
Net loss

Amounts per common shal
Basic and diluted net loss per sh

Weighted average shares outstand

Balance Sheet Data

Cash, cash equivalents and secur
Total asset

Long-term deferred revent
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Years Ended December 31
(In thousands, except per share date

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
$ 56,56 $ 71,23¢ $ 6,212 $ 152 $ 337
73,321 94,05 47,08 23,64: 18,86¢
(24,737) (29,05%) (43,61%) (26,099 (21,109
$ (0.65) $ (0.89 $ (150 $ (1.0 $ (1.00)
38,06: 32,77: 29,14, 25,72 21,16¢
December 31,
(In thousands)
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
$ 63,31 $ 85,00¢ $ 46,23¢ $ 59,98¢ $ 28,70«
84,69: 142,71 68,48¢ 99,24¢ 32,46¢
20,93’ 49,69¢ 36,59¢ 29,42¢ 30C
(249,26¢) (224,53() (195,48)) (151,862 (125,769
46,42¢ 64,90¢ 21,15¢ 58,44( 29,33¢

37




Table of Contents

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certaatesnents of a forward-looking nature relating ttufie events or the future financial
performance of BioCryst. Such statements are amgliptions and the actual events or results mafedihaterially from the results discuss
in the forward-looking statements. Factors thatldozause or contribute to such differences incltiaese discussed below as well as those
discussed in other filings made by BioCryst with 8ecurities and Exchange Commission.

The following Management’s Discussion and Anal{/$#D&A”) is intended to help the reader understandr results of operations and
financial condition. MD&A is provided as a suppleméo, and should be read in conjunction with, audited Financial Statements and"
accompanying notes to the financial statementsadhner disclosures included in this Annual Reporfanm 10-K (including the disclosures
under “Item 1A. Risk Factors”).

Overview
2008 Corporate Highlights

Forodesine HCI

Following the completion of a Phase I/l ctiai trial of forodesine HCI in patients with reftay CTCL, in October 2007 we initiated a
planned pivotal trial with an oral formulation arbdesine HCI for treatment of patients with CTChis trial is being conducted under an
SPA agreement negotiated with the FDA and will seas a basis for a new drug application to the EBiAg the oral formulations in patients
with relapsed CTCL. In February 2007, we annourntbatithe Committee for Orphan Medicinal Productthef European Medicines Agency
had granted orphan drug designation to forodesikfét the treatment of CTCL. The trial continuesanroll subjects with CTCL stages 11B
through IVA who have failed three systemic therapkenroliment in the study slowed over the sumni@008 below our projections. We
have taken action to accelerate enrollment ang @atications are that these actions are havingsitipe effect. We have enrolled more than
half of the targeted 130 patients in this study waildcontinue to monitor enroliment going forward.

At the December 2007 meeting of the Americani&y of Hematology (“ASH”), Madeline Duvic, M.DRQeputy Chair, Dermatology, The
University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Centeespnted interim data from the Phase I/l clini¢atlg of oral forodesine HCI in the
treatment of subjects with refractory CTCL. The mlleresponse rate for these subjects was 39%yding 2 subjects with complete response
(6%) and 12 subjects with partial response (33%gs€E data indicated that in addition to a goodhpai®file, forodesine HCI demonstrated
clinical activity as a single oral agent in patewntth advanced refractory CTCL.

In December 2008, we announced interim data fthe ongoing forodesine HCI Phase Il programaitiemts with CLL and data from a
healthy subject pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynataity. The CLL study will continue with an amendrm® study a new dosing regim
of oral forodesine, 200 mg twice-daily. An interamalysis was conducted on data from an explor&base |l single-arm, open-label
program in patients with CLL whose previous treaitrtead failed. While this analysis showed that adipl or complete responses were
observed, five out of 13 patients administered r@@0of forodesine HCI once-daily had substantialistibns in malignant lymphocytes, and
at the time of the analysis, seven patients wél@ststudy. Forodesine HCI was generally safe aetl-tolerated at the 200 mg once-daily
dose. In a parallel, healthy subject, pharmacoldreatd pharmacodynamic study, we compared thetaffeseven days of 200 mg forodesine
HCI dosed once-daily with seven days of 200 mgdesine HCI dosed twice-daily. The study demondiratdstantially increased drug
exposure and pharmacodynamic effect in subjectsrastered forodesine HCI 200 mg twice-daily. Drugpesure, as measured by area under
the (plasma-concentration/time) curve (“AUC"), inased by 63 percent (P<0.001) for twice-daily dpsiompared to once-daily dosing.
Serum uric acid levels were reduced at steady statpared to baseline by 50.0 percent for twicérabising compared to 23.5 percent for
once-daily dosing (p<0.001), indicating increas&tPRenzyme inhibition with twice-daily dosing.
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In January 2007, we initiated a Phase IIb iveriter, open-label, non-randomized repeat-dosstration study to evaluate an intravenous
treatment of forodesine HCI followed by an orabtraent of forodesine HCI in patients with relapsedefractory T-ALL. This study was
being conducted under an SPA negotiated with th& Bl was designed to determine the rate of compérhission achieved with
forodesine HCI. In March 2007, we announced that eessult of a stability issue with the i.v. forratibn, that we were voluntarily placing tl
Phase llb clinical trial on hold pending internaview and discussions with the our partner, Mundipia. In December 2007, we announced
the formal termination of this study.

Peramivir

In January 2007, we announced that HHS haddrdehe Company a $102.6 million, four-year caritfar the advanced development of
peramivir. In January 2008, we announced that éveldpment plan for peramivir had changed andwieatvould no longer pursue the Phase
[l i.m. program in peramivir for the current influza season, but would move forward in evaluatighdr doses than used in previous
studies. Also in January, we announced that thgram would cost in excess of the $102.6 milliontcaet and that any funding above the
$102.6 million may be the responsibility of the Gmany. Since then, HHS and the Company have beekivgan collaboration through
various contract modifications to maximize resoarog stopping work on some projects (e.g. the PHhsm. program) and capping
expenditures on other projects in order to maximéreaining funds. HHS and the Company executechraxt modification that fully funds
the Company through the completion of both the phstudies in outpatients treated with intramuacperamivir, the phase Il study in
hospitalized patients with intravenous peramivird @ertain manufacturing and toxicology componefitsie program. The modification also
allows the Company and HHS to agree on additioeaébpment activities for peramivir within the confed $102.6 million funding. All
temporary restraints, effected through a stop veoder, have now been removed. Following completibthe phase Il studies, we expect to
continue the dialogue with HHS regarding additidinalding beyond the $102.6 million for peramivirvé®pment through U.S. licensure.
The original contract of $102.6 million and the fgear term remain unchanged.

In addition to the contract with HHS, in Fedny 2007, we established a collaborative relatigmafith Shionogi for the development and
commercialization of peramivir in Japan. We recdiaa upfront payment of $14 million and the agresinpeovided for additional future
clinical event milestone payments of up to $21iomill Shionogi recently completed a Phase |l studptoavenous (i.v.) peramivir
administered via a single dose infusion in the atigmt setting for treatment of seasonal influefizas trial met its primary endpoint of
improvement in the median time to alleviation ofrptoms in subjects with confirmed, acute, unconapéd influenza infection, compared to
placebo alone. Time to alleviation of symptoms @& hours for placebo, 59.1 hours for 300 mg paranand 59.9 hours for 600 mg
peramivir. This result was highly statistically sificant (p=0.0046) for both the 300 mg dose (p8@&) and the 600 mg dose. Further, safety
assessments confirmed that i.v. peramivir was gdlgesafe and well-tolerated. Shionogi presenteddaita at the recent Interscience
Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemothei@@®RAC)/ Infectious Diseases Society of AmericRBHA) annual meeting in
Washington, D.C. Based on the results from thissBhbstudy, Shionogi has initiated a Phase lligpaon with i.v. peramivir in the outpatient
setting. The Phase Ill study is a 1,050 subjeatysand would typically require two seasons to catenlin the event of a very strong flu
season it is possible to complete a study of tligmitude in one flu season. Although it has bestmang flu season in Asia, it is not clear at
this time if Shionogi will finish in one seasontaro. It is our understanding that Shionogi plansdmplete its studies within this influenza
season. In October 2008, the Company and Shiomegnded the license agreement to expand the tgriitdhe agreement to include Taiw
and to provide rights for Shionogi to perform a &hél clinical trial in Hong Kong.

Intramuscular peramivirWe completed a double-blind placebo-controlled Bhbslinical trial with i.m. peramivir testing twdifferent
dose levels of peramivir (150 mg and 300 mg) vepasebo in adults with acute uncomplicated infzeer\While the trial did not demonstrate
statistically significant differences for its prinyaendpoint of time to alleviation of symptoms, treliminary analysis of the virologic data
indicated that peramivir demonstrated statisticsidpnificant reductions in influenza virus sheddindoth peramivir treatment groups
compared to placebo, with greater reductions irBd&mg dose group. With this information and thditional pharmacokinetic information
we have obtained subsequent to the trial, we taifi@ Phase Il placebo-controlled trial of 600 mg peramivir for the treatment of seasonal
influenza. This trial uses a new, more concentra@img/ml formulation of peramivir. This trial @going in the Northern Hemisphere and
we expect results sometime in the second quart20@9.
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Intravenous peramivim July 2007, we announced the initiation of a Rhaglinical trial of i.v. peramivir to comparedtefficacy and
safety of i.v. peramivir to orally administered tamivir in patients who require hospitalizationedio acute influenza.

The primary objective of the study was to ea# time to clinical stability, which is a compeséndpoint comprised of normalization of
temperature, oxygen saturation, respiratory rgsptic blood pressure and heart rate. This typenalpoint has previously been used in
pneumonia studies, but not in influenza. Secondhjgctives of the study included evaluation of Mafaedding, mortality, clinical relapse and
time to resumption of usual activities.

The multicenter, randomized, double-blind, llleedummy, active-controlled, Phase 1l Study el 37 patients, who tested positive by
rapid antigen test (RAT) for influenza and had onenore criteria for hospitalization, namely: agéGyears, chronic lung disease, conge:
heart failure, diabetes mellitus, low oxygen sdiara low blood pressure, or severity of illnesguiing supportive care. Of the 137 patients
randomized, 122 age 19 to 101 years had influeazéirmed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing were included in the intent-to-
treat infected (ITTI) patient population; 41 pateneceived oseltamivir 75 mg orally twice-dailyl, gatients received 200 mg i.v. peramivir
once-daily and 40 patients received 400 mg i.vapérir once-daily. As reported in October 2008 réheere no statistically significant
differences in any of the efficacy endpoints betwte three treatment arms, and peramivir was géineiafe and weltolerated at those do
levels. Evaluation of time to clinical stabilithe primary endpoint, showed a median of 23.7 hfmrperamivir 200mg, 37.0 hours for
peramivir 400 mg and 28.1 hours for oseltamivir.g®6). This exploratory endpoint was driven by heon of fever. Viral shedding (time
weighted change from baseline in viral titer) waduced by a median of -2.0 logs for peramivir 2008dL logs for peramivir 400mg, and -
1.9 logs for oseltamivir (p=.908). There was no tality in the primary efficacy population, and teavere no clinical relapses. Patients were
discharged from the hospital after a median ofdés for peramivir 200 mg, 3,8 days for peramidi®4ng, and 4.0 days for oseltamivir
(p=0.994). The median number of days requireddsumption of usual activities was 8.8 days for peva 200 mg, 9.0 days for peramivir
400 mg, and 13.7 days for oseltamivir (p=0.276) Tompany presented the results at the XI InternatiSymposium on Respiratory Viral
Infection being held in Bangkok, Thailand in Febyua009.

BCX-4208/R3421

During the third quarter of 2007, we annountted Roche had initiated a Phase lla clinical tdaevaluate oral doses of BCX08/R3421
in patients with moderate to severe plaque psaridsie efficacy assessment of the study has beepleted. Consistent with interim findin
reported by the Company in May 2008, the Phasknilcal study of BCX-4208, a potent, rationally dgsed, orally available PNP inhibitor,
met its primary objectives of safety and tolerapilin addition, BCX-4208 displayed dose-dependeductions in peripheral blood
lymphocyte counts, including subsets measuringlB ¢€D20), total T cells (CD3), T helper cells (&Dand T suppressor/cytotoxic cells
(CD8). Further, plasma levels of BCX-4208 increasit dose, and plasma uric acid levels showed-tlels¢ed reductions with BCX-4208.
In addition, consistent with interim results praysty reported by the Company, no evidence of dihitficacy, a secondary objective, was
observed in psoriasis patients with doses and idaraf administration tested.

In the Phase lla trial, BCX-4208 was generadife and well-tolerated at doses up to 120 my dailsix (6) weeks. Most adverse events
reported were considered mild or moderate, androfrequency. No opportunistic infections were alose. In addition, detailed laboratory
and clinical monitoring did not indicate any pattesuggestive of off-target adverse findings.

Also in May 2008, we announced that we reativatice that Roche was exercising the “no causefination right under the license
agreement for BCX-4208. As a result, we regaineddwmoade rights to BCX-4208.
Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared with the Ye&nded December 31, 2007

Collaborative and other research and developnmeeenues were $56.6 million for the year endeddbnber 31, 2008, compared to
$71.2 million for the year ended December 31, 200irs decrease was partially driven by a reductib$33.7 million in revenue from the
contract with HHS for the development of peramiwihich includes the establishment of a $4.9 millieserve recorded by the Company
during the second quarter of 2008 for amounts
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that were previously expected to be received frddSHelated to costs incurred in the Phase 11l mogof intramuscular (i.m.) peramivir for
outpatient influenza. The Company initiated thisgygam and voluntarily discontinued it following edision to pursue higher doses in the
ongoing Phase Il study. Reimbursement of these é@sinder discussion with HHS. Further contribgitio the decrease in collaborative and
other R&D revenues from 2007 to 2008 was the préar receipt of a $7.0 million milestone paymentirShionogi. This was offset by the
recognition of $26.5 million of previously deferreslvenue related to the termination of the Compsnyllaboration with Roche in the fourth
quarter of 2008.

Research and development expenses were $1Bdrfor the year ended December 31, 2008, comgao $94.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in R&D egpeavas due to a reduction in the clinical develapeests of $16.3 million and
toxicology costs of $1.6 million associated witle feramivir program, a reduction in manufacturiogts of $10.3 million and $6.4 million
associated with the peramivir and Forodesine HEYy@ms, respectively, and a reduction in costsrieduon the Company’s pre-clinical
compounds of $0.9 million. These reductions wefsatfby an increase in the Company’s clinical depeient costs of $2.6 million for
Forodesine HCI, the recognition of $8.2 millionpéviously deferred expense related to the ternoinatf the Company’s collaboration with
Roche, and increases of $4.2 million in personelelted costs, consulting fees, and operating costs.

General and administrative expenses were $mdlién for the year ended December 31, 2008, carag to $9.5 million for the year enc
December 31, 2007. The higher expenses were phntae to increases in professional fees and oiperabsts.

The net loss for the year ended December@®18 %vas $24.7 million, or $0.65 per share, compé#weinet loss for the year ended
December 31, 2007 of $29.1 million, or $0.89 persh

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared with the Ye&nded December 31, 2006

Collaborative and other research and developnmeeenue was $71.2 million for the year compadoe$6.2 million for 2006. The increase
for 2007 was primarily due to revenue from HHS texato our contract for the development of peramiwi addition, we received a
$7.0 million milestone payment from Shionogi in Baetber 2007 for their initiation of a Phase |l atiiitrial, and there was an increase of
$3.1 million in amortization of deferred revenuengared to 2006 on the continuing amortization efupfront payments from the Roche,
Shionogi and Mundipharma agreements. These ingéasevenue were partially offset by a decreas&ld million in reimbursement from
Mundipharma for our clinical trial costs compared006.

Research and development expenses for 2005 $@€r 1 million, a 100.0% increase from 2006 expsrg $47.1 million, primarily
attributable to the clinical and manufacturing sasttour expanded peramivir and forodesine HCI motg, increases in personnel and related
costs to support the advanced development of @@lipe, and increases in consulting and toxicoldggluded in R&D expenses for 2007 is
approximately $2.3 million of pre-contract costeedtly related to the Phase |l trials for both itheand i.m. peramivir products. These costs
were incurred during 2006 in anticipation of a cant award from HHS and were required to meet tiwery schedule of the proposed
contract. In accordance with the provisions of Fald&cquisition Regulation 31.205-32, the costseniacluded in the Company’s request for
proposal and were eligible for reimbursement froriSH The $2.3 million of costs incurred prior to tantract award date were deferred and
included in other current assets on the Comparsianze sheet at December 31, 2006. In the firsteuaf 2007, the $2.3 million in costs
were billed and expensed. Concurrently, revenuera@sgnized for these costs plus the applicabkdfiee.

General and administrative expenses for 2082 $9.5 million, an increase of 55.7% over the@2&pense of $6.1 million, primarily due
to additional compensation, which also includedranease of $1.2 million non-cash share-based cosgi®n charge related to Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised430Bhare Based PaymefiStatement No. 123R"). In addition, there was créase in
professional fees, including legal, which were jdiyt offset by an increase in costs allocated &DR

The net loss for the year ended December@®17 %vas $29.1 million, or $0.89 per share, compéveinet loss of $43.6 million, or $1.50
per share in 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
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Cash expenditures have exceeded revenuesainagception. Our operations have principallymé&emded through public offerings and
private placements of equity and debt securitiescash from collaborative and other research amdldpment agreements, including
government contracts, and to a lesser extent sttefer example, during 2008, we received cash ttollaborative and other research and
development agreements and government contradatsa(ly HHS, Mundipharma, and Shionogi,) of approzakely $52.9 million and on
August 9, 2007, we announced the closing of a $@Bll®n private placement of common stock to cierexisting stockholders. As of
December 31, 2008, we have approximately $12.0anitlue from our collaborators, primarily HHS. Otlseurces of funding have included
the following:

. other collaborative and other research and devedopagreement:
. government grants and contrac

. equipment lease financin

. facility leases

. research grants; ai

. interest income

In addition, we have attempted to contain<asid reduce cash flow requirements by rentinqusfieequipment and facilities, contracti
with other parties to conduct certain researchdeelopment and using consultants. We expect to iadditional expenses, potentially
resulting in significant losses, as we continupudcsue our research and development activitiesniske additional preclinical studies and
clinical trials of compounds which have been or haydiscovered and as we increase the manufactofiogr compounds for clinical trials
and for the continuation of the validation procé¥®. also expect to incur substantial expensesetlatthe filing, prosecution, maintenance,
defense and enforcement of patent and other intalieproperty claims and additional regulatoryts@s our clinical products advance
through later stages of development.

We invest our excess cash principally in Wn@rketable securities from a diversified portfalfanstitutions with strong credit ratings and
by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure aya@ne institution. These investments are generaltycollateralized and mature within two
years. We have not realized any significant lofses such investment

On August 7, 2007, we amended our lease focwuwent Birmingham facilities, consisting of 58Qlsquare feet, through June 30, 2015.
We have an option to renew the lease for an additifive years at the current market rate in efteclune 30, 2015. The lease requires us to
pay monthly rent currently at $40,273 per montbetember 2008 and escalates annually to a mininf#&072 per month in the final
year, plus our pro rata share of operating expemséseal estate taxes in excess of base year asnduaddition, the most recent le:
amendment provided an allowance of $300,000 foruserin making certain improvements to the premises

In August 2006, we opened an office in CargrtN Carolina for the establishment of our cliniaall regulatory operation. We currently
have 5,565 square feet under lease through Feb28aB010. This lease currently requires us to$a881 per month and escalates annually
to $8,118 per month in the final year.

During 2008, we incurred capital costs of appmnately $1.2 million, while we incurred capitalsts of approximately $3.3 million in
2007. Included in 2007 capital costs were amouwegitgad to a renovation of our facility to build &txhal laboratory space. The cost of this
expansion was partially funded by a $300,000 tealimivance in our 2007 lease amendment.

At December 31, 2008, we had Iaiegm operating lease obligations, which providedggregate minimum payments of $641,323 in 2
$575,246 in 2010, and $551,744 in 2011. These afidigs include the future rental of our operatiagilities.

We plan to finance our needs principally frtira following:
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. payments under our contract with HF

. our existing capital resources and interest eaometthat capital

. payments under collaborative and licensing agre&meith corporate partners; a
. lease or loan financing and future public or prévihancing.

In March 2007, we announced a collaborative@ment with Shionogi for rights to peramivir irpda. This agreement required an upfront
payment of $14 million that was received in ApIZ. In December 2007, we received a $7 milliorestdne payment from Shionogi for
their initiation of a Phase Il clinical trial wittw. peramivir. In October 2008, the Company ant8bgi amended the license agreement to
expand the territory covered by the agreementdindte Taiwan and to provide rights for Shionogp&sform a Phase 11l Clinical Trial in
Hong Kong. Shionogi initiated a Phase 1l studypiecember 2008.

In January 2007, we announced that HHS haddedahe Company a $102.6 million, four-year carttfar the advanced development of
peramivir. The contract is a standard cost plusdifee contract, which we expect will continue &én a significant positive impact on our
financial position and cash flow. We bill our inced costs to HHS on a monthly basis. Any signifiadelays in payment, rejection of
significant costs by HHS or cancellation of thisiract by HHS would have a significant negativeseffon our financial position. In
January 2008, we announced that the developmemf@igeramivir had changed and that we would mgés pursue the Phase Il i.m.
program in peramivir for the current influenza seadut would move forward in evaluating higherethan used in previous studies. Also
in January, we announced that the program woultlic@xcess of the $102.6 million contract and #rat funding above the $102.6 million
may be the responsibility of the Company. SincathHS and the Company have been working in cotitimn through various contract
modifications to maximize resources by stoppingkaar some projects (e.g. the Phase Il i.m. programd capping expenditures on other
projects in order to maximize remaining funds. H&ifdl the Company executed a contract modificatiabftilly funds the Company through
the completion of both the phase Il studies in atigmts treated with intramuscular peramivir, thage Il study in hospitalized patients with
intravenous peramivir, and certain manufacturing @xicology components of the program. The modifan also allows the Company and
HHS to agree on additional development activit@speramivir within the confirmed $102.6 millionrfding. All temporary restraints,
effected through a stop work order, have now beerowed. Following completion of the phase |l stadige expect to continue the dialogue
with HHS regarding additional funding beyond th@3X5 million for peramivir development through Uli8ensure. The original contract of
$102.6 million and the four year term remain undeh

In February 2006, we licensed forodesine aWundipharma for the development and commercitidinaof this drug in Europe, Asia a
Australasia. In addition to the upfront paymen$a0 million, which was received in February 2006ridipharma is paying 50% of the
clinical development costs we are incurring foiofbesine HCI on existing and planned clinical trisalst their portion shall not exceed
$10 million. In addition, Mundipharma will conduatiditional clinical trials at their own cost upaanaximum of $15 million. The agreement
also provides for future event payments and rogslid be made by Mundipharma upon the achievenfiestrin clinical, regulatory and
sales events. In January 2007, we initiated ouwtphstudy with forodesine HCI in T-cell leukemiatignts under an SPA negotiated with the
FDA, which triggered a $5 million event paymentfrélundipharma. Subsequently, in March 2007, the gamy made a decision to put this
trial on voluntary hold to investigate particulatbat were found in some batches of i.v. formulatio December 2007, we announced the
termination of our development in T-ALL with foroslae HCI. In July 2007, we announced the Compaiyrbeeived an SPA for a pivotal
trial of forodesine HCIl in CTCL patients. The triala multicenter, multinational, open-label, sexgkm, repeat dose pivotal trial which began
enrollment during October 2007. The trial continteesnroll subjects with CTCL stages 1B throughA'Who have failed three systemic
therapies. Enrollment in the study slowed oversimamer of 2008 below our projections. We have talation to accelerate enrollment and
early indications are that these actions are haxipgsitive effect. We will continue to monitor ethment going forward.

The collaboration with Roche for the worldwidievelopment and commercialization of BCX-4208 mvBimber 2005 provided an upfront
payment of $30 million, which was received in 2006May 2008, we announced that we
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received notice that Roche was exercising the ‘@ese” termination right under the license agreerf@rBCX-4208. As a result, we regair
worldwide rights to BCX-4208.

For the year, our cash, cash equivalents aréietable securities balance has decreased fror $8Bion as of December 31, 2007 to
$63.3 million as of December 31, 2008. This de@emas primarily due to cash used for operationgigily offset by reimbursement from
collaborators. As a result, our net cash burnf@t®008 was approximately $1.8 million per mont¥e caution that our revenues, our
expenses, and our cash flows will vary significafitbm quarter to quarter throughout 2009 due tortature of the trials in influenza and the
reimbursement from HHS. We are projecting our 2089cash use to be $30 to $38 million, dependemh®mchievement of certain
milestones. Our actual burn rate could vary sigaifily from the projection above depending on tfméng of Company expenses and the
related reimbursement from our collaborators.

As our clinical programs continue to prograsd patient enrollment increases, our costs willdase. Our current and planned clinical
trials plus the related development, manufactuniegulatory approval process requirements andiadditpersonnel resources and testing
required for the continuing development of our decagdidates will consume significant capital researand will increase our expenses. Our
expenses, revenues and burn rate could vary signtfy depending on many factors, including outitgttio raise additional capital, the
development progress of our collaborative agreesnfentour drug candidates, the amount and timinyioding we receive from HHS for
peramivir, the amount of funding or assistancanif, we receive from other governmental agenciesh®r new partnerships with third
parties for the development of our drug candiddtesprogress and results of our current and pexpobnical trials for our most advanced
drug products, the progress made in the manufacfwf our lead products and the progression obtluer programs.

As of December 31, 2008, we had $63.3 miliilonash, cash equivalents and marketable secuitigh our currently available funds and
the amounts to be received from HHS, Shionogi amdther collaborators, we believe these resousdiébe sufficient to fund our
operations for at least the next twelve months. el@w, this is a forward looking statement, andehmeay be changes that would consume
available resources significantly before such time.

Our long-term capital requirements and thegadey of our available funds will depend upon méaggors, including:
. our ability to perform under the contract with HIdd receive reimbursemel

. the progress and magnitude of our research, degpaery and development prograt

. changes in existing collaborative relationshipg@rernment contract

. our ability to establish additional collaboratiredationships with academic institutions, biotemlogy or pharmaceutical companies
and governmental agencies or other third par

. the extent to which our partners, including goweental agencies will share in the costs associatitdthe development of our
programs or run the development programs themse

. our ability to negotiate favorable developmerd amarketing strategic alliances for certain drugdidates; or a decision to build or
expand internal development and commercial cajiisil

. successful commercialization of marketed produgtsither us or a partne

. the scope and results of preclinical studies aimicel trials to identify and evaluate drug candéta

. our ability to engage sites and enroll subjectsunclinical trials;

. the scope of manufacturing of our drug candidaiesipport our preclinical research and clinicall$:;i

. increases in personnel and related costs to sufidevelopment of our drug candida
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. the scope of manufacturing of our drug substandedamg products required for future NDA filing
. competitive and technological advanc
. the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatapprovals; an

. the costs involved in all aspects of intellectmaperty strategy and protection including thet€asvolved in preparing, filing,
prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforciatgpt claims

We expect that we will be required to raisditinal capital to complete the development anahime@rcialization of our current product
candidates. Additional funding, whether throughitidial sales of securities or collaborative orestarrangements with corporate partners or
from other sources, including governmental agencigeneral and from the HHS contract specificaliay not be available when needed or
on terms acceptable to us. The issuance of préferreommon stock or convertible securities, wéints and prices significantly more
favorable than those of the currently outstandimmmon stock, could have the effect of diluting dversely affecting the holdings or rights
of our existing stockholders. In addition, collasiire arrangements may require us to transferioamaterial rights to such corporate
partners. Insufficient funds may require us to getzale-back or eliminate certain of our researth development programs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we do notigipate in transactions that generate relatiorshigth unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred &irastured finance or special purpose entitie®ES’), which would have been established
the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet ageaments or other contractually narrow or limitedpmses. As of December 31, 2008, we are
not involved in any material unconsolidated SPBféibalance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations

In the table below, we set forth our enfordeamnd legally binding obligations and future corments and obligations related to all
contracts that we are likely to continue regardt€fshe fact that they are cancelable as of Dece®be2008. Some of the amounts we
include in this table are based on managemeniimatss and assumptions about these obligationsidimg their duration, the possibility of
renewal, anticipated actions by third parties, atier factors. Because these estimates and assusptie necessarily subjective, the
obligations we will actually pay in future periodsy vary from those reflected in the table.

Payments due by perioc

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Operating Lease Obligatiol $ 3,738,04 $ 641,32 $1,126,99 $1,112,84 $ 856,89
Purchase Obligations ( 15,872,89 14,942,89 310,00( 310,00( 310,00(
Total $19,610,94. $15,584,21 $1,436,99 $1,422,84 $1,166,89

(1) Purchase obligations include commitmentstedldo clinical development, manufacturing and aeste operations and other significant
purchase commitment

In addition to the above, we have committethtike potential future “sublicense” payments toddparties as part of in-licensing and
development programs. Payments under these agréegearerally become due and payable only upon aement of certain developmental,
regulatory and/or commercial milestones. Becausathievement of these milestones is neither ptelrady reasonably estimable, such
contingencies have not been recorded on our bakires.

Critical Accounting Policies

We have established various accounting pdalitiat govern the application of accounting prifesmenerally accepted in the United St
which were utilized in the preparation of our fical statements. Certain accounting policies ingdignificant judgments and assumptions
by management that have a material impact on thgiog
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value of certain assets and liabilities. Managensensiders such accounting policies to be crigzalounting policies. The judgments and
assumptions used by management are based ondas®xperience and other factors, which are beliewee reasonable under the
circumstances. Because of the nature of the judtmaemd assumptions made by management, actuaisresuld differ from these judgments
and estimates, which could have a material impadhe carrying values of assets and liabilities #redresults of operations.

While our significant accounting policies anere fully described in Note 1 to our financialtstaents included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008hslieve that the following accounting policies #re most critical to aid you in fully
understanding and evaluating our reported finamemllts and affect the more significant judgmemtd estimates that we use in the
preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues have generally been limitedceenkse fees, event payments, research and develbfsmengovernment contracts, and
interest income. Revenue is recognized in accoaaiith Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 10&evenue Recognitiand Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue 00-2Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliveralff&TF Issue 00-21"). License fees, event paymeats] research and
development fees are recognized as revenue wharathigs process is complete and we have no furtivginuing performance obligations
or we have completed the performance obligatiomeuthe terms of the agreement. Fees received lindasing agreements that are related
to future performance are deferred and recognigeshened over an estimated period determined byageanent based on the terms of the
agreement and the products licensed. For exammpibeiMundipharma license agreement, we deferredpfront payment over the remain
life of the patent, which is 2017. In the evenicahse agreement contains multiple deliverablesswaduate whether the deliverables are
separate or combined units of accounting in acemaavith EITF Issue 00-21. Revisions to revenuprofit estimates as a result of changes
in the estimated revenue period are recognizecppotively.

Under the guidance of EITF Emerging IssuekFasce Issue 99-1&Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus BlenaAgenand
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 01kidome Statement Characterization of Reimburseniketeived for “Out-of-Pocket” Expensgs
reimbursements received for direct out-of-pocketemses related to research and development cestscrded as revenue in the income
statement rather than as a reduction in expensegxample, the amounts received from our collafmravith Mundipharma for the
reimbursement of clinical trial costs and the costeived from HHS for reimbursement will be reamtdis revenue in the period the related
costs were recorded.

Event payments are recognized as revenue thaachievement of specified events if (1) the eiesubstantive in nature and the
achievement of the event was not reasonably assiitbé inception of the agreement and (2) the deeson-refundable and non-creditable.
Any event payments received prior to satisfyingstheriteria are recorded as deferred revenue.

Royalty revenue is recognized based on estsnaitroyalties earned during the applicable pesiod adjusted for differences between the
estimated and actual royalties in the followingiger If royalties can not be reasonably estimatedenue is recognized upon receipt of
royalty statements from the licensee. We have ex#tived any royalties from the sale of licensedplaaeutical products.

Research and Development Expenses

In accordance with Statement of Financial Aoting Standards No. Accounting for Research and Development Costs expense
research and development costs as incurred. Britartuary 1, 2008, we also expensed nonrefunddbéee payments for goods and
services received in connection with research aveldpment activities. Effective January 1, 2008,aglopted the consensus in Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue 07A8counting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments fusdS and Services Received for Use in Future Relsear
and Development Activiti€sEITF Issue 07-3"). EITF 07-3 requires that thesgyments be deferred and recognized as an expsiise a
related goods are delivered or the related serdceperformed. We applied the new guidance tacddlance payments made during 2008 for
contracts executed after the effective date ofdbissensus.
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Research and development expenses includejgaotber items, personnel costs, including salamesbenefits, manufacturing costs,
clinical, regulatory, and toxicology services penfied by contract research organizations (“CRO'siaterials and supplies, and overhead
allocations consisting of various administrativel &acilities related costs. Most of our manufactgrand clinical and preclinical studies are
performed by third-party CRO’s. Costs for studiesfprmed by CRO’s are accrued by us over the sepériods specified in the contracts
and estimates are adjusted, if required, based apoon-going review of the level of services attyuperformed.

Additionally, we have license agreements whilhd parties, such as AECOM, IRL, and UAB, whieuguire fees related to sublicense
agreements or maintenance fees. We expense sigdipagments as incurred unless they are relatedémues that have been deferred, in
which case the expenses are deferred and recogmieedhe related revenue recognition period. Weeaze maintenance payments as
incurred.

Our accounting for deferred sublicense paymegiated to revenues that have been deferredédlan the guidance in SAB No. 104,
which states that the incremental direct costsrieclrelated to the acquisition or origination afamtract in a transaction that results in the
deferral of revenue may either be expensed asredtar accounted for in accordance with paragraphFnancial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Technical Bulletin 90-1Accounting for Separately Priced Extended Warramtgt Product Maintenance Cogt&TB 90-

1"). Sublicense payments are paid to our acadesarim@rs upon receipt of consideration from varicoimmercial partners. These deferred
expenses would not have been incurred without peogisuch payments from our commercial partnedsaae being expensed in proportion
to the related revenue being recognized. We betleatethis accounting treatment appropriately megaxpenses with the associated reve

We group our R&D expenses into two major cates: direct external expenses and all other R&peases. Direct external expenses
consist of costs of outside parties to conductratooy studies, to develop manufacturing proceasesmanufacture the product candidate, to
conduct and manage clinical trials and similar sostated to our clinical and preclinical studi€sese costs are accumulated and tracked by
program. All other R&D expenses consist of costsampensate personnel, to purchase lab suppliesamites, to maintain our facility,
equipment and overhead and similar costs of owared and development efforts. These costs applptk on our clinical and preclinical
candidates as well as our discovery research sffdhtese costs have not been charged directlyctoagram historically because the
number of product candidates and projects in rebesmd development may vary from period to period lBecause we utilize internal
resources across multiple projects at the same time

The following table summarizes our R&D expenfe the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Direct external R&D expenses by program:
PNP Inhibitor (forodesine HC $15,918,04 $19,351,78 $17,667,59
PNP Inhibitor (BC>-4208) 8,974,23i 211,92 643,60!
Neuraminidase Inhibitor (peramivi 21,473,20 50,302,01 11,352,73
Hepatitis C Polymerase Inhibit 471,82: 951,20° 1,673,48
Other 1,599,82 2,503,51 206,17t
All other R&D expenses:
Compensation and fringe bene 12,935,67 11,357,03 6,870,19.
Supplies and service 2,871,80: 1,888,55: 3,366,68:
Maintenance, depreciation, and amortiza 2,169,02 1,391,73I 975,79(
Overhead allocation and otf 6,912,99! 6,094,24. 4,327,10:
Total R&D expenses $73,326,63 $94,051,99 $47,083,37

At this time, due to the risks inherent in tiaical trial process and given the stages ofvarious product development programs, we are
unable to estimate with any certainty the costswilencur in the continued development of our dreaindidates for potential
commercialization. While we are currently focusedaolvancing each of our development programs,durd R&D expenses will depend on
the determinations we make as to the scientificdinétal success of each drug candidate, as wedingoing assessments as to each drug
candidate’s commercial potential. As such, we aable to predict how we will allocate availableaeses among our product

47




Table of Contents

development programs in the future. In addition,caenot forecast with any degree of certainty inetbpment progress of our existing
partnerships for our drug candidates, which druglictates will be subject to future collaborationken such arrangements will be secure
at all, and to what degree such arrangements wagtédt our development plans and capital requirémen

The successful development of our drug cane@lis uncertain and subject to a number of ridks cannot be certain that any of our drug
candidates will prove to be safe and effective tirmeet all of the applicable regulatory requirerteeneeded to receive and maintain
marketing approval. Data from preclinical studiad alinical trials are susceptible to varying iptetations that could delay, limit or prevent
regulatory clearance. We, the FDA, or other reguaauthorities may suspend clinical trials at #me if we or they believe that the subjects
participating in such trials are being exposedrtaaceptable risks or if such regulatory agencies dieficiencies in the conduct of the trials or
other problems with our products under developmeatays or rejections may be encountered basediditianal governmental regulation,
legislation, administrative action or changes inAR@ other regulatory policy during developmentioe review process. Other risks
associated with our product development programslascribed in Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1Ahi$ tAnnual Report on Form 10-K, as
updated from time to time in our subsequent pecioelports and current reports filed with the SEQe b these uncertainties, accurate and
meaningful estimates of the ultimate cost to barqroduct to market, the timing of completion of af our product development programs
and the period in which material net cash inflovesf any of our product development programs withagence are unavailable.

Accrued Expenses

As part of the process of preparing finanstatements, we are required to estimate accrueshsgp. This process involves reviewing ¢
contracts and purchase orders, communicating witlapplicable personnel to identify services tratehbeen performed on our behalf and
estimating the level of service performed and $soeiated cost incurred for the service when we mmt yet been invoiced or otherwise
notified of actual cost. The majority of our seevigroviders invoice us monthly in arrears for seggiperformed. We make estimates of our
accrued expenses as of each balance sheet datefinamcial statements based on facts and ciramass known to us. We periodically
confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the iserproviders and make adjustments if necessarglat® there have been no material
changes to our estimates. Examples of estimatedetexpenses include:

. fees paid to contract research organizations imection with preclinical and toxicology studies attidical trials;

. fees paid to investigative sites in connection withical trials;

. fees paid to contract manufacturers in connectibh tlie production of our raw materials, drug sahse and drug products; a
. professional service fee

We base our expenses related to clinicaktoal our estimates of the services received andtefxpended pursuant to contracts with
multiple research institutions and clinical resbasoganizations that conduct and manage clinicabkton our behalf. The financial terms of
these agreements are subject to negotiation, vany ¢ontract to contract and may result in unevayment flows. Payments under some of
these contracts depend on factors such as thessificcenroliment of patients and the completioclwfical trial milestones. In accruing
service fees, we estimate the time period over veévices will be performed and the level of @fforbe expended in each period. If the
actual timing of the performance of services orléwel of effort varies from our estimate, we vaitljust the accrual accordingly. To date,
there have been no material changes to our estniftee do not identify costs that we have begumeur or if we underestimate or
overestimate the level of services performed orcthgts of these services, our actual expenses ddtéd from our estimates.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2008, we have two stock-baseployee compensation plans, the Stock Incentiar &hd the Employee Stock Purchase
Plan. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted fesdlplans under the recognition and measuremevisianes of Accounting Principles Boa
Opinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employeasd other related Interpretations, as permitie8tatement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 128¢ccounting for Stock-Based CompensafiBtatement No. 123”). No stock-based compensatast related
to our employees
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was recognized in the Statements of Operationarfgmperiod ending prior to January 1, 2006, aepatibns granted to our employees had
exercise prices equal to the market value of thierlging common stock on the date of grant. Effextlanuary 1, 2006, we adopted the fair
value recognition provisions of Statement of Finah&ccounting Standards No. 123 (revised 20®Hare-Based PaymefiStatement

No. 123F"), using the modified prospective transition methResults for prior periods have not been restated

Under the fair value recognition provisionsSthtement No. 123R, stock-based compensatioriscestimated at the grant date based on
the fair value of the award and is recognized a®Bse over the requisite service period of the dwaonsistent with the valuation method
used for disclosure-only purposes under the prongsbdf Statement No. 123, we use the Black-Schagden pricing model to estimate fair
value under Statement No. 123R. Determining thegpiate fair value model and the related assumptfor the model requires judgment,
including estimating the life of an award, the &tpcice volatility, and the expected term. Compéinsacost is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period.

7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The primary objective of our investment adités is to preserve principal while maximizing theome we receive from our investments
without significantly increasing our risk. We intesir excess cash principally in U.S. marketabtaisges from a diversified portfolio of
institutions with strong credit ratings and by pglilimit the amount of credit exposure at any orgitution. Some of the securities we invest
in may have market risk. This means that a chamgedvailing interest rates may cause the prin@pabunt of the investment to fluctuate.
minimize this risk, we schedule our investmenthage maturities that coincide with our expecteddasv needs, thus avoiding the need to
redeem an investment prior to its maturity datecagkdingly, we believe we have no material exposommarket risk arising from our
investments. Therefore, no quantitative tabulacldire is provided.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
BALANCE SHEETS

Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Receivables from collaboratio
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Deferred collaboration expen
Total current asse
Marketable securitie
Furniture and equipment, n
Deferred collaboration expen
Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Accrued vacatiol

Deferred ren

Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities

Deferred ren
Deferred revenu

Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock: shares authorizeds;800,000 Series B Junior Participating Prefertedks $.001 pa
value; shares authoriz— 45,000; shares issued and outstan— none
Common stock, $.01 par value; shares authorize;608,000; shares issued and outstanding —
38,275,167 in 2008 and 37,967,254 in 2
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive inca
Accumulated defici
Total stockholdel equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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December 31,

2008 2007
$ 22,342,05 $ 31,15532
39,186,40  19,542,19
11,982,43  39,127,67
1,136,84; 948,44(
376,97. 931,02
75,024,70  91,704,65
1,786,03  34,310,98
4,880,47! 5,294,07!
3,000,46;  11,407,12
$ 84,691,67 $142,716,83
$ 526594 $ 19,771,37
8,442,39: 2,863,81!
794,37 824,14
40,00 —
2,565,28! 4,658,26!
17,108,00  28,117,59
220,00 —
20,937,44  49,694,18
382,75: 379,67.
295,207,58  288,683,36
103,50° 378,05
(249,267,61) (224,536,04)
46,426,22 _ 64,905,05
$ 84,691,67 $142,716,83
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BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues
Collaborative and other research and developi

Expenses
Research and developmt
General and administratiy
Total expense
Loss from operation

Interest and other incon

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl

Weighted average shares outstant

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Years Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
$56,561,36 $ 71,237,90 $ 6,211,093
73,326,63  94,051,99  47,083,37
10,399,22 9,465,96: 6,108,37:
83,725,86  103,517,95  53,191,74
(27,164,49)  (32,280,05)  (46,979,80)
2,432,92: 3,224,53; 3,361,95

$(24,731,57) $(29,055,52) $(43,617,85)

$

(0.65)

$

(0.89)

$

(1.50)

38,062,13

32,770,92

29,147,39
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Balance at December 31, 20C

Net loss

Unrealized gain on marketable
securities availab-for-sale

Comprehensive los

Exercise of stock options, 409,328
shares, ne

Employee stock purchase plan sales,
25,988 share

Stocl-based compensation expel

Balance at December 31, 2006

Net loss

Unrealized gain on marketable
securities availab-for-sale

Comprehensive los

Issue of restricted common stock,
60,000 share

Sale of common stock, 8,315,513
shares, ne

Exercise of stock options, 308,037
shares, ne

Employee stock purchase plan sale
34,855 share

Stocl-based compensation expel

Balance at December 31, 20C

Net loss

Unrealized loss on marketable
securities availab-for-sale

Comprehensive los

Issue of restricted common stock,
76,536 share

Exercise of stock options, 146,470
shares, ne

Employee stock purchase plan sale
84,907 share

Stocl-based compensation expel

Balance at December 31, 2008

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Additional Other Total Stock-
Common Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated holders' Comprehensive
Stock Capital Income Deficit Equity Loss
$288,13¢ $210,014,94 $ = $(151,862,66) $58,440,41
— — — (43,617,85)  (43,617,85) $(43,617,85)
— — 32,46: — 32,46: 32,46:
$(43,585,39)
4,09¢ 2,765,80: — — 2,769,89
26C 191,07( — — 191,33
— 3,338,76: — — 3,338,76:
292,48t 216,310,57 32,46: (195,480,52) 21,155,00
— — — (29,055,52)  (29,055,52) $(29,055,52)
— — 345,59 — 345,59 345,59
§(26,709,93)
60C (600) — — —
83,15¢ 65,034,93 — — 65,118,09
3,08( 1,378,09: — — 1,381,17
34¢ 269,32¢ — — 269,67
— 5,691,02 — — 5,691,02!
379,67 288,683,36 378,05 (224,536,04) 64,905,05
— — — (24,731,57)  (24,731,57) $(24,731,57)
— — (274,55() — (274,55() (274,55()
$(25,006.12)
765 (765) = — _
1,46t 397,63 — — 399,09¢
84¢ 266,69: — — 267,54(
— 5,860,65: — — 5,860,65:
$382,75. $295,207,58 $ 103,50° $(249,267,61) $ 46,426,22

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

Operating activities
Net loss

2008

2007

2006

$ (24,731,57) $(29,055,52) $(43,617,85)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities

Depreciation, amortization, and impairm 1,625,87 1,369,71. 810,31(
Stocl-based compensation expel 5,860,65: 5,691,02 3,338,76.
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Receivables from collaboratio 27,145,24 (34,571,53) 25,443,85
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (188,407 (274,687 (173,07)
Deferred collaboration expen 8,960,70! 1,361,82. (7,535,749
Accounts payable and accrued expet (8,956,61) 15,424,18 (2,472,82)
Deferred ren 260,00( — —
Deferred collaboration reven (30,849,72) 15,057,19 8,995,25!
Net cash used in operating activitie (20,873,82)  (24,997,79) (15,211,31)
Investing activities
Acquisitions of furniture and equipme (1,212,27.) (3,343,82) (1,398,31)
Purchases of patents and licen — — (136,379
Purchases of marketable securi (124,459,83) (62,907,14) (42,870,52)
Sales and maturities of marketable secur 137,066,02 51,217,61 31,916,00
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 11,393,91 (15,033,35) (12,489,20)
Financing activities
Sale of common stock, net of issuance ¢ — 65,118,09 —
Exercise of stock optior 399,09¢ 1,381,17 2,769,89
Employee stock purchase plan st 267,54( 269,67 191,33(
Net cash provided by financing activities 666,63¢ 66,768,94 2,961,22
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equiv: (8,813,26) 26,737,79 (24,739,29)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 31,155,322 4,417,52 29,156,82
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 22,342,005 $31,155,32 $ 4,417,552

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Significant Accounting Policies
The Company

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Compang’Pelaware corporation, is a biotechnology comphat designs, optimizes, and
develops novel drugs that block key enzymes inwblnecancer, cardiovascular diseases, autoimmusasiés, and viral infections. The
Company integrates the necessary disciplines dddpyo crystallography, medicinal chemistry, and paer modeling to effectively use
structure-based drug design to discover and destal molecule pharmaceuticals. The Company hdspieuresearch projects in different
stages of development from early discovery to ataivMPhase Il trial of the Company’s most advarmbed candidate, forodesine HCI. While
the prospects for a project may increase as thegiradvances to the next stage of developmentjaqh can be terminated at any stage of
development. Until the Company generates reveroes éither a research project or an approved ptothe Company’s ability to continue
research projects is dependent upon its abilitaige funds through the sale of equity securitrehimugh collaborative arrangements with
government agencies or third-party partners.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company generally considers cash equitaterbe all cash held in money market accouniswastments in debt instruments with
maturities of three months or less at the timewtpase in accordance with Statement of FinanaabAnting Standards No. 95tatement ¢
Cash Flows

Marketable Securities

In accordance with Statement of Financial Arting Standards No. 11B¢ccounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bqui
Securities the Company is required to classify securitiegading, available-for-sale, or held-to-maturityhe appropriateness of each
classification is assessed at the time of purchadeat each reporting date. Unrealized gains asgk®on securities available-for-sale are
recognized in other comprehensive income, unlesmesalized loss is considered to be other thapdoeany, in which case the unrealized
loss is charged to operations.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adoftatement of Financial Accounting Standards N@, E&ir Value Measurements
(“Statement No. 157"), for financial assets andiliies and any other assets and liabilities eatat fair value. This pronouncement defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuraigvalue, and expands disclosures about fair valeasurements. While this standard
applies whenever other standards require (or peasdets or liabilities to be measured at fair @aiudoes not expand the use of fair value in
any new circumstances. The adoption of StatementL Bl did not have a significant impact on the Canys financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company alsiptatl Statement of Financial Accounting Standards189,The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Liabilitie(“Statement No. 159”), but did not elect to apmyr fvalue accounting to any financial instrumeitst tvere
not already accounted for at fair value under exgsguidance. As a result, the adoption of Statdriven 159 did not have a significant imp.
on the Company’s financial statements.

At December 31, 2007, the Company had $5318330f marketable securities, of which $43,770,8@8 classified as available-for-sale
and $10,082,545 was classified as held-to-matuségurities available-for-sale consisted primanfiy).S. Agency securities carried at
estimated fair values. At December 31, 2007, thertimed cost of securities available-for-sale wéd2,918,200. At December 31, 2007, gross
unrealized gains on securities available-for-sateen$378,057. There were no gross unrealized l@sssscurities available-for-sale at
December 31, 2007. Securities held-to-maturity mbed primarily of U.S. Agency securities carrigcdamortized cost. The estimated fair
value of securities held-to-maturity at DecemberZI7 was $10,096,160 based on independent qouwdddet prices. At December 31,

2007, gross unrecognized holding gains on secsiiitéd-to-maturity were $16,131, while gross ungsized losses on securities held-to-
maturity at December 31, 2007 were $2,516.
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During 2008, in an effort to minimize investmeisk in light of the current economic environrhghe Company sold two securities
previously classified as held-to-maturity. The garg amount of these securities was $3,469,506¢chvieépresented amortized cost. The
proceeds from the sale of these securities wa$8844.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $4043®0f marketable securities, all of which weressified as available-for-sale. These
securities consisted of U.S. Treasury bills anésatrried at estimated fair values. The estimf@iedalue of these securities was based on
independent quoted market prices and representighest priority of Level 1 in the fair value heechy as defined in Statement No. 157.
following table summarizes by year the scheduletunts for the securities available-for-sale at Pather 31, 2008 and includes accrued
interest of $265,172.

2009 $39,186,40.
2010 1,786,03.
340,972,483

At December 31, 2008, the amortized cost ofistes available-for-sale, including accrued iett, was $40,868,931. At December 31,
2008, gross unrealized gains on securities availfditsale were $103,507. There were no gross lineedosses on securities available-for-
sale at December 31, 2008.

Receivables from Collaborations

Receivables are recorded for amounts duest@tdmpany related to reimbursable research andajewent costs and event payments.
These receivables are evaluated to determine ifeggrve or allowance should be established atregeinting date. At December 31, 2008,
the Company had the following receivables fromatmdirations.

Billed Unbilled Total
U.S. Department of Health and Human Serv $2,337,44. $8,574,71 $10,912,15
Mundipharme — 1,070,27. 1,070,27.
Total $2,337,44  $9,644,98  $11,982,43

Unbilled receivables from the U.S. Departmafritiealth and Human Services (“HHSH)e net of a reserve for costs and fees of $4,89:
at December 31, 2008 that are uncertain of recoardyrelated to the voluntarily terminated Phakstudies of the peramivir intramuscular
(“i.m.”) program. The Company is in discussionshaitHS regarding the reimbursement of these costdems. To the extent that any
additional recoveries are realized or become priebattrealization, the reserve will be adjustea ifuture period(s). Any such adjustments
could have a material impact on future operatirsyilts.

Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment are recorded at &rpreciation is computed using the straight-linehod with estimated useful lives of five
and seven years. Laboratory equipment, office eqeig, and software are depreciated over a lifévefyears. Furniture and fixtures are
depreciated over a life of seven years. Leasehofddvements are amortized over their estimatedilbeés or the remaining lease term,
whichever is less. In accordance with StatememRimdincial Accounting Standards No. 14€counting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assetsthe Company periodically reviews its furnituredaguipment for impairment when events or changesrtumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such asseismoaibe recoverable. Determination of recoverghis based on an estimate of
undiscounted future cash flows resulting from tke af the asset and its eventual disposition.éretfent that such cash flows are not
expected to be sufficient to recover the carryingpant of the assets, the assets are written dowretoestimated fair values. Furniture and
equipment to be disposed of are reported at therofvcarrying amount or fair value less cost th se

Patents and Licenses

The Company seeks patent protection on ahmatly developed processes and products. All pagdated costs are expensed to general
and administrative expenses as incurred, as regoNigy of such expenditures is uncertain.
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Accrued Expenses

The Company records all expenses in the pénimgtred. In addition to recording expenses fepines received, the Company estimates
the cost of services provided by third parties aterials purchased for which no invoices have lreeaived as of each balance sheet date.
Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2008 and 20isted primarily of development and clinical lteapenses payable to contract
research organizations in connection with the Camijsaresearch and development programs.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used in accounting iflcome taxes in accordance with Statement of Eim&iccounting Standards No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxi(“Statement No. 109”). Under this method, defeit@dassets and liabilities are determined basetiftarences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiabilities and are measured using the endatethtes and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adofitegrovisions of Financial Accounting Standardsii8l Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, areifretation of FASB Statement No. 19 IN No. 48”). FIN No. 48 clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recogghiin an enterprise’s financial statements in ataoce with Statement No. 109, and
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurepmengss for financial statement recognition andsueament of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive | ncome

Accumulated other comprehensive income is et of unrealized gains and losses on secudtiagable-for-sale and is disclosed as a
separate component of stockholders’ equity.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenues have generally bedtelinto license fees, event payments, researcldevelopment fees, government
contracts, and interest income. Revenue is recedgnizaccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin N©4,Revenue Recognitid'SAB
No. 10¢") and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 00R&lenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliveralff@&dTF Issue 00-21")License fees
event payments, and research and developmentreescagnized as revenue when the earnings pricessplete and the Company has no
further continuing performance obligations or thenfpany has completed the performance obligatiodsthe terms of the agreement. Fees
received under licensing agreements that are tetatiuture performance are deferred and recogrozed an estimated period determined by
management based on the terms of the agreementseaptbducts licensed. In the event a licenseemgeat contains multiple deliverables,
the Company evaluates whether the deliverablesegrarate or combined units of accounting in accmelavith EITF Issue 00-21. Revisions
to revenue or profit estimates as a result of chamg the estimated revenue period are recogniaespectively.

Under the guidance of Emerging Issues Taskd-msue 99-1Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus BlehaAgen{‘EITF
Issue 99-19”) and Emerging Issues Task Force IB$t4,Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursenisteived for “Out-of-
Pocke” Expenseq“EITF Issue 01-14"), reimbursements received fioect out-of-pocket expenses related to researdhdamelopment costs
are recorded as revenue in the income statemémtrridtan as a reduction in expenses.

Event payments are recognized as revenue thyaachievement of specified events if (1) the eiesubstantive in nature and the
achievement of the event was not reasonably assiitke inception of the agreement and (2) the deeson-refundable and non-creditable.
Any event payments received prior to satisfyingstheriteria are recorded as deferred revenue.

Royalty revenue is recognized based on estsnaitroyalties earned during the applicable pesiod adjusted for differences between the
estimated and actual royalties in the followingiperIf royalties can not be reasonably
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estimated, revenue is recognized upon receiptyafityp statements from the licensee. The Companybageceived any royalties from the
sale of licensed pharmaceutical products.

The Company recorded the following revenuemfcollaborations for the years ended December 31.:

2008 2007 2006
U.S. Department of Health and Human Serv $21,779,74 $55,449,09 $ —
Mundipharme 4,615,44 5,298,27. 5,086,92!
Roche 27,783,25 1,898,40: 1,093,75!
Shionogi 2,007,92. 8,515,711 —
Other 375,00( 76,41¢ 31,25(
Total $56,561,36 $71,237,90 $6,211,93

Revenues from the contract with HHS for tharyended December 31, 2008 are shown net of agioovior costs and fees of $4,918,849
(or $0.13 per share), of which $4,567,604 relategtenues recognized in the three months endedhvedr, 2008 and $351,245 relates to
revenues recognized in 2007. These costs and feemeertain of recovery and related to the voligteerminated Phase Il studies of the
peramivir i.m. program.

Research and Development Expenses

In accordance with Statement of Financial Arting Standards No. 2ccounting for Research and Development Coists Company
expenses research and development costs as incriedto January 1, 2008, the Company also exgkensnrefundable advance payments
for goods and services received in connection réfiearch and development activities. Effective danfi, 2008, the Company adopted the
consensus in Emerging Issues Task Force Issue AZeB8unting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments fozds and Services Received for
Use in Future Research and Development ActivitieBTF Issue 07-3"). EITF 03 requires that these payments be deferred andmizea a
an expense as the related goods are deliverea oeldited services are performed. The Companyeapfiie new guidance to all advance
payments made during 2008 for contracts executed tiie effective date of this consensus. As atiespproximately $295,000 (or $0.01 per
share) of advanced payments have been capitaliZz@ecember 31, 2008 that would have been expensder the Company’s former
accounting policy.

Research and development expenses includejgaotber items, personnel costs, including salamesbenefits, manufacturing costs,
clinical, regulatory, and toxicology services penfied by contract research organizations (“CRO'siaterials and supplies, and overhead
allocations consisting of various administrativel &acilities related costs. Most of the Companyanufacturing and clinical and preclinical
studies are performed by third-party CRO’s. Costssfudies performed by CRO’s are accrued by thafgamy over the service periods
specified in the contracts and estimates are adjustrequired, based upon the Company’s on-géngw of the level of services actually
performed.

Additionally, the Company has license agreemeiith third parties, such as Albert Einstein @g# of Medicine of Yeshiva University
(“AECOM"), Industrial Research, Ltd. (“IRL"), andhé University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB”), wdii require fees related to
sublicense agreements or maintenance fees. The &gnaepenses sublicense payments as incurred uhissare related to revenues that
have been deferred, in which case the expenseefaged and recognized over the related reveraggnition period. The Company
expenses maintenance payments as incurred.

The Company’s accounting for deferred subkegpayments related to revenues that have beematkfe based on the guidance in SAB
No. 104, which states that the incremental direstsincurred related to the acquisition or origoraof a contract in a transaction that res
in the deferral of revenue may either be expensedaurred or accounted for in accordance with graqsh 4 of Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Technical Bulletin 90Alccounting for Separately Priced Extended Warramtg Product Maintenance Costs
(“FTB 90-1"). At December 31, 2008, the Company daerred collaboration expenses of $3,377,434s& laeferred expenses were sub-
license payments, paid to the Company’s acadenntogra upon receipt of consideration from varioosmercial partners. These deferred
expenses would not have been incurred without pecéisuch payments from the Company’s commeraainers and are being expensed in
proportion to the
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related revenue being recognized. The CompanyJesithat this accounting treatment appropriatelichres expenses with the associated
revenue.

Stock-Based Compensation

In accordance with Statement of Financial Aeting Standards No. 123 (revised 20@hare-Based PaymefiGStatement No. 123R"),
all share-based payments, including grants of sbption awards and restricted stock awards, am@grézed in the Company’s income
statement based on their fair values. StatemenilRB&R was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2§i86§ the “modified prospective”
transition method. Under the fair value recognitiwavisions of Statement No. 123R, stock-based emsgtion cost is estimated at the grant
date based on the fair value of the award anccisgrzed as expense on a straight-line basis beereguisite service period of the award.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had tacksbased employee compensation plans, the Stmetive Plan (“Incentive Plan”)
and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP"dditian, during 2007, the Company made an inducémeant outside of the Incentive
Plan and ESPP to recruit a new employee to a ksiyipo within the Company. Prior to January 1, 200@ Company accounted for all
share-based payments under the recognition andune@asnt provisions of Accounting Principles Boanpir@on No. 25 Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employe@8PB Opinion No. 25”), and other related inter@dns, as permitted by Statement of Financial Aoting
Standards No. 122\ccounting for Stock-Based Compensatidlo stock-based compensation cost related to timep@ny’s employees was
recognized in the Statements of Operations forpempod ending prior to January 1, 2006. Stock-bassdpensation expense of $5,860,654
($5,545,458 of expense related to the Incentiva,1465,492 of expense related to the ESPP, ar@l %4l of expense related to the
inducement grant) was recognized during 2008, w35l€91,028 ($5,428,505 of expense related tortbentive Plan, $150,245 of expense
related to the ESPP, and $112,278 of expense defathe inducement grant) was recognized durir@y 20hd $3,338,761 ($3,243,751 of
expense related to the Plan and $95,010 of expetated to the ESPP) was recognized during 2006.

As of December 31, 2008, there was approxin®$@ 155,261 of total unrecognized compensaticst pelated to non-vested employee
stock option awards and restricted stock awardstgdaby the Company. That cost is expected to ¢grézed as follows: $4,676,499 in
2009, $3,430,204 in 2010, $958,675 in 2011, and&8®in 2012.

Statement 123R also requires that the berfedits tax deductions in excess of recognized corsaion cost should be reported as a
financing cash flow rather than as an operating éasv. The Company has never recognized any benfeim such tax deductions, as the
Company has always maintained a loss position.

Net Loss Per Share

The Company computes net loss per share or@acce with Statement of Financial Accounting 8&ads No. 128karnings Per Share
Net loss per share is based upon the weighted gezenamber of common shares outstanding duringehiegh Diluted loss per share
equivalent to basic net loss per share for allqusripresented herein because common equivalemssinam unexercised stock options,
outstanding warrants, and common shares expectaglissued under the Company’s employee stock paecplan were anti-dilutive.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements infeanity with accounting principles generally acaaghin the United States requires the
Company to make estimates and assumptions that &file amounts reported in the financial stateméftamples include accrued clinical
and preclinical expenses. Actual results coulcediffom those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2007 and 2006 finaratatements have been reclassified to conforme@@08 financial statement presentation.
The changes had no effect on the results of opasapreviously reported.
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Note 2 — Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment consisted of the faithg at December 31:

Furniture and fixture
Office equipmen
Software

Laboratory equipmer
Leased equipmel
Leasehold improvemen
Constructiorin-progress

Less accumulated depreciation and amortize
Furniture and equipment, n

Note 3 — Concentration of Credit and Market Risk

2008 2007
$ 53599 $ 491,82
1,126,28; 907,38t
1,116,66. 1,015,06:
6,973,15 6,361,49!
62,71: 62,71:
6,100,51 5,082,55.
— 883,77
15,915,32  14,804,81
(11,034,84)  (9,510,73)
$ 4,880,47° $ 5,294,07"

The Company invests its excess cash pringijpall.S. marketable securities from a diversifgedtfolio of institutions with strong credit
ratings and by policy, limits the amount of cresliposure at any one institution. These investmamgenerally not collateralized and mature

within less than two years. The Company has ndizeshany significant losses from such investments.

The Company’s raw materials, drug substaranes drug products are manufactured by a limitedgaf suppliers and some at a single
facility. If any of these suppliers were unablgtoduce these items, this could significantly intghe Company’s supply of drugs for further

preclinical testing and clinical trials.

Note 4 — Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses were comprised of the foligweit December 31:

Accrued research and clinical expen
Accrued professional fee

Stock purchase plan withholdin
Accrued bonu:

Other

Accrued expense

Note 5 — Lease Obligations and Other Contingencies

The Company has the following lease obligatiahDecember 31, 2008:

2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereaftel

Total minimum payment

2008

2007

$6,479,54
486,04
138,23
1,011,73
326,82¢

$1,675,66!
126,50(
167,36!
756,53¢
137,75:

$8,442,39:i

$2,863,81!

Operating
Leases

$ 641,32
575,24¢
551,74
560,38:
552,46:
856,89(

$3,738,04

Rent expense for operating leases was $636%51%,538, and $566,524 in 2008, 2007, and 2@perctively. The commitment for
operating leases is primarily related to buildiegdes in Birmingham, Alabama and Cary, North CaaolThe lease for the building in
Birmingham, Alabama expires June 30, 2015. Thisdeas amended effective August 7, 2007 for are&se in occupied space and lease

term, currently requires monthly rents of
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$40,273 in December 2008 and escalates annuadlyrtmimum of $48,072 per month in the final yedreTTompany has an option to renew
the Birmingham, Alabama lease for an additionas fpears at the current market rate on the daterofihation. The lease for the building in
Cary, North Carolina expires February 28, 2010sTéase, as amended effective August 9, 2007 faraease in occupied space, currently
requires monthly rents of $7,881 in December 2G@8Beascalates to a minimum of $8,118 per montherfitial year. The Company has an
option to twice renew the Cary, North Carolina &e&w an additional three years at the current etande prior to lease termination.

Note 6 — Income Taxes

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adotitegrovisions of FIN No. 48, which clarifies thecounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial siatds in accordance with Statement No. 109 anatpbes a recognition threshold and
measurement process for financial statement retiograind measurement of a tax position taken oeetqal to be taken in a tax return. The
Company has concluded that there were no signtfigacertain tax positions requiring recognitioritsfinancial statements. Tax years 2005-
2007 remain open to examination by the major tajimngdictions to which the Company is subject. Aiddally, years prior to 2005 are also
open to examination to the extent of loss and teadiryforwards from those years.

As of December 31, 2008, the majority of tieéedred tax assets relate to Net Operating Los® [N carryforwards that can only be
realized if the Company is profitable in futureipds and it is uncertain whether the Company eiilize any tax benefit related to the NOL
carryforwards. Accordingly, the Company has prodidevaluation allowance against the net deferneéisaets due to uncertainties as to their
ultimate realization. The valuation allowance w#imain at the full amount of the deferred tax agséit it is more likely than not that the
related tax benefits will be realized.

The Company will recognize interest and péestccrued related to unrecognized tax benefit®agponents of its income tax provision.
The Company did not have any interest and penaltiesued upon the adoption of FIN No. 48 and d3asfember 31, 2008, the Company
does not have any interest and penalties accriegdeo unrecognized tax benefits.

The provision for income taxes differs frone timounts computed by applying the statutory fddecame tax rate to income before
income taxes. The sources and tax effects of ffiereinces are as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Federal tax benefit at statutory rate on incomergeihcome taxe $(8,656,05) $(10,169,43) $(15,266,24)
State tax benefit, net of federal income tax et (1,868,18i) (1,231,31) (1,931,361
Increase in valuation allowan 8,476,11 16,143,86 21,011,95
Permanent items (federal effe 1,484,95. 3,333,87! 2,338,85
R&D credit (1,242,78) (9,214,62) (6,561,95)
Expiration of net operating losses and cre 2,228,94! 1,640,46 461,67¢
Othernet (422,989 (502,83() (52,92
Total tax expens $ — $ — 3 —

The Company has not had taxable income siremporation and, therefore, has not paid any irctares. Significant components of the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities arkows:

2008 2007

Deferred tax asset
Net operating losse $ 68,863,29 $ 61,544,21
General business cred 32,972,81 32,067,93
Fixed asset 1,101,00: 845,62:
Accrued expense 813,38 433,09:
Deferred revenu 8,097,95! 9,827,25!
Stocl-based compensatic 3,079,95: 1,734,16

Total deferred tax asse 114,928,40 106,452,29

Total deferred tax liabilitie — —
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2008 2007
Net deferred tax ass 114,928,40 106,452,29
Valuation allowanct (114,928,40) (106,452,29)
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had petating loss and research and development craditforwards of approximately
$175,589,000 and $32,973,000 respectively, whiglirexat various dates from 2009 through 2027.

Note 7 — Stockholders’ Equity

On August 6, 2007, the Company entered irtogk and Warrant Purchase Agreement with a gréegisting stockholders for the
private placement of 8,315,513 shares of the Cogipamommon stock at a purchase price of $7.80 paresand warrants to purchase
3,159,895 shares of the Company’s common stoclpat@hase price of $0.125 per warrant. The aggegmaiceeds from the sale were
approximately $65.3 million. The exercise pricelwd warrants is $10.25 per share. The participarttse transaction include funds managed
by Baker Brothers Investments, Kleiner Perkins @ddii& Byers, EHS Holdings, OrbiMed Advisors, Texaacific Group Ventures, and
Stephens Investment Management, all of whom amecushareholders in the Company. The Companyédtastered the shares and warrants
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended Seeurities Act”), for resale.

On May 16, 2007, the stockholders approvedraandment to the Company’s third restated certdichincorporation to increase the
number of shares of common stock authorized teeifgm 45,000,000 to 95,000,000. All shares ofGoenpany’s common stock, including
the additional shares authorized by the amendraemqual in rank and have the same voting, diddand liquidation rights.

In June 2002, the Company’s Board of Directmtgpted a stockholder rights plan and, pursuameth, issued preferred stock purchase
rights (“Rights”) to the holders of our common $¢othe Rights have certain anti-takeover effedtgiggered, the Rights would cause
substantial dilution to a person or group of pesswho acquires more than 15% (19.9% for WilliamR&atheringill, a Director who owned
approximately 10.1% as of August 15, 2007, but awivmere than 15% at the time the Rights were pptace) of our common stock on ter
not approved by the board of directors. In Aug@d7, this plan was amended for a transaction inrglfunds managed by or affiliated with
Baker Brother Investments such that they couldlmse up to 25% without triggering the Rights. Aftlrsing of our August 2007 private
placement, such group owns approximately 19.0%uofstock. The rights are not exercisable untildisribution date, as defined in the
Rights Agreement by and between the Company andigareStock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rightsmtg@&he Rights will expire at
the close of business on June 24, 2012, unles$itahexpiration date is extended or unless thats are earlier redeemed or exchanged by
the Company.

Each Right entitles the registered holderucpase from the Company one one-thousandth odire st Series B Junior Participating
Preferred Stock (“Series B"), par value $0.001gi&re, at a purchase price of $26.00, subjectjtstmaent. Shares of Series B purchasable
upon exercise of the Rights will not be redeemaBéeh share of Series B will be entitled to a dévid of 1,000 times the dividend declared
per share of common stock. In the event of liquaateach share of Series B will be entitled tagment of 1,000 times the payment made
per share of common stock. Each share of Seriedl Bave 1,000 votes, voting together with the coomnstock. Finally, in the event of any
merger, consolidation, or other transaction in Whshares of common stock are exchanged, each ahSegies B will be entitled to receive
1,000 times the amount received per share of constomk. Effective in December 2005, the Companyeased the authorized shares
available under these rights to 45,000 to matclathiborized common shares of 45,000,000 at that timaddition, the Board of Directors
has the authority to issue up to 4,955,000 shdreadesignated preferred stock and to determineigines, preferences, privileges and
restrictions of those shares without further vataaiion by the Company’s stockholders.

Note 8 — Stock-Based Compensation

Stock I ncentive Plan

The Company grants stock option awards artdas] stock awards to its employees, directand, @nsultants under the Stock Incentive
Plan (“Incentive Plan”), as amended and restatdeeliruary 2008. The Incentive Plan was approvetth®yCompany’s stockholders in May
2008. Under the Incentive Plan, stock option awaréggranted with an exercise price equal to the&etgrice of the Company’s stock at the
date of grant. Stock option

61




Table of Contents

awards granted to employees generally vest 25% @afeyear and monthly thereafter on a pro rat&slmgr the next three years until fully
vested after four years. Stock option awards goattenon-employee directors of the Company genevalst over one year. All stock option
awards have contractual terms of 10 years. Théngeskercise provisions of all awards granted uriderincentive Plan are subject to
acceleration in the event of certain stockholdgrraped transactions, or upon the occurrence obagin control as defined in the Incentive
Plan.

Related activity under the Incentive Plangsallows:

Weighted
Awards Options Average
Available Outstanding Exercise Price
Balance December 31, 20 443,04 3,241,35 $ 7.6C
Plan amendmer 1,500,001 — —
Stock option awards grant (1,222,15,) 1,222,15. 12.3¢
Stock option awards exercis — (411,079 6.82
Stock option awards cancel 99,86! (99,867 15.91
Balance December 31, 20 820,75 3,952,561 8.94
Plan amendmer 1,200,00! — —
Stock option awards grant (1,721,70) 1,721,701 9.51
Restricted stock awards grani (50,000 — —
Stock option awards exercis — (308,03) 4.4¢
Stock option awards cancel 342,97¢ (342,979 12.0z
Balance December 31, 20 592,02° 5,023,25! 9.2
Plan amendmer 1,200,00! — —
Stock option awards grant (1,060,00) 1,060,00! 3.3¢
Restricted stock awards grant (76,53¢) — —
Stock option awards exercis — (146,47() 2.72
Stock option awards cancel 459,14« (459,14 8.5:
Balance December 31, 20 1,114,63 5,477,64! 8.3(

For stock option awards granted under therltice Plan during 2008, 2007, and 2006, the falueavas estimated on the date of grant
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model andasgumptions noted in the table below. The weighteulage grant date fair value of these
awards granted during 2008, 2007, and 2006 wa$$26L16 and $8.64, respectively. The fair valuthefstock option awards is amortize
expense over the vesting periods using a strdiigtexpense attribution method. The following exgtions describe the assumptions use
the Company to value the stock option awards gdatiteing 2008. The expected life is based on tlegamge of the assumption that all
outstanding stock option awards will be exercisefdilbvesting and the assumption that all outstagdtock option awards will be exercised
at the midpoint of the current date (if alreadyted} or at full vesting (if not yet vested) and thk contractual term. The expected volatility
represents an average of the implied volatilitytuenCompany’s publicly traded options, the volgtibiver the most recent period
corresponding with the expected life, and the Camg{salong-term reversion volatility. The Companystessumed no expected dividend
yield, as dividends have never been paid to stodption holders and will not be for the foreseedbture. The weighted average -free
interest rate is the implied yield currently aval&aon zero-coupon government issues with a remgitgrm equal to the expected term.

Weighted Average Assumptions for Stock Option Award Granted under the
Incentive Plan

2008 2007 2006
Expected Life 5.5 5.7 5.6
Expected Volatility 78.4% 74.5% 82.%
Expected Dividend Yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-Free Interest Ral 2.8% 4.6% 5.C%

The total intrinsic value of stock option adsexercised under the Incentive Plan was $223j86fg 2008, $1,347,010 during 2007, and
$4,697,366 during 2006. The intrinsic value repnéséhe total proceeds (fair market value at the déexercise, less the exercise price, ti
the number of stock option awards exercised) reckby all individuals who exercised stock optioraase during the period.
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The following table summarizes, at December2BD8, by price range: (1) for stock option awardtstanding under the Incentive Plan,
the number of stock option awards outstandingr theighted average remaining life and their weighdeerage exercise price; and (2) for
stock option awards exercisable under the Plamtingber of stock option awards exercisable and theighted average exercise price:

Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Remaining Exercise Exercise
Range Number Life Price Number Price
$0to 3 496,23: 6.4 $ 1.82 278,40( $ 1.27
3to6 1,298,70. 7.3 3.67 628,84( 4.0¢€
6109 1,710,91 6.2 8.0z 1,194,36. 8.1¢
9to 12 893,16. 8.1 11.3% 413,67 11.3¢
12 to 15 850,23: 7.1 12.5¢ 599,83: 12.52
1510 18 5,771 6.3 15.7¢ 5,41¢ 15.72
18 to 21 3,99¢ .5 19.2i 3,45¢ 19.32
21t0 24 199,02( 0.9 22.8¢ 199,02( 22.8¢
24 to 27 13,62( 1.3 25.7¢ 13,62( 25.7¢
2710 30 6,00( 1.4 29.2¢ 6,00( 29.2¢
$0 to 30 5,477,64! 6.7 8.3( 3,342,61! 9.0C

The weighted average remaining contractualdffstock option awards exercisable under theniioe Plan at December 31, 2008 was
5.5 years.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock opa@rards outstanding and exercisable under the liveeRtan at December 31, 2008 was
$89,016. The aggregate intrinsic value represéetsalue (the period’s closing market price, légsexercise price, times the number of in-
the-money stock option awards) that would have beeeived by all stock option award holders untlerlhcentive Plan had they exercised
their stock option awards at the end of the year.

The total fair value of the stock option awsavested under the Incentive Plan was $6,928,04ibgd2008, $5,613,761 during 2007, and
$2,473,986 during 2006.

As of December 31, 2008, the number of stqutioo awards vested and expected to vest unddndeative Plan is 5,047,571. The
weighted average exercise price of these stockmptivards is $8.28 and their weighted average réntacontractual life is 6.8 years.

During 2007, the Company granted 50,000 retsttistock awards under the Incentive Plan witheatgdate fair value of $11.81. During
the second quarter of 2008, the Company also giat@igb36 restricted stock awards under the IncerRian with a grant date fair value of
$3.12. None of the restricted stock awards graantettr the Incentive Plan have vested as of DeceB81het008.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP was originally approved by the Comisestockholders in May 1995 and the most recergradment was approved in
May 2008. The Company has reserved a total of ®@00sBares of common stock to be purchased und&SkR®, of which 179,851 shares
remain available for purchase at December 31, 2Bligible employees may authorize up to 15% ofrtBalary to purchase common stock at
the lower of 85% of the beginning or 85% of theiagdrice during six-month purchase intervals. Narethan 3,000 shares may be
purchased by any one employee at the six-montthpaecdates and no employee may purchase stoclghaféir market value at the
commencement date of $25,000 or more in any orendal year.

There were 84,907, 34,855, and 25,988 shdiresnamon stock purchased under the ESPP in 20@8g,, 20d 2006, respectively, at a
weighted average price per share of $3.15, $7¥3$&.36, respectively. Expense of $165,492, $14H),a8nd $95,010 related to the ESPP
was recognized during 2008, 2007, and 2006, reispeéctFor all periods, expense was determinedgiaiBlack-Scholes option pricing
model. The weighted average grant
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date fair values of shares granted under the E&RRg2008, 2007, and 2006 were $1.34, $2.98, dn6i7$ respectively.

Stock | nducement Grant

In March 2007, the Company’s Board of Direstapproved a stock inducement grant of 110,00k giption awards and 10,000 restricted
stock awards to recruit a new employee to a keitiposvithin the Company. The stock option award=revgranted in April 2007 with an
exercise price equal to the market price of the @amy’s stock at the date of grant. The awards vest Z&b@ne year and monthly thereal
on a pro rata basis over the next three years fufitilvested after four years. The stock optioraads have contractual terms of 10 years. The
vesting exercise provisions of both the stock aptivards and the restricted stock awards grantddrithe inducement grant are subject to
acceleration in the event of certain stockholggproved transactions, or upon the occurrencecbfiage in control as defined in the respe:
agreements.

For the stock option awards granted undeirithtecement grant, the fair value was estimatedherdate of grant using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model and the following assumptioaspected life of 5.7 years, expected volatility78f9%, expected dividend yield of 0.0%,
and risk-free interest rate of 4.6%. The weighteetage grant date fair value of these stock omtiwards was $5.25. The fair value of the
stock option awards is amortized to expense ovevdisting periods using a straight-line expengéation method. The expected life is
based on the average of the assumption that aftamding stock option awards will be exercisedutitviesting and the assumption that all
outstanding stock option awards will be exercisetth@ midpoint of the current date (if already ee8tor at full vesting (if not yet vested) and
the full contractual term. The expected volatiligpresents an average of the implied volatilitytlten Companys publicly traded stock optior
the volatility over the most recent period corraggiog with the expected life, and the Company’glterm reversion volatility. The
Company has assumed no expected dividend yieltiyaends have never been paid to stock or optadédrs and will not be for the
foreseeable future. The weighted average riskifresest rate is the implied yield currently avhi&on zero-coupon government issues with
a remaining term equal to the expected term.

The exercise price of the stock option awats$ the grant date fair value of the restrictedisewards granted under the inducement grant
was $8.20. As of December 31, 2008, 4,166 of thesigicted stock awards have vested.

Note 9 — Employee Benefit Plans

In January 1991, the Company adopted an eraplogtirement plan (“401(k) Plan”) under Sectiod &) of the Internal Revenue Code
covering all employees. Employee contributions fb@ynade to the 401(k) Plan up to limits establidhethe Internal Revenue Service.
Company matching contributions may be made at igeetion of the Board of Directors. The Companydmenatching contributions of
$418,215, $330,559, and $252,735 in 2008, 20072808, respectively.

Note 10 — Collaborative and Other Research and Delapment Contracts

Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (“Shionogi’). In March 2007, the Company entered into an estetulicense agreement with Shionogi to develop
and commercialize the Company’s lead influenza amimidase inhibitor, peramivir, in Japan for theatment of seasonal and potentially life-
threatening human influenza. Under the terms oftireement, Shionogi obtained rights to injecténmulations of peramivir in Japan in
exchange for a $14 million up-front payment. Thefise provides for potential future milestone eyayments (up to $21 million) and
commercial event milestone payments (up to $95anillin addition to double digit (between 10 and®fange) royalty payments on product
sales of peramivir. Generally, all payments untieragreement are nonrefundable and non-creditali¢hey are subject to audit. Shionogi
will be responsible for all development, regulatand marketing costs in Japan. The term of theeageat is from February 28, 2007 until
terminated by either party in accordance with tberlse agreement. Either party may terminate irettlemt of an uncured breach. Shionogi
the right of without cause termination. In the a@vefitermination all license and rights grante&tdonogi shall terminate and shall revert t
to the Company. The Company developed peramivieuadicense from UAB and will owe sublicense pagtago them on the upfront
payment and any future event payments and/or iegakceived by the Company from Shionogi. In Oetd@008, the Company and Shion
amended the license agreement to expand the tgrcibvered by the agreement to include Taiwan argtavide rights for Shionogi to
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perform a Phase lll clinical trial in Hong Kong. December, 2008 Shionogi initiated its phase i#lltBioCryst retains all rights to
commercialize peramivir in North America, Europedather countries outside of Japan, Taiwan, aré#&dn accordance with SAB No. 1
and EITF Issue 00-21, the Company deferred thendillbn up-front payment that was received from@tagi. This deferred revenue began
to be amortized to revenue in April 2007 and wilhtinue through December 2018. In December 20@/Cimpany received a $7 million
milestone payment from Shionogi for their initiatiof a Phase Il clinical trial with i.v. peramivir.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HH8Y January 2007, the Company was awarded a fourgggdract from HHS to
develop its influenza neuraminidase inhibitor, jpaikér, for the treatment of seasonal and life-theaang influenza, including avian flu. The
contract commits $102.6 million to support manufiicly, process validation, clinical studies, angeotproduct approval requirements for
peramivir. The contract with HHS is defined asandard cost-plus-fixed-fee contract. That is, thenPany is entitled to receive
reimbursement for all costs incurred in accordamitle the contract provisions that are related edevelopment of peramivir plus a fixed
fee, or profit. HHS will make periodic assessmaritgrogress and the continuation of the contrabtised on the Company’s performance,
timeliness and quality of deliverables, and otlaetdrs. The government has rights under certaitracirclauses to terminate this contract.
The contract is terminable by the government attang for breach or without cause.

In January 2008, the Company announced tealekielopment plan for peramivir had changed aatlitkvould no longer pursue the
Phase Il i.m. program in peramivir for the curreftuenza season, but would move forward in evithgahigher doses than used in previous
studies. Also in January 2008, the Company annalitie the program would cost in excess of the $L6%llion contract and that any
funding above the $102.6 million may be the respmlity of the Company. Since then, HHS and the @amy have been working in
collaboration through various contract modificaido maximize resources by stopping work on sorogepts (e.g. the Phase Il i.m.
program) and capping expenditures on other projaatsder to maximize remaining funds. HHS and@uwenpany executed a contract
modification that fully funds the Company throudje tompletion of both the phase Il studies in digpés treated with intramuscular
peramivir, the phase Il study in hospitalized pasewith intravenous peramivir, and certain manuwfacg and toxicology components of the
program. The modification also allows the Compamng BIHS to agree on additional development actwitte peramivir within the confirme
$102.6 million funding. All temporary restraintsfexted through a stop work order, have now beemred. Following completion of the
phase Il studies, we expect to continue the diaogith HHS regarding additional funding beyond $1©2.6 million for peramivir
development through U.S. licensure. The originaitiart of $102.6 million and the four year term eémunchanged.

Green Cross Corporation (“Green Cross'ln June 2006, the Company entered into an agreemigtnGreen Cross to develop and
commercialize peramivir in Korea. Under the terrhthe agreement, Green Cross will be responsitslalfalevelopment, regulatory, and
commercialization costs in Korea. The Company raexka one-time license fee of $250,000. The agreeaiso provides for relatively
insignificant future milestone payments. The liceatso provides that the Company will share ini@ésulting from the sale of peramivir
Korea, including the sale of peramivir to the Kargmvernment for stockpiling purposes. Furtherm@meen Cross will pay the Company a
premium over its cost to supply peramivir for deyeghent and any future marketing of peramivir praguc Korea. Both parties have the
right to terminate in the event of an uncured malkd&reach. In the event of termination all righdata, materials, products and other
information would be transferred to the Companyadoordance with SAB No. 104 and EITF Issue 00424 Company deferred the up-front
payment that was received from Green Cross. THexel revenue began to be amortized to revenuaigtl®P06 and will continue through
November 200¢

Mundipharma International Holdings Limited (“Mundiprma”). In February 2006, the Company entered into an skairoyalty
bearing right and license agreement with Mundiplzafon the development and commercialization of@oenpany’s lead PNP inhibitor,
forodesine HCI, for use in oncology. Under the tewhthe agreement, Mundipharma obtained rightertadesine HCI in markets across
Europe, Asia, and Australasia in exchange for ariillilon up-front payment. Mundipharma will shar@% of the documented out of pocket
development costs incurred by the Company in resgfébe current and planned trials as of the d¢iffeadate of the agreement, provided that
Mundipharma’s maximum contribution to these trighsll be $10 million. The Company has incurred apipnately $21.9 million of costs
related to these trials since inception of the egrent (approximately $7.5 million of these costsenacurred during 2008). In addition,
Mundipharma will conduct additional clinical triad$ their own cost up to a maximum of $15 millidine license provides for possibility of
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future event payments totaling $155 million for ieefing specified development, regulatory and conmiaéevents (including certain sales
level amounts following a produstiaunch) for certain indications. In addition, #greement provides that the Company will recedyalties
(ranging from single digits to mid teens) basedgercentage of net product sales, which variesri#ipg upon when certain indications
receive NDA approval in a major market country aad vary by country depending on the patent coweoagales of generic compounds
particular country. Generally, all payments undher agreement are nonrefundable and non-creditati¢hey are subject to audit. The
Company licensed forodesine HCI and other PNP itdritbfrom AECOM and IRL and will owe sublicenseypgents to these third parties on
the upfront payment, event payments, and royaléiesived by the Company from Mundipharma.

For five years, Mundipharma will have a rigifirst negotiation on existing backup PNP inhiog the Company develops through Phase
[Ib in oncology, but any new PNP inhibitors will bgempt from this agreement and the Company wilimeall rights to such compounds.
The Company retained the rights to forodesine H@he U.S. and Mundipharma is obligated by the seofrthe agreement to use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop thenkesl product in the territory specified by the agrent. The agreement will continue for
commercial life of the licensed products, but maytdrminated by either party following an uncureatenial breach by the other party or in
the event the prexisting third party license with AECOM and IRL évgs. It may be terminated by Mundipharma upon &@sdwritten notic
without cause or under certain other conditionspezified in the agreement and all rights, dataenss, products and other information
would be transferred back to the Company at na toshe event the Company terminates the agreefoentaterial default or insolvency,
the Company could have to pay Mundipharma 50% etthsts of any independent data owned by Mundiph@mraccordance with the terms
of the agreement.

In accordance with SAB No. 104 and EITF 1s80€21, the Company deferred the $10 million up-fimeyment that was received from
Mundipharma in February 2006. This deferred revdragan to be amortized to revenue February 200&viheind in October 2017, which
the date of expiration for the last-to-expire pamavered by the agreement. In accordance with E$§&e 99-19 and EITF Issue 01-14, the
costs reimbursed by Mundipharma for the current@adned trials of forodesine HCI are recordedeagmue when the expense is incurre
to the $10 million limit stipulated in the agreerhen

The Company is currently in dispute with Mypitirma regarding the contractual obligations ofpidkties with respect to certain costs
related to the manufacturing and development aidesine HCL. Notwithstanding, the Company doesetieve that it is responsible for a
of the disputed amounts. The Company is engageddning discussion to resolve this dispute. Theimam potential exposure to the
Company is estimated to be approximately $2.5 onillBecause of the preliminary nature of the disiaus, no amounts have been accrut
of December 31, 2008.

F.Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. and Hoffman-La Roche (fRoche”). In November 2005, the Company entered into an skauicense witl
Roche for the development and commercializatiothefCompany’s second generation PNP inhibitor, Bf288, for the prevention of acute
rejection in transplantation and for the treatnafrautoimmune diseases. Under the terms of theeagget, Roche obtained worldwide rights
to BCX-4208 in exchange for a $25 million up-frgatyment and a $5 million payment as reimbursernerd fimited supply of material
during the first 24 months of the collaboration.

In 2005, the Company recorded deferred revefi®@30 million related to the Roche collaboratinraccordance with SAB No. 104 and
EITF Issue 00-21. This deferred revenue began mt@tized to revenue in October 2006, when the W3 transferred to Roche, and was
to continue through August 2023, which is the ddtexpiration for the last-to-expire patent covebgdthe agreement. However, in May 2008
the Company received notice that Roche was exegctbie “no cause” termination right under the leeagreement for BCX-4208. Upon
termination during the fourth quarter of 2008, @@mpany recognized the remaining deferred revendealaferred expense related to the
license agreement, which was $26.5 million and $&I1Ron, respectively.

Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiva @nsity and Industrial Research, Ltd.(“AECOM” andRL" respectively)In June 200(
the Company licensed a series of potent inhibiddBNP from AECOM and IRL. The lead drug candiddtem this collaboration are
Forodesine HCI™ and BCX-4208. The Company has nbthworldwide exclusive rights to develop and udtiety distribute these, or any
other, drug candidates that might arise from re$ean these inhibitors. The Company has the opgti@xpand the Agreement to include
other inventions
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in the field made by the investigators or employee&ECOM and IRL. The Company has agreed to usencercially reasonable efforts to
develop these drugs. In addition, the Company besed to pay certain milestone payments for eaeim$éied product (which range in the
aggregate from $1.4 million to almost $4 milliorr jpedication) for future development of these intabs, single digit royalties on net sales of
any resulting product made by the Company, anéhéoesapproximately one quarter of future paymesteived from other third-party
partners, if any. In addition, the Company has edjite pay annual license fees, which can range $050,000 to $500,000, that are
creditable against actual royalties and other paysndue to AECOM and IRL. This agreement may baitgaited by the Company at any ti
by giving 60 days advance notice or in the evemhaferial uncured breach by AECOM and IRL.

The University of Alabama at Birmingham (“UAB™The Company currently has agreements with UABrifluenza neuraminidase and
complement inhibitors. Under the terms of theseagrents, UAB performed specific research for then@my in return for research
payments and license fees. UAB has granted the @oyngertain rights to any discoveries in thesesaresulting from research developed by
UAB or jointly developed with the Company. The Camnp has agreed to pay single digit royalties oassaf any resulting product and to
share in future payments received from other thady partners. The Company has completed thenedseader the UAB agreements. These
two agreements have initial 25-year terms, areraatizally renewable for five-year terms throughth life of the last patent and are
terminable by the Company upon three months naetickby UAB under certain circumstances. Upon teatiom both parties shall cease
using the other parties proprietary and confidémfarmation and materials, the parties shall flgimwn joint inventions and UAB shall
resume full ownership of all UAB licensed produdthere is currently no activity between the Compangt UAB on these agreements, but
when the Company licenses this technology, suéh & case of the Shionogi and Green Cross agr&sne commercialize products
related to these programs, we will owe subliceess Dr royalties on amounts we receive.

Emory University (“Emory”).In June 2000, the Company licensed intellectugb@rty from Emory related to the hepatitis C polyaser
target associated with hepatitis C viral infectiddader the original terms of the agreement, tiseaech investigators from Emory provided
the Company with materials and technical insighd the target. The Company has agreed to pay Esiogje digit royalties on sales of any
resulting product and to share in future paymesteived from other third party partners, if anyeT@ompany can terminate this agreeme
any time by giving 90 days advance notice. Upomieation, the Company would cease using the licgtsehnology.

Note 11 — Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2008, the Financial Accounting StandaBdard (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Aagting Standards No. 16Zhe
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Prineg(“Statement No. 162"). Statement No. 162 identiffes sources of accounting
principles and the framework for selecting the gipies to be used in the preparation of finandialesnents that are presented in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles.&tent No. 162 was effective in November 2008 amtinfmaimpact on the Company’s
financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued StatementLBi@,Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financ&htement§'Statement
No. 16("). Statement No. 160 establishes accounting apdrtiag standards that require the ownership istsri@ subsidiaries’ non-parent
owners be clearly presented in the equity sectidghebalance sheet; requires the amount of cateseldl net income attributable to the parent
and to the normontrolling interest be clearly identified and eted on the face of the consolidated statementofme; requires that chanc
in a parent’s ownership interest while the paretdins its controlling financial interest in itshsidiary be accounted for consistently; requires
that when a subsidiary is deconsolidated, anyrretahon-controlling equity investment in the forrsabsidiary be initially measured at fair
value and the gain or loss on the deconsolidatigheosubsidiary be measured using the fair vafuang non-controlling equity; and requires
that entities provide disclosures that clearly tidfgrhe interests of the parent and the intere§tiie non-controlling owners. Statement
No. 160 is effective as of the beginning of antg’s first fiscal year that begins after December2@)8. The Company has not determined
the impact, if any, this statement will have orfiitsincial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued StatemeRinaincial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised73Business Combinations
(“Statement No. 141R”). In Statement No. 141R,RASB retained the fundamental
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requirements of Statement No. 141 to account fdrusiness combinations using the acquisition net(fimrmerly the purchase method) and
for an acquiring entity to be identified in all lisss combinations. However, the new standard regjtiie acquiring entity in a business
combination to recognize all (and only) the asaetpiired and liabilities assumed in the transagtsiablishes the acquisition-date fair value
as the measurement objective for all assets aahaird liabilities assumed; and requires the acgtordisclose to investors and other user

of the information they need to evaluate and uridadsthe nature and financial effect of the busireesmbination. Statement No. 141R is
effective for annual periods beginning on or aBecember 15, 2008. The Company has not yet detedhire impact, if any, that Statement
No. 141R will have on its financial statemet

In November 2007, a final consensus was rehoheEmerging Issues Task Force Issue 0&etpunting for Collaborative Arrangements
Related to the Development and Commercializatidnteflectual Property(“EITF Issue 07-1"). EITF Issue 07-1 will requiteet Company to
disclose the nature and purpose of its collabagadivangements in its annual financial stateméstgghts and obligations under the
collaborative arrangements, the stage of the uyidgrendeavors’ life cycle, the Company’s accounfiolicies for the arrangements and the
income statement classification and amount of Sianit financial statement amounts related to tiiaborative arrangements. EITF Issue 07-
1 will be effective for fiscal years beginning afi@ecember 15, 2008 and will require the Compangpiply it as a change in accounting
principle through retrospective application tomibr periods for all collaborative arrangementstng as of the effective date. The Comp.
is currently assessing the impact of EITF 07-1tsffimancial statements.

Note 12 — Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share)

First Second Third Fourth

2008 Quarters

Revenue! $ 10,76¢ $ 2,65¢ $ 8,89« $34,24(

Net (loss) incomi (13,099 (22,709 (8,995 10,07(

Net (loss) income per sha (.39 (.33 (.24 .2€
2007 Quarters

Revenue: $ 9,15¢ $ 13,44« $ 20,46 $28,17:

Net loss (8,825 (6,96%) (20,989 (2,289

Net loss per shai (.30 (-29 (.32 (.06)

Net loss per share each year may differ fioentotal of the individual quarters due to rounding
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm on Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sbhé&ioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of Decen3lie2008 and 2007, and the related
statements of operations, stockholders’ equitycash flows for each of the three years in the gegioded December 31, 2008. These
financial statements are the responsibility of@mnpany’s management. Our responsibility is to egpian opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance wittsthadards of the Public Company Accounting Ovéaidgpard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on lasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements reddrto above present fairly, in all material respethe financial position of BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2008 and, 20@I'the results of its operations and its cashidlfor each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity witS. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with téwedards of the Public Company Accounting Oversigdrd (United States), BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over ficiahreporting as of December 31, 2008, based iberier established imternal Control—
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission and our report dateccm8é, 200!
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Birmingham, Alabama
March 6, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm on Internal Control

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Incterimal control over financial reporting as of Ded®m31, 2008, based on criteria
established internal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring OrganizatidiiBe Treadway Commission
(the COSO criteria). BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, fnmanagement is responsible for maintaining eifffednternal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecegsrof internal control over financial reportinglirded in the accompanying Management'’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporti®urr responsibility is to express an opinion aa @ompany’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8dé@/nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordv@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiadpthe design and operating effectiveness ofiiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considereessary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircéal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (8jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. niaimed, in all material respects, effective intéuntrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the balance shi

of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of DecembeB0D8 and 2007, and the related statements oatipes, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghbecember 31, 2008 of BioCryst Pharmaceuticats,dnd our report dated March 6, 2009
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Birmingham, Alabama
March 6, 2009
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls amt@dures that are designed to ensure that infmeglating to BioCryst Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. required to be disclosed in our periodic fignunder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, anded (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported in a timely erammder the Exchange Act of 1934. We carried awaluation as required by
paragraph (b) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 unidemBxchange Act,, under the supervision and wighptirticipation of management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief kirtial Officer, of the effectiveness of the desagual operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) oz Rbidl15 under the Exchange Act). Based upon that evafyahe Chief Executive Offic
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as etBmber 31, 2008, our disclosure controls and poes are effective. The Company
believes that its disclosure controls and procesiwi# ensure that information required to be dised in the reports filed or submitted by it
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, suized and reported within the time periods spedifn the rules and forms of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and includéasrand procedures designed to ensure that irdom required to be disclosed by
BioCryst in such reports is accumulated and compaiad to our management, including the ChairmanCinidf Executive Officer and Chi
Financial Officer of BioCryst, as appropriate ttoal timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Ithe (Company”) is responsible for establishing amintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting and for the assessmetit@kffectiveness of internal control over finahocgporting. As defined by the Securities ¢
Exchange Commission, internal control over finaha@orting is a process designed by, or undestipervision of our principal executive
and principal financial officers and effected by &oard of Directors, management and other perdptmprovide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of the consolidated financiakesteents in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reportiisgsupported by written policies and procedures (thapertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fagfect our transactions and dispositions of ouetssg2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perapiaation of the consolidated financial statemangccordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and exipems$ of BioCryst are being made only in accor@awith authorizations of our
management and directors; and (3) provide reaserssiurance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a mateffiact on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, interoahtrol over financial reporting may not preventdetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periagssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of our aarfinancial statements, management has underamkassessment of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2008, based on criteria establishedt@rial Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (the COSO Frameworlgndfjement’s assessment
included an evaluation of the design of our inteowatrol over financial reporting and testing bétoperational effectiveness of those
controls.

Based on this assessment, management hasided¢hat as of December 31, 2008, our internatrcbover financial reporting was
effective. Management believes our internal corarar financial reporting will provide reasonabsarance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanteWiS. generally accepted accounting
principles.
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Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registguablic accounting firm that audited our financietements included in this report, has
issued an attestation report on the Company’sriaterontrol over financial reporting, a copy of wtiappears on page 70 of this annual
report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There have been no changes in our interndtaasver financial reporting that occurred durihg quarter ended December 31, 2008 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The information required by this item is s&t under the captioritems to be Voted on — 1. Election of Director&xecutive
Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Refing Compliance”and“Corporate Governance'in our definitive Proxy Statement for
the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and inceaifed herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is sattfi under the captiotiExecutive Compensationih our definitive Proxy Statement for the
2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and incorpatdterein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this item is s&ti under the captiori€quity Compensation Plan Informatiordnd “ Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Managemeint’our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2009 AahMeeting of Stockholders and incorpore
herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS

The information required by this item is s&ti under the captiori€ertain Relationships and Related Transactiorsid “Corporate
Governance in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2009rAral Meeting of Stockholders and incorporated Imelogireference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is s&tti under the captiotitems to be Voted on — 2. Ratification of Appoiatrof Independent
Registered Public Accounta” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2009 AahMeeting of Stockholders and incorporated hebgin
reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements

Page in
Form 10K
The following financial statements appear in Iteiwf 8his Form 1-K:

Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 50
Statements of Operations for the years ended Dese&ih 2008, 2007 and 20 51
Statements of Stockhold’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2008, 20@7200¢ 52
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Deme8il 2008, 2007 and 20 53
Notes to Financial Statemer 54
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn on Financial Statemer 69
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfiiimgn on Internal Contrc 70

No financial statement schedules are included lz=cthe information is either provided in the fin@hstatements or is not required under
related instructions or is inapplicable and sudiedales therefore have been omitted.

(b) Exhibits. See Index of Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢dl) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, tlgiRrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized on March 6, 2009.

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Jon P. Stonehous
Jon P. Stonehous
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secuiitiehange Act of 1934, this report has been sidnabolv by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities indicated/arch 6, 2009:

Signature

/s/ Jon P. Stonehouse

(Jon P. Stonehous

/s/ Stuart Grant

(Stuart Grant

/s/ J. Michael Mills

(J. Michael Mills)

/sl Stephen R. Biggar

(Stephen R. Biggar, M.D., Ph.LC

(Stanley C. Erck

s/ William W. Featheringill

(William W. Featheringill)

(John L. Higgins

/sl Zola P. Horovitz

(Zola P. Horovitz, Ph.D.

/sl Beth C. Seidenberg

(Beth C. Seidenberg, M.D

/sl Randolph C. Steer

(Randolph C. Steer, M.D., Ph.L

Title(s)

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officed dreasurer

Controller and Principal Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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4.1

4.2
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10.2&

10.3&

10.4&

10.5&

10.6&

10.7#

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

(10.12)

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Description

Third Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Retnt. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1thie& Company’s Form 8-K
filed December 22, 2001

Certificate of Amendment to the Third Restated iflestte of Incorporation of Registrant. Incorpormitay reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Compalr's Form K filed July 24, 2007

Certificate of Increase of Authorized Number of &saof Series B Junior Participating Preferred IStbtcorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Comp’s Form &K filed November 4, 200¢

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant effe@iember 29, 2008. Incorporated by reference taliix8.2 to the
Compan’s Form K filed November 4, 200¢

Rights Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2002, bybatwieen the Company and American Stock Transféru&t Company, as
Rights Agent, which includes the Certificate of @@stion for the Series B Junior Participating Bredd Stock as Exhibit A
and the form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit Bcdnporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the ComyfsaForm 8-A filed

June 17, 200z

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of Augug087. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2hef Company’s
Form 1(-Q filed August 9, 2007

Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedigédeebruary 28, 2008. Incorporated by referencgpgpendix A to the
Compan’s Definitive Proxy Statement, filed April 16, 20(

Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended andekstéctive February 28, 2008. Incorporated bgregice to Appendix B
to the Compar’s Definitive Proxy Statement, filed April 16, 20(

Retention Bonus Agreement between BioCryst Pharoigeds, Inc. and Stuart Grant dated May 21, 20@&rporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Comp’s Form 1i-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Retention Bonus Agreement between BioCryst Pharotmeds, Inc. and David McCullough dated May 21020Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Comp’s Form 1i-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Employment Letter Agreement between BioCryst Phaguticals, Inc. and William P. Sheridan dated JL@e2008.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of tlerpanys Form 1+-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Consulting Agreement between BioCryst Pharmacestitiac. and J. Claude Bennett, M.D. dated Jun€Q@8. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Comp’s Form 1i-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Agreement dated January 3, 2007, between BioChatrRaceuticals, Inc. and the Department of Headthiuman Services,
as amended by Amendment number 1 dated Janua®p3,ehd Amendment number 2 dated May 11, 2007 rjhacated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Comp’s Form 1i-Q filed August 9, 2007

Amendment #3 to the Agreement between BioCrystiRheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtdmehan Services,
dated October 2, 2007. Incorporated by referenéextobit 10.6 of the Compa’'s Form 1K filed March 4, 2008

Amendment #4 to the Agreement between BioCrystiRaeeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtmehan Services
dated April 3, 2008. Incorporated by referencebikit 10.29 of the Compar's Form 1-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Amendment #5 to the Agreement between BioCrystiiaeeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtdmehan Services
dated July 2, 2008. Incorporated by reference tailiix10.30 of the Compar's Form 1-Q filed August 8, 200¢

Amendment #6 to the Agreement between BioCrystiRaeeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtmehan Services
dated August 18, 2008. Incorporated by referen¢extabit 10.1 of the Compa’'s Form K filed November 7, 200¢

Amendment #7 to the Agreement between BioCrystiiheeuticals, Inc. and the Department of Healthtdmehan Services
dated November 17, 20C
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Number
10.13&
10.14&

10.15&

10.16&

10.17&

10.18#

(10.19%)

10.20&

10.21&

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25&

10.26

10.27#

10.28#

Description
Annual Incentive Plan. Incorporated by referencEsthibit 10.1 of the Compars Form 1K filed March 4, 2008
Executive Relocation Policy. Incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.2 of the Compé’'s Form 1-K filed March 4, 2008

Amendment to Employment Letter Agreement for St@eint Dated July 23, 2007. Incorporated by refegen Exhibit 10.3 ¢
the Compan’'s Form 1+K filed March 4, 2008

Form of Notice of Grant of Non-Employee DirectortAmatic Stock Option and Stock Option Agreementotporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Comp’s Form 1+K filed March 4, 2008

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stoghtion Agreement. Incorporated by reference to ExHi0.5 of the
Compan’s Form 1-K filed March 4, 2008

License, Development and Commercialization Agredrdated as of February 28, 2007, by and betwee@¢imepany and
Shionogi & Co., Ltd. Incorporated by reference tdibit 10.4 to the Compar's Form 1i-Q filed May 10, 2007

First Amendment to License, Development and Comiakzation Agreement, effective as of September28l)8, between the
Company and Shionogi & Co., Lt

Employment Letter Agreement dated April 2, 2007 abg between the Company and David McCullough.rpmated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed May 10, 2007

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreemeaatidéebruary 14, 2007, by and between the Compaahyan P.
Stonehouse. Incorporated by reference to Exhibk2l the Company’s Form 10-K for the year endeddnber 31, 2006,
filed March 14, 2007

Warehouse Lease dated July 12, 2000 between RBP abhlAlabama Limited Liability Company and the Retgint for
office/warehouse space. Incorporated by referemé&exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for teeand quarter ending
June 30, 2000 filed August 8, 20(

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement dated Augu20@7, by and between Riverchase Capital LLC, aidddimited liability
company, Stow Riverchase, LLC, a Florida limiteabllity company, as successor landlord to RBP, land the Company.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of therpany s Form 1-Q filed August 9, 2007

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated asagisié, 2007, by and among BioCryst Pharmaceutitiadsand each of
the Investors identified on the signature pagesetbelncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1h&f Company’s Form 8-filed
August 7, 2007

Employment letter agreement between BioCryst Pheguticals, Inc. and Stuart Grant dated July 23720tcorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Comp’s Form &K filed July 26, 2007

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Februar300B, by and among BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Beker Bros.
Investments, L.P., Baker Biotech Fund II, L.P., 8aBros. Investments Il, L.P., Baker Biotech Fuh¢¥), L.P., Baker/Tisch
Investments, L.P., Baker Biotech Fund Ill, L.P.kBaBiotech Fund I, L.P., Baker Biotech Fund Il)(Z.P. and 14159, L.P.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the @any's Form K filed February 17, 200¢

Development and License Agreement dated as of Bepdy 2006, by and between BioCryst Pharmacestitat. and
Mundipharma International Holdings Limited (Portsoomitted pursuant to request for confidentialttresnt.) Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Comp’s Form -K/A filed May 2, 2006.

License Agreement dated as of June 27, 2000, byanahg Albert Einstein College of Medicine, IndisdtResearch, Ltd. and
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by itls¢ Amendment Agreement dated as of July 26, 20@Pthe Second
Amendment Agreement dated as of April 15, 2005rt{®ws omitted pursuant to request for confiderttiehtment.)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thenPany s Form &K filed November 30, 200¢
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Number

10.29#

10.30

10.31

(10.328)

(23)

(31.1)
(31.2)
(32.1)

(32.2)

Description
Development and License Agreement dated as of Nbge20, 2005, by and between BioCryst Pharmacdsitice. and
F.Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche [fRortions omitted pursuant to request for confidémteatment.)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thenpany's Form K/A filed December 22, 200!
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Decemb@008, by and among BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Kieiner Perkins
Caufield & Byers, Texas Pacific Group Ventures &RV, LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 40lthe Company’s
Form &K filed December 16, 200!
Nomination and Observer Agreement, dated as of iDbee 16, 2005, by and between BioCryst Pharmaadsfitnc. anc
Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers. Incorporated lejerence to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form 8i&df December 16,
2005.

Severance Agreement and General Release betwebadllidarwin and BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.eddecember 31,
2008.

Consent of Ernst & Young, Independent Registerddi®éccounting Firm.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursiiao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursiao Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

* Confidential treatment request¢
#  Confidential treatment grante
&  Management contract

() Filed herewith
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EXHIBIT 10.12

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/IMODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT 10 CODE FPAGE OF PAGES
1 | 2
2. AMENDMENTMODIFICATION NO: 3. EFFECTIVE DATE |4, REQUISITION/FURC 5. PROJECT NO. [If appiicable)
Saven (7) See block 160 NiA N/A
6. ISSUED BY CODE 7. ADMINISTERED BY UFf other than ltem 6) CODE|

Biomedical Advanced Rasearch and Development Authority
U8, Departmant of Health and Human Services

330 Independanze Avenug, SW Room GE40

Washington, DC 20201

. MAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR (Mo, siresl, courriy. State and ZIP Code) A, AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION MO,

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Ing. BB, DATED (SEE ITEM 17}
2190 Parkway Lake Drive
Birmingham, AL 35244
DUNS 61-819-4509

TIN 82-1413174

10A.MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT( ORDER
X HHS0100200700032C

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13
CODE [FaciuTy cope 01-03-07
11, THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICITATIONS

#~ Tha above numbered soliciation is amendad as set forth In ltem 14. The hour and date spocifiod for receipt of Offers ™ is sxtended, ™ Is not sxtended,

Offers must acknowledge recsipt of this amondment grior to the hour Bnd datn specifisd in the solicitaban or a8 amendad, by one ol tha follewing metheds: (al By complating
Mamns B and 15, andrsturndng _______ eopiss of the smandment; {l] By acknowbedging receipt of this amendment on sach copy of e offar submittad; or (c) By
sapatats leties cf telegram wihich includes & referenca to the solicitation ard amaadment numbers, FAILUARE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT THE PLACE
OESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER, If by virbug of this amandmant, you
dasire to changs an offer already suomitted, such change my ba made by telegram o better, provided cach tologram or latter makes refersnce to tha solicitation and this
smandment, and |6 racalved priar 1o the opening hour and date soecified.

12, ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA UIf reguirad)

S0CC: DOCH# Tin# LOC# CANY
13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF CONTRACTS/ORDERS; IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14,
A, THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO: [Specify authorityl THE CHANGES SET FOATH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THE

COMNTRACT ORDER NO. IN ITEM T0A.

B, THE ABOWVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TO REFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES [such as changes in paying
affics, sppropration date, eic.) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY OF FAR 43.103[b).

X |C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT 15 ENTERED INTO PURSUANT TO AUTHORITY OF:
FAR B2.242-15 Stop-Work Order; FAR 52.232-20 Limitation of Cost.

. OTHER (Specify fype of modificetion and authanty)

E. IMPORTANT: Coentracter [] is not, [X] is required to sign this document and return 2 coples to the issuing office.
14. DESCRIPTION OF MODIFICATION i0vpanized by LICF section hesdings, including solisitanion/oentidct sulyiect macner whees fangi's]

PURPOSE: Tha purposa of this modificatian is to:
1. Cancel the Stop-Work Order lssuad on January 4, 2008, in sccordance with FAR Clause 52,242-15, Stop Work Order.
2. Modify tha contract as described on Page 2 of this modification.

The total contract amount remains unchanged. (9102,661,428)

The contract camplation date remains unchenged. (Decembaer 31, 2010)

Except as provided harein, all terms and conditions rafaranced in item 94 or 104, remaln in full force and affect.

16A. NAME AMD TITLE OF SIGNER (Type or print) 164, NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER [Twpe or pring

MIbM D&ﬂtﬂrﬁ Up"o {ﬁ:ﬂamw Schuyler T. Eldridge
'IEEWH 16C, DATE SIGNED |16B. %@A 1HC7TE SIGNED
: | []-17-09 [ : 2069
|Signature of person abthorized to sign) [1-17-0% ‘ iSighature 6f Contraciing JI:/

MSN 7540-01-162-8070 OMB No. 09800116 S£TANDARD FORM 30 (REV. 10-83]




HHS0O10020070003Z
Modification # 00
Page 2 of

1. The Stop Work Order issued on January 4, 2008nagtiis contract is hereby cancell

2. The following activities will be completed, not eeding the costs estimated in the BioCryst Cogpédal dated November 7, 2008,
incorporated as an Attachment to this contractgatisn J.

. BARDA approves the proposed costs associatedaliitital trial completion, including a completergtal study report, for the
following studies;

Clinical Trail Study BC>-1812-106
Clinical Trail Study BC)>-1812-201
Clinical Trail Study BC>-1812-212
. Ongoing stability studies required for licensuréoth the i.v. and i.m. formulation
. Any nor-clinical toxicology or carcinogenicity studies ttae ongoing and are required for licensure ofeeitbrmulation.

3. Milestone 3 Feasibility Plan listed on page 10h&f tontract in Article F.3. Contract Deliverablesiue 60 days after the effective date of
this Modification No. 7

4. All other activities listed in this contract andtmeferenced above shall be initiated only afteawiing prior approval from the Contracting
Officer in writing.

5. The revised Contract-defined Milestone Schedule and Gantt chart arerparated as an Attachment to this contract in $acli

6. The Key Personnel listed on page 12 of the coninatticle G.3. Key Personnel is removed in itsieaty and replaced with the followir

Name Title
William P. Sheridan, M.D Chief Medical Officer, Principal Investigat
Elliott Berger, Ph.D Sr. Vice President, Regulatory Affa
Walter G. Gowan, Ph.L Vice Presiden— Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Cont
Phillip J. Collis, Ph.D Executive Director of Clinical Development, Sub éstigatol
Yahya E-Kattan, Ph.D Director of Quality Control and Analytical Dej
Adele Jennt Director of Quality Assuranc
Amy McCullough, R.N., M.P.H Director of Clinical Developmer

7. All other terms and conditions of this contract eemin full force and effec



Exhibit 10.19

Pursuant to 17 CFR 240.24b-2, confidential informabn has been omitted in places marked “* * *” and las been filed separately with
the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant @ Confidential Treatment Application filed with the Commission.

FIRST AMENDMENT
TO
LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT AND COMMERCIALIZATION AGREEMEN T

This First Amendment (thisAmendment”) to the License, Development and Commercializagreement between BioCryst
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. BioCryst ) and Shionogi & Co., Ltd. (Shionogi”), dated as of February 28, 2007 (thadgreement”), shall be
effective as of September 30, 2008 (tH&rst Amendment Date”).

WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17.14 of the &grent, the Agreement may be amended in writingibZB/st and Shionogi; and

WHEREAS, BioCryst and Shionogi desire to am#edAgreement to expand the Territory to Taiwaafi(ebd below) and to provide rigt
for Shionogi to perform a Phase Il Clinical TrinIHong Kong (defined below), which is outside Wegritory.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutt@lenants and promises contained herein and iAgheement, BioCryst and
Shionogi, intending to be legally bound hereby, adheipdate and supplement the Agreement as follows:

1. Amendment of the Agreementhe parties hereby agree to amend the Agreereifattive as of the First Amendment Date as follows

a. Definitions. The following definitions shall be added to Sewtll.1 of the Agreement, as follov
(fff)* Hong Kong " means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Regibthe People’s Republic of China.
(ggg) 2008 Trial " means the Phase Il Clinical Trial described int®@c5.1(a), below.
(hhh) “Taiwan " means the territories of Taiwan, Republic of China.

b. Territory. Section 1.1(bbb) of the Agreement is hereby amérahd restated in its entirety asT&rritory " means Japan and
Taiwar”.

c. References to Japi. The following references “Japa” or “Japanes” are hereby amended and restated in their entisctyllaws:

1(h)y* cGMPs” means the United States then-current good manufiagtpractices and the equivalent standards of3tveernmental
Entities in the Territory.
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the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant & Confidential Treatment Application filed with the Commission.

1(aa) IND” means an Investigation of a New Drug Filing (or Japanese or Taiwanese equivalent) with a Regylatathority in
the Territory for purposes of obtaining permissioinitiate human clinical testing in such juristito.

1(oo0) ‘NDA " means a New Drug Application (or the Japanese ovdrese equivalent), including all supplements ameéndments
thereto, for the approval of the Licensed Prodsc aew drug by the MHLW or applicable Regulatonti#ority in the Territory.

d. Section 2.1. Section 2.1 is hereby amended and restated émiiety as
License Grant; Reservation of RightgtRito Conduct 2008 Trial in Hong Kong

(a) Solely to the extent necessary for Shiotmgerform its obligations hereunder in accordawith the terms of this Agreement,
and subject to all of the rights retained hereun8erCryst hereby grants Shionogi a personal, ndslisensable, non-transferable, non-
assignable right and license under the BioCrystiatand BioCryst Know-How, to (i) exclusively Dése Licensed Products solely in
the Field and in the Territory, and (ii) exclusiy€ommercialize Licensed Products solely in théd=énd in the Territory. The
foregoing license grant shall be deemed to exterghionogi’s Affiliate, Taiwan Shionogi & CO., Lt¢:Shionogi Taiwan”) solely with
respect to activities in Taiwan. Other than asiekpl set forth in this Section 2.1, no other Ises to the BioCryst Intellectual Property
Rights or otherwise (including but not limited tbréaghts in BioCryst Intellectual Property Rightsitside the Field and outside the
Territory) are granted in this Agreemetit: .

(b) In connection with the 2008 Trial, andyofdr such purpose, BioCryst hereby grants Shiotlogiimited, nonexclusive right to
conduct the 2008 Trial in Hong Kong. For the pugsosf clarity, it is understood and agreed thafdinegoing right set forth in this
Section 2.1(b) is granted in furtherance of Shia@sagghts in the Territory, is subject in all resgs to all of the terms and conditions set
forth in this Agreement including the license grantl retained rights, including in Sections 2.5@) 2.3, and does not include any
further rights to Develop or Commercialize in Hdfgng. All rights granted under this Section 2.1gball terminate upon the
completion of the 2008 Trial.

e. Section 2.2. Section 2.2 is hereby amended and restated émiisety as
Manufacturing*** .
f. Section 3.5(f. The following is hereby added as a new Secti&f)3.

(f) BioCryst will be obligated to supply Licensedoduct and Compound to Shionogi pursuant to thigiGe 3.5 (and otherwise under
this Agreement) only in Japan, and not in any okheation, including Taiwan, unless otherwise adriein writing by the Parties.

g. Section 3.t. The following is hereby added to the end of S#c8.6:

2
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n.

BioCryst will be obligated to supply Compound tda@togi pursuant to this Section 3.6 (and otherwisder this Agreement) only in
Japan, and not in any other location, includingvBai, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by theiBs.

Section 5.1. The following is hereby added at the end of tkistang Section 5.1

Shionogi hereby acknowledges and agrees that, tihst@nding the fact that the Territory includesjtivesdictions of Japan and Taiwan,
Shionogi shall give priority to its Developmentiaities and achievement of the Milestone EventSath in Section 5.6 in Japan over
Taiwan.

Section 5.1(a. The following is hereby added as a new Secti@(a}.of the Agreemen

5.1(a) 2008 Trial DiligenceShionogi hereby agrees to use Diligent Effortaridertake and complete the 2008 Trial in accorelavith
the criteria and time frames set forth on Sche8iuléa), solely at Shionogi’s cost and expense.

Section 5.Z. Section 5.2 is hereby amended and restated émiiety as

Product Development outside the Territo@ther than as expressly set forth in Sectionb?.4d solely with respect to Hong Kong,
BioCryst shall have sole decision-making authaonitth regard to the Development and CommercializatibLicensed Products outside
the Territory (and no rights under this Agreemestgranted to Shionogi outside the Territory).

Section 6.€. The following is herby added to the end of thistaxg Section 6.6 of the Agreeme

In no event may Shionogi or any Affiliate of Shigmalirectly or indirectly register, or attempt tegister, or assert any rights to any
party in respect of any translation of a trademeddmain name or trade name owned by BioCryst.

Section 9.%. The preamble of Section 9.3 is herby amendedestdted in its entirety a

Royalty Paymentsin partial consideration for the licenses andhtsggranted to Shionogi under this Agreement, Sigoshall pay to

BioCryst the following royalty payments, on a cayrlby-country basis within the Territory (pursudntthe currency and exchange
provisions set forth in Section 9.6 herein andtéxes provision in Section 9.7 herein), as caledldtased on Net Sales in Japanese
regardless of the country of sale (as converte@revhpplicable), which shall be paid withitt the end of each calendar quarter:

Section 9.3(c). Section 9.3(c) is hereby amendedestated in its entirety &

Term. The term for the obligations to pay royalties enthis Section 9.3 shall expire on a country-bystoy basis within the Territory
on the date that is the later of {ff and (ii)*** . If the royalty obligations in this Section 9.3@xe prohibited by applicable Law, then
the royalty obligations shall continue until suahée as the obligation is prohibited by applicabéal

Section 9.3(d). Section 9.3(d) is hereby amendédestated in its entirety ¢
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p.

Patent Coverage Adjustmernif there is no Valid Claim that, but for this Agggment would be infringed by the manufacture, usale
of Licensed Product in either Japan or Taiwan, therroyalty obligations from Shionogi to BioCrgstall be reduced b§* . If there is
a Valid Claim in Japan, and if

(i)
rxk then** : OR
(ii)
*k%k ,then***
Where:

. GPS = the number of units of Generic Products soldpan for a given period, a
. LPS = the number of units of Licensed Products solthpan for a given perio

For purposes of this Section 9.3(d) the numberudits” sold shall be appropriately adjusted to accounufots of varying volumes.
Section 9.3(f). Section 9.3(f) is hereby amendedirastated in its entirety ¢

Royalty Reports All royalty payments shall be accompanied by ternitreports from Shionogi to BioCryst, showing tloe calendar
quarter for which such payment applies, in U.S.I&e] all information required by BioCryst to verthe royalty payments payable
hereunder, including but not limited to the infotioa set forth on Schedule 9.3(f) for each coumtithin the Territory, and any other
information customary with industry standards @ frerritory.

Section 10... The references t‘the Territon” in Section 10.1 are hereby changeJapa’”.

2. Shionogi Taiwan Shionogi hereby guarantees the obligations obi®8¥gi Taiwan and agrees to ensure that Shionogidracomplies with
each and every one of Shionogi’s obligations utiderAgreement.

3. No Other ChangesExcept as expressly modified by this Amendmédhteems and conditions of the Agreement shall rienira full force

and effect.

4. Interpretation of Certain Term4ll terms which are capitalized but not definedhis Amendment shall have the meanings ascribéuei

Agreement. The words “this Agreement,” “hereundéngreof’ and other similar words in the Agreement from afterahe First Amendmei
Date shall mean and include the Agreement as amdmeteby.

5. Governing Law; VenueThis Amendment shall be governed by and constameldenforced in accordance with the laws of tlaeeSif New

York without regard to choice-of-law principlestbe State
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of New York. All actions arising under this Amendmevhich are not arbitrable shall be brought in $ittete and Federal Courts located in
New York County, New York. The Parties hereby igeably submit to the jurisdiction of such cou

6. Counterparts This Amendment may be executed in two or morentayparts, each of which shall be deemed an ofigié all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instiime

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have aixgcuted this Amendment as a sealed instrumemdbyhaough their duly
authorized representatives.

BIOCRYST PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. Shionogi & Co., Ltd.
2190 Parkway Lake Drive 1-8, Doshomachi 3-chome
Birmingham, Alabama 35244 Chuo-ku, Osaka 541-0045
United State: Japan
By: /s/ David McCullougt By: /s/ Takuko Yamada Sawa
Name David McCullough Name Takuko Yamada Sawada
VP Corp. Dev., Strategy, Commercial Corporate Officer, Executive General
Title: Title: Manager, Pharmaceutical Development
Div.
Date October 15, 200 Date October 3, 200:
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SCHEDULE 5.1(a)
PHASE Il CLINICAL TRIAL DESCRIPTION

The Phase Il trial which Shionogi plans to condadhe 2008/2009 flu season and use for regisméti the Territory for the purpose of
receiving Marketing Approval from the RegulatorytAarities in the Territory for the treatment of seaal flu. The formulation in this Phase
[l study will be administered intravenously.



Exhibit 10.32

SEVERANCE AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

ThisSEVERANCE AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by MichaahBin
(“Employee”) and BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inch€tCompany”).

The Company currently employs Employee as Yi@sident, Finance. The parties desire to termitiet employment relationship
effective December 31, 2008. Employee also desigsrance benefits. The parties have agreed upeptable terms as described herein.
Employee represents that he has carefully readrtiee Agreement, understands its consequences,chmakarily enters into it.

In consideration of the above and the mutuaitrfises set forth below, Employee and the Compagngeaas follows:

1. SEPARATION Employee’s employment with the Company will temate, effective December 31, 2008.

2. SEVERANCE BENEFITSThe Company will:
(i) pay Employee severance pay in the amotiii 61,713 (less applicable withholdings) payahla iump sum on the first regular
payday after the revocation period set forth irageaph 8 below expires;

(ii) reimburse Employee for the COBRA premiutinat he actually pays to continue his coveragesutite Company’s group
health/dental plan during the 12-month period imiaiedly following the effective termination date. tding in this Agreement shall
constitute a guarantee of COBRA continuation coyermar benefits. Employee shall be solely respoedii all obligations in electing
COBRA continuation coverage and taking all stepsessary to qualify for such coverage. In the etlemithe receives a reimbursement
check for a COBRA premium that he did not actupHy, then he shall return the reimbursement cheaokeadiately to the Company; and

(i) provide Employee with an executive oatpément assistance package, package and providerctoosen by the Company.
The severance benefits afforded under thiégent are in lieu of any other compensation oefitsrto which Employee otherwise might

be entitled.
3. ACCRUED VACATION. The Company will pay Employee for any accruedunitiken vacation.
4. RELEASE In consideration of the benefits conferred by thgreementEMPLOYEE (ON BEHALF OF HIMSELF AND HIS

ASSIGNS, HEIRS AND OTHER




REPRESENTATIVES) RELEASES THE COMPANY, ITS PREDECESSORS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS AND ITS AND/OR
THEIR PAST, PRESENT AND FUTURE OWNERS, PARENTS, SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES, PREDECESSORS,

SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEESEMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (TOGETHER WITH ALL

PLAN ADMINISTRATORS, TRUSTEES, FIDUCIARIES AND INSU RERS) AND AGENTS (“RELEASEES”") FROM ALL

CLAIMS AND WAIVES ALL RIGHTS KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, HE MAY HAVE OR CLAIM TO HA VE RELATING TO HIS
EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COMPANY, ITS PREDECESSORS, SUBS IDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OR HIS SEPARATION
THEREFROM arising before the execution of the Agreement,udirig but not limited talaims: (i) for discrimination, harassment or
retaliation arising under federal, state or loead prohibiting age (including but not limited fains under the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967 (ADEA), as amended), sexiomal origin, race, religion, disability, veteratatus or other protected class
discrimination, harassment or retaliation for potee activity; (ii) for compensation and benefitsc{uding but not limited to claims under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974amended, (“ERISA”), Fair Labor Standards Act 0849FLSA), as amended, and
similar federal, state, and local laws; (iii) undederal, state or local law of any nature whatsoéwcluding but not limited to constitutional,
statutory, tort, express or implied contract oreotbommon law); and (iv) for attorneys’ fees. Thiease of claims set forth in this paragraph
does not apply to claims for workers’ compensatienefits or unemployment benefits filed with th@lagable state agencies.

5. AGENCY CHARGES/INVESTIGATIONSNothing in this Agreement shall prohibit Employfeam filing a charge or participating in
an investigation or proceeding conducted by the Bdsaial Employment Opportunity Commission or oth@vernmental agency with
jurisdiction concerning the terms, conditions angifgges of his employment; provided, however tthya signing this Agreement, Employ
waives his right to, and shall not seek or accampy, monetary or other relief of any nature whatsoé@v connection with any such charges,
investigations or proceedings.

6. COVENANT NOT TO SUEEmployee will not sue Releasees on any matteringlto his employment arising before the executt
this Agreement, including but not limited to clainnsder the ADEA, or join as a party with others whay sue Releasees on any such claims;
provided, however, this paragraph will not bar alledmge under the Older Workers Benefit Protecichof 1990 (OWBPA), to the
enforceability of the waiver and release of ADEAigis set forth in this Agreement, claims for wok@ompensation or unemployment
benefits referenced in paragraph 4 above, or whibierwise prohibited by law. If Employee does ruitla by this paragraph, then (i) he will
return all monies received under this Agreementiaddmnify Releasees for all expenses they incdefiending the action, and (ii) Releas
will be relieved of its obligations hereunder.

7. COMPANY INFORMATION AND PROPERTY Except as necessary to perform pestrination consulting services to the Compi
Employee shall not at any time after his employnmermhinates disclose, use or aid third partieshiaining or using any confidential or
proprietary Company information or such informatafrits parents, subsidiaries or affiliates. Coafitlal or proprietary information is
information relating to the Company,




parent, subsidiaries or affiliates or any aspedtsdbusiness which is not generally availablehi public, the Compang’competitors, or othi
third parties, or ascertainable through commonesengeneral business or technical knowledge. Ngtim this Agreement shall relieve him
from any obligations under any previously or congenaneously executed confidentiality, proprietarfpimation or secrecy agreements.

All records, files or other materials maingdrby or under the control, custody or possesditileoCompany or its agents in their capacity
as such shall be and remain the Company'’s propgentyployee shall: (i) return all Company propertyc{uding, but not limited to, credit
cards; keys; company car, records, files, documentapany manuals, and other documents in whafeuarthey exist, whether electronic,
hard copy or otherwise and all copies, notes omsaries thereof) which he received in connectiomiis employment, with the sole
exception of property that the Company authoridestb retain during any period in which he is paing post-termination consulting
services to the company; (ii) bring all such respfides, and other materials up to date befonernéig them; and (iii) fully cooperate with the
Company in winding up his work and transferringttivark to those individuals designated by the Comypa

8. RIGHT TO REVIEW AND REVOKE The Company delivered this Agreement and the IQOMerkers Benefit Protection Act
Disclosure notice to Employee on December 8, 2G08-mail and desires that he have adequate timepaltunity to review and
understand the consequences of entering into theefysgent. Accordingly, the Company advises him twsott with his attorney prior to
executing it and that he has 45 days within whichansider it. Additionally, he may not executestAgreement prior to the effective
termination date. In the event that he does natmedn executed copy of the Agreement to Robenie3td/ice President, Human Resources,
BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 2425 Kildaire F&pad, Suite 106, Cary, NC 27518 by no later thaem#th calendar day after receiving it
or his effective termination date (whichever ocdatsr), it and the obligations of the Company reshall become null and void, Employse’
employment will terminate on the effective terminatdate and he will receive his salary through tteie and pay for accrued but untaken
vacation and nothing else. Employee may revokégreement during the seven (7) day period immeljidediowing his execution of it. Th
Agreement will not become effective or enforceabiél the revocation period has expired. To reviileAgreement, a written notice of
revocation must be delivered to Robert Stoneragthove address.

9. CONFIDENTIALITY AND NONDISPARAGEMENT. Employee represents and warrants that sinceviegahis Agreement, he
(i) has not made, and going forward will not madisparaging, defaming or derogatory remarks aldlmtCtompany or its products, services,
business practices, directors, officers, manageesnployees to anyone; nor (ii) taken, and goimavérd will not take, any action that may
impair the relations between the Company and itsloes, customers, employees, or agents or thatmaletrimental to or interfere with, the
Company or its business.

10. _STIPULATION. Employee acknowledges, agrees and hereby stsuiathe following facts: (i) During his employnevith the
Company, Employee was allowed to take all leaveadfadded all other rights to which he was entitlewier the Family and Medical Leave
Act (FMLA); and (ii) The Company has not in any wiayerfered with, restrained or
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denied Employee’s exercise of (or attempt to esejcany FMLA rights, nor terminated or otherwisgcdiminated against Employee for
exercising (or attempting to exercise) any suchtsg

11. OTHER Except as expressly provided in this Agreemédrit, Agreement and, the Consulting Agreement simahasly executed ar
dated December 31, 2008 supersede all other uaddiags and agreements, oral or written, betweepdnties and constitute the sole
agreement between the parties with respect to shbject matter. Each party acknowledges that pesentations, inducements, promises or
agreements, oral or written, have been made byarty or by anyone acting on behalf of any partlyicly are not embodied in these
agreements and no agreement, statement or progtisemtained in these agreements shall be validnating on the parties unless such
change or modification is in writing and is sigri®dthe parties. Employee’s or the Company’s wadfeany breach of a provision of this
Agreement shall not waive any subsequent brea¢hebgther party. If a court of competent jurisdiatholds that any provision or sub-part
thereof contained in this Agreement is invalicgdlal or unenforceable, that invalidity, illegaldy unenforceability shall not affect any other
provision in this Agreement.

This Agreement is intended to avoid all litiga relating to Employee’s employment with the Grany and his separation therefrom;
therefore, it is not to be construed as the Comsaagmission of any liability to him — liability wbh the Company denies.

This Agreement shall apply to, be binding upad inure to the benefit of the parties’ successassigns, heirs and other representatives.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have enterdd this Agreement on the day and year writtenwelo

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTS THAT HE HAS CAREFULLY READ THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTANDS ITS
CONSEQUENCES, AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERS INTO IT.

/s/ Michael Darwin 12/31/08
Michael Darwin Date

BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /s/ Alane P. Barnes 12/31/08
Title: General Counse Date




EXHIBIT 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-120333-39484 and 333-30751) pertaining to the BieCBharmaceuticals, Inc.
1991 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restatefd\arch 8, 2004

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-90582) pertaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceutidals, Employee Stock Purchase Pl

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-136p@8laining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inocktincentive Plan, which
amended and restated the BioCryst Pharmaceutinals] 991 Stock Option Plan as of May 17, 2C

Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-145638) pertaining to the registration of up to48,000 shares of common sto

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-145@2Tjaining to the BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inoc&tincentive Plan as amended
and restated effective March 2007 and Employmetiet &dgreement dated April 2, 2007 between BioCBfisarmaceuticals, Inc. a
David McCullough;

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 355783) for the registration of up to $70 milliohBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. comn
stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, stooghaise contracts, warrants or units;

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 353084) for the registration of 3,335,408 shareBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc. comn
stock and 3,159,895 warrants to purchase commak sfdBioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Ir

of our reports dated March 6, 2009 with respethéofinancial statements of BioCryst Pharmaceudijdak. and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of BioCryst Phameaticals, Inc. included in this Annual Report (fRat0-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2008.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Birmingham, Alabama
March 6, 2009

103



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jon P. Stonehouse, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, In

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjeand other financial information included irstreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrard’other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitdleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f) for the registrant and hay

a)

b)

<)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

designed such internal control over finah@aorting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; ar

disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regidts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer@)d | have disclosed, based on our most recehiaian of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairebaver financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabirres management or other employees who have His@gn role in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 6, 2009 /s/ Jon P. Stonehous

Jon P. Stonehous
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Stuart Grant, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, In

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjeand other financial information included irstreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrard’other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitdleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f) for the registrant and hav

a.

designed such disclosure controls and pusesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isiige prepared

designed such internal control over finahn@porting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataece with generally accepted accounting princij

evaluated the effectiveness of the registalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehlis report based on
such evaluation; ar

disclosed in this report any change in #wgstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regidts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer@)d | have disclosed, based on our most recehiaian of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. all significant deficiencies and materiabkeesses in the design or operation of internairebaver financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thabies management or other employees who have Hiségn role in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 6, 2009 /s/ Stuart Grant

Stuart Grant
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Bio&r{Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on ForrKlfor the period ending
December 31, 2008 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R@parton P. Stonehouse, Chief

Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuamil8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to $9fte Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, tha
to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgjeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Jon P. Stonehous
Jon P. Stonehous
Chief Executive Officer
March 6, 200¢

This certification is furnished with this Repon Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the 8ads-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not,
except to the extent required by such Act, be dediterl by the Company for purposes of Section fihe Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certificatidhnot be deemed to be incorporated by referenteany filing under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, éxoepe extent that the Company specifically ipooates it by reference.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Bio&r{harmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on ForrKlfor the period ending
December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securitiesxcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parStuart Grant, Chief Financial

Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 & S8 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of thieaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the
best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfewAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Stuart Grant
Stuart Grant

Chief Financial Officer
March 6, 200¢

This certification is furnished with this Repon Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the 8ads-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not,
except to the extent required by such Act, be dediterl by the Company for purposes of Section fihe Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certificatidhnot be deemed to be incorporated by referantany filing under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, exogpe extent that the Company specifically ipooates it by referenc



